### Medical University of South Carolina

**MEDICA** 

**MUSC Theses and Dissertations** 

2015

# The Role of FMRP in Ethanol-Induced Homeostatic Plasticity in the Hippocampus

Kathryn B. Spencer Medical University of South Carolina

Follow this and additional works at: https://medica-musc.researchcommons.org/theses

#### **Recommended Citation**

Spencer, Kathryn B., "The Role of FMRP in Ethanol-Induced Homeostatic Plasticity in the Hippocampus" (2015). *MUSC Theses and Dissertations*. 495. https://medica-musc.researchcommons.org/theses/495

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by MEDICA. It has been accepted for inclusion in MUSC Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of MEDICA. For more information, please contact medica@musc.edu.

## THE ROLE OF FMRP IN ETHANOL-INDUCED HOMEOSTATIC PLASTICITY IN THE HIPPOCAMPUS

by

### Kathryn B. Spencer

A dissertation submitted to the faculty of the Medical University of South Carolina in partial fulfillment of the requirements for degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the College of Graduate Studies.

**Department of Neuroscience** 

2015

Approved by:

Chair

**Advisory Committee** 

Judson Chandler

um

John J. Woodward

Howard C. Becker

Peter W. Kalivas

Patrick J. Mutholland William C. Griffin

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I want to thank my family. I would not be where I am today without your love and help. I am fortunate to have a wonderful family that has been patient and supportive through my path through graduate school. You all gave me encouragement to be an independent thinker and to pursue my goals even though the road to achieve them may be difficult.

My sincere thanks goes to my mentor Judson, who provided me the opportunity to join this lab. I am grateful for all the assistance and guidance throughout my graduate career. I have learned so much being a member of your lab, and I am very appreciative of all my experiences working with you while at MUSC.

I am also very grateful for the early mentorship and attention given to me by the members of the Levitt lab while I was still only a research assistant. I truly thankful for all the time, attention, and encouragement both Pat and Kathie gave me.

I would also like to thank everyone who contributed to the work presented in this dissertation. To my committee members, John Woodward, Howard Becker, Peter Kalivas, Tripp Griffin, and Patrick Mulholland, for their critiques, advice, and guidance throughout this dissertation. Thank you to the Becker and Griffin labs for their help with the CIE exposure and RT-qPCR experiments. I would also like to thank Audrey Padula for her help with the two-bottle choice experiments and

ii

tissue punches. Finally, I would like to thank the rest of the Chandler and Mulholland labs for their support during this dissertation.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS ii
TABLE OF CONTENTS iv
LIST OF TABLES ix
LIST OF FIGURES x
ABSTRACT xv
CHAPTER 1: BACKGROUND AND SIGNIFICANCE
Impact of ethanol dependence 1
Ethanol's effect on the hippocampus
Ethanol and hippocampal circuitry
Ethanol's effect on memory 4
The hippocampus as a model system 7
Glutamatergic signaling and NMDA receptors
NMDA receptor structure and kinetics
LTP in the hippocampus 10
NMDA receptors and chronic ethanol use
Proteins regulating glutamatergic signaling

Role of Kv4.2 channels in neuronal excitation
Kv4.2 channels, LTP, and learning 21
KChIP3's regulation of Kv4.2 23
Role of KChIP2 in regulating NMDA receptor function 28
Activity-dependent translation in dendrites and dendritic spines
Review of translation
NMDA receptors and dendritic translation
mTORC1 translational pathway 41
NMDA-dependent regulation of mTORC1 44
mTORC1 in dendritic spines and its role in behavior
Role of FMRP in activity-dependent translation
FMRP in dendritic translation
FMRP and synaptic plasticity 52
FMRP and actin dynamics 56
Spine morphology and activity-dependent translation
Overview of actin dynamics 57
The role of Cyfip2 in activity-dependent spine changes 59

Summary 62	
Specific Aims 65	
CHAPTER 2: EXPOSURE TO CHRONIC ETHANOL ALTERS	
DOWNSTREAM SUBSTRATES OF FMRP AT DENDRITIC SPINES	
Background and significance	
Methods71	
Results	
Homeostatic changes in protein expression	
Ethanol-induced changes in FMRP expression	
FMRP-mRNA interactions	
Discussion	
CHAPTER 3: INHIBITION OF FMRP PHOSPHORYLATION PREVEN	гs
ETHANOL-INDUCED TRANSLATIONAL CHANGES IN THE	
HIPPOCAMPUS	
Background and significance	
Methods	
Results	

Effect of S6K1 inhibition on protein expression	.104
Alterations in FMRP-mRNA ethanol-induced interaction	s following
S6K1-inhibition	106
Discussion	109
CHAPTER 4: ETHANOL-INDUCED ALTERATIONS IN FMRP-	
MEDIATED TRANSLATIONS ARE ACCOMPANIED BY CHAN	GES IN
SPINE MORPHOLOGY	
Background and significance	.114
Methods	119
Results	
BECs (Blood Ethanol Concentration)	124
Two-bottle choice 24-hour access	125
Changes in protein expression in 6J and 6N mice follow	ing chronic
ethanol exposure	135
Spine morphology in 6J and 6N naïve and ethanol-treated m	ice
	138
Discussion	131

### **CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS**

Translational changes and plasticity146
FMRP and ethanol exposure149
Ethanol-induced changes in FMRP and its binding partners141
Spine morphology and activity-dependent translation
Regulation of WAVE through Cyfip2 activity
Importance of Cyfip2 and FMRP during ethanol consumption
Future Directions156
<b>REFERENCES</b>

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1-1	75
Primers sequences for RT-qPCR	
Table 4-1	121
BECs for each chamber cycle	

# LIST OF FIGURES

# **CHAPTER 1**

Figure 1-1. Hippocampal- VTA Loop: Connection to memory, reward salience	, and <b>4</b>
Figure 1-2. Overview of Translation	31
Figure 1-3. mTORC1 Signaling	42
Figure 1-4. The Structure of FMRP	50
Figure 1-5. Cyfip-mediated actin polymerization through the WAVE Complex	60
<b>Figure 1-6.</b> Overall hypothesis of alterations resulting from chronic expo	osure <b>67</b>

# **CHAPTER 2**

 Figure 2-3.
 Alterations in Kv4.2 and KChIP3 after chronic intermittent ethanol exposure
 78

**Figure 2-4.** Time course of changes in NMDA receptor subunits following acute and chronic ethanol exposure in hippocampal slice cultures ....... **80** 

**Figure 2-6.** Chronic intermittent ethanol-induced differences in phosphorylated and total FMRP protein in the mouse hippocampus ..... **83** 

Figure 2-9. Successful pull down of mRNA with FMRP ...... 86

 Figure 2-10.
 Ethanol-induced alterations in FMRP-mRNA interactions in the hippocampus

 87

### **CHAPTER 3**

Figure 3-2.Under control conditions blockade of S6K1 did not alterexpression of certain downstream substrates100

 Figure 3-3.
 Inhibition of FMRP phosphorylation through blockade of S6K1 activity

 101

 Figure 3-7.
 Ethanol-induced changes in FMRP-mRNA interactions of inhibitory proteins
 106

### **CHAPTER 4**

Figure 4-1. Cyfip2-mediated actin polymerization ...... 113

Figure 4-2. Cyfip2 SNP change between different C57BL/6 mouse lines 114

 Figure 4-3.
 Two-bottle choice chronic and intermittent ethanol exposure paradigm

 117

Figure 4-5.Total ethanol and water intake as well as escalation in drinkingfor 6J and 6N groups123

Figure 4-6. Daily water intake for 6J and 6N ethanol-naïve mice ...... 124

**Figure 4-7.** Total fluid intake and percent ethanol intake in 6J and 6N

Figure 4-8.Daily ethanol and water consumption for the first 4 hours of each24 hour session127

Figure 4-10. Weight differences by ethanol treatment in 6J and 6N

Figure 4-12.Increases in NMDA receptor subunits following ethanolexposure in 6J, but not 6N mice133

Figure 4-14.Ethanol-induced alterations in dendritic spines in 6J and 6Nmice136

# **CHAPTER 5**

KATHRYN BREYEL SPENCER. The role of FMRP in ethanol-induced homeostatic plasticity in the hippocampus. (Under the direction of L. Judson Chandler).

Exposure to chronic ethanol induces homeostatic alterations in glutamatergic signaling and actin polymerization that may have an important role in the development of ethanol-seeking behaviors. Acute ethanol exposure promotes excitation and dampens inhibition while extended periods of exposure induce long-term adaptations in neuronal function that require new protein synthesis to maintain homeostasis. These adaptations include not only transcription and somatic protein synthesis, but also local dendritic protein translation. One of the major mediators of activity-dependent translation is the mTORC1 signaling pathway and its downstream substrates that include kinases and mRNA-binding proteins, such as p70 S6 kinase 1 (S6K1) and fragile X mental retardation protein (FMRP). FMRP is an mRNA-binding protein that interacts with mRNAs to suppress translation. FMRP also interacts with several different mRNAs that code for proteins that are necessary for synaptic plasticity, and it may also have an important role in regulating ethanol-induced alterations in homeostasis in dendrites and dendritic spines. This dissertation addresses the hypothesis that FMRP is necessary for activity-dependent homeostatic alterations in protein expression and spine morphology following chronic ethanol exposure. First, western blot analysis was used to investigate ethanol-induced alterations in expression of FMRP and proteins that are key mediators of

XV

dendritic excitability. These studies revealed an increase in FMRP phosphorylation as well as alterations in the A-type K+-channel Kv4.2, KChIP3 and NMDA receptor subunits. Further studies examining changes in FMRP interactions with Kv4.2, KChIP3, and NMDA mRNAs showed chronic ethanolinduced changes in FMRP-mRNA binding. Additionally, inhibition of FMRP phosphorylation prevented these alterations in protein expression and FMRPmRNA interactions following chronic ethanol exposure. Studies included in this dissertation also addressed whether alterations in protein expression are accompanied by changes in actin polymerization and spine morphology. These experiments utilized two different sub-strains of C57BL/6 mice with different polymorphisms in cyfip2, a protein regulating actin polymerization that is also implicated in regulation of protein translation. A two-bottle choice/CIE exposure paradigm revealed alterations in ethanol consumption between the two strains as well as differences in ethanol-induced changes in protein expression and spine morphology. Taken together, this dissertation reveals an integral role for FMRP in mediating ethanol-induced alterations in homeostatic protein expression, and that these alterations may influence actin polymerization and drinking behaviors.

# **Chapter 1**

# **Background and Significance**

### Impact of ethanol dependence

In many industrialized nations, alcohol is consumed on a daily basis to relieve stress and for its effects on positive mood states (Grant et al 2004). Like coffee or nicotine, it has become a cultural norm at many social events. However, overuse of alcohol presents several issues that have lasting effects on societal as well as individual levels, and alcohol addiction continues to be a major social, economic, and medical burden to communities worldwide. According to the World Health Organization, alcohol is the third-largest risk factor for health burden, and is the number one risk factor for middle-income countries (Dawson and Grant 1998; Grant et al 2004; Bouchery et al 2011). In the United States, alcohol use disorders are among the most prevalent mental health disorders regardless of ethnicity or socioeconomic status and are the third leading cause of death (Goetze et al 2003; Grant et al 2004). Economically, it has a significant toll on the overall cost to society and the individual. The latest data available for 2006 revealed that alcohol accrued a total cost over \$220 billion, owning to loss of productivity, cost to the government, and expenses related to healthcare costs and criminal activity (Bouchery et al 2011).

On the individual level as of 2006, approximately half of adults have a family member with an alcohol use disorders (Boucher et al 2011; Dawson and Grant 2011). Addiction and the development of addictive behaviors involve a complex gene x environment interaction that culminates in a pathology that is costly, poorly understood, and difficult to treat (Goetze et al 2003; Grant 2000). Toxicity from long-term, heavy drinking affects many different body systems and organs from the liver and pancreas to the brain (Grant et al 2004; Bouchery et al 2011). Without a discrete mechanism of action, it is difficult to elucidate the mechanisms driving addictive behaviors and long-term effects of alcohol abuse, and therefore, makes it difficult to treat.

### Ethanol's effect on the hippocampus

### Ethanol and hippocampal circuitry

Ethanol acts on a number of different organ systems, including the central nervous system. In the brain, ethanol interacts with several brain regions, altering neuronal function resulting in behavioral changes, following both acute and chronic ethanol use (Gulick and Gould 2007; Zorumski et al 2014). These behavioral effects are mediated not only by brain regions associated with reward and executive function, such as the nucleus accumbens (Nac), ventral tegemental area (VTA), and prefrontal cortex (PFC), but also areas mediating emotion and memory, such as the amgydala and hippocampus, respectively (Figure 1-1) (Zhou et al 2007; Heinz et al 2009; Bailey et al 2015). The interconnectivity of the hippocampus with other brains regions and its role in learning and memory make this region an important intersection of reward and cognition (Lynch 2003; Adcock et al 2006; Zorumski et al 2014). In other drugs of abuse, differences in hippocampal function mediate not just acquisition of drugtaking, but also alters the time needed to induce reinstatement and relapse (Castilla-Ortega et al 2015, Mague et al 2015). In alcohol abuse disorders, one of the principal cognitive effects is the attenuation of learning and memory (Fadda and Rossetti 1998; Roberto et al 2002; Spanagel 2009). This attenuation can have lasting effects on the individual and a significant impact, both socially and economically (Grant 2000; Grant et al 2004; Bouchery et al 2011).



### Ethanol's effect on memory

Acute episodes of binge drinking that are accompanied by a rapid increase in blood ethanol concentration can interfere with hippocampal-mediated episodic memory formation (White et al 2000; Zorumski et al 2014). Following a bingedrinking episode, individuals can participate in salient and emotionally-charged situations in the present, but cannot remember events that occurred shortly after the drinking episode (Miller et al 1978; White et al 2000). Although most

individuals do not sustain long-term complications after a period of prolonged abstinence, some alcoholics do in fact develop permanent disabilities that require lifetime care (Sullivan et al 1995, Makris et al 2008; Zorumski et al 2014). These include memory-related disorders such as ethanol-induced persistent amnesia caused by Wernicke-Korsakoffs syndrome. Although this loss of function was originally attributed to thalamic and mammillary bodies dysfunction, more recent studies implicate the hippocampus (Squire et al 1990, Sullivan and Marsh 2003, Kurth et al 2004, Beresford et al 2006). Specifically, the loss of adult neurogenesis and reduction in functional efficiency of the hippocampus in processing information from other regions (Sullivan and March 2003; Adcock et al 2006; Makris et al 2008). Wernick-Korsakoffs syndrome is the most wellcharacterized long-term deficit resulting from chronic ethanol exposure, other more subtle deficits in hippocampal-dependent memory may also exist (Walter et al 1980; Beresford et al 2006; Spanagel 2009). In adult men with a history of long-term heavy alcohol use, total hippocampal volume was significantly reduced, and this reduction is independent of total brain or intracranial volumes (Beresford et al 2006; Makris et al 2008). This shrinkage was drastically increased among Wernicke-Korsakoffs patients compared to non-amnesic alcoholics (Walker et al 1980; Agartz et al 1999; Sullivan and Marsh 2003).

The role for the hippocampus in ethanol-induced memory deficits and its contribution to alcohol dependence is also an active area of preclinical alcohol research studies. In nonhuman primates given free access to alcohol, hippocampal volume was inversely correlated with drinking behaviors (Zhou et al

2007; Kroenke et al 2014). Studies in rodent models of alcohol exposure show a decrease in newly formed neurons in adult animals, suggesting in addition to white matter, alcohol use may also alter cell proliferation and survival (Herrera et al 2003; Anderson et al 2012; Talani et al 2013). Behaviorally, in rodent models, alcohol-preferring rats show deficits in spatial learning during the Morris Water Maze task (Santin et al 2000; White et al 2000). Although the hippocampus is not generally thought of as mediating ethanol-mediated behaviors in terms of ethanol-seeking or motivation, its role in salience and memory, along with the long-term effects of chronic alcohol use, indicate an important overall role in ethanol-induced short- and long-term behavioral deficits (Santin et al 2000 Gulick and Gould 2007).

A number of environmental changes may induce alterations in the brain at the behavioral, regional, and cellular level that allow for adaptation and maintenance of homeostasis (Spanagel, 2009; Thomas et al 2013; Bailey et al 2015). In the hippocampus, like other areas of the brain, these cellular alterations involve both pre- and postsynaptic events to remodel synaptic function to fit these environmental changes (Davies et al 1989; Bliss and Collingridge 1993; Bellot et al 2014). This includes reestablishing a balance between excitation and inhibition to prevent hyperexcitability while also preserving proper neuronal function, and actin polymerization and cytoskeletal remodeling to accommodate alterations in cellular activity (Sutton et al 2006; Gal-Ben-Ari et al 2011; Thomas et al 2013; Labno et al 2014; Baily et al 2015). In pyramidal neurons in the hippocampus, this balance includes excitatory glutmatergic systems, inhibitory

GABAergic influences, as well as local inhibitory proteins in axons, dendrites, and dendritic spines (Lei et al 2008; Lei et al 2010; Enoch et al 2012; Korkotian et al 2013).

#### The hippocampus as a model system

The hippocampus is often used in studies as a model system for exploring the cellular mechanisms driving neuronal activity in different experimental conditions. It is an essential component of learning and memory, and can have significant effects on global brain function (Pastalkova et al 2006; Simons et al 2009). The hippocampus is also one of the brain regions that is highly susceptible to damage, and its function is impaired in many different brain diseases, including addiction, making it a useful region to study several aspects of cellular function (Holopainen 2005; Korkotian et al 2013). The utility of this region as a model system is due to the neuroanatomy, connectivity, and cytoarchitecture (Turner 1959; Hsia et al 1998; Knierim 2002). Although the hippocampus receives input from several brain regions, the main input mechanism lies with the perforant pathway. This is a 'one way' circuit through the perforate pathway to the dentate gyrus, then CA3 to the CA1 followed by the major output through the subliculum (Hsia et al 1998; Knierim 2002). In vivo models can readily assess hippocampal deficits with behavior paradigms, such as the Morris water maze (Morris 1981; Vorhees and Williams 2006). In vitro experiments can address neuronal mechanisms driving these behaviors. In

organotypic hippocampal slice cultures the intra-regional connectivity, and mature cytoarchitecture are preserved, and can be used for several weeks (Stoppini et al 1991; Holopainen 2005). Taken together, these features make the hippocampus a useful tool in elucidating and manipulating the cellular mechanisms driving learning and memory as well as alcohol use disorders.

### **Glutmatergic signaling and NMDA receptors**

### NMDA receptor structure and kinetics

Ethanol directly interacts with a number of different cellular mechanisms and proteins, including NMDA receptors, that induce alterations in neuronal homeostasis (Lovinger et al 1990; Hendrickson et al 2004; Nagy 2008). NMDA receptors, along with AMPA and kainate receptors are glutamate receptors that promote excitation in the brain (Keinanen et al 1990; Nakanishi 1992; Dingledine et al 1999). They are heteromeric ligand-gated ion channels that pass both Na<sup>-</sup> and Ca<sup>+2</sup> ions, but NMDA receptors are five to ten times more permeable to calcium than sodium (Hume et al 1991; Koh et al 1995; Mori and Mishina 1995; Rosenmund et al 1998). The NMDA receptor itself is composed of two GluN1 subunits and two of GluN2A-D subunits. The GluN1 subunit is necessary for trafficking to the membrane and contains the binding site for the co-agonist glycine or D-serine (Benveniste and Mayer 1991; Mori and Mishina 1995; Dingledine et al 1999; Hawkins et al 2004). GluN2 subunits determine channel

kinetics and contain the glutamate-binding site (Hume et al 1991; Flint et al 1997; Zhang et al 2013; Hansen et al 2014). Each channel has an extracellular domain that contains a modulatory and ligand binding region for association with the agonist and co-agonist, a membrane domain contributes to the channel that conveys the high permeability to calcium, and the extensive cytoplasmic domain that contains residues for direct modification by different kinases to alter channel function and localization (Kuner et al 1996; Fong et al 2002; Hawkins et al 2004; Chen and Roche 2007; Goebel-Goody et al 2009; Zhang et al 2013). These channels may localize to the postsynaptic density or the extrasynaptic space (Groc et al 2006; Goebel-Goody et al 2009; Groc et al 2009; Gladding and Raymond 2011). Composition of the receptor and the stage of brain development dictate the localization (Flint et al 1997; Barria and Malinow 2002; Groc et al 2007; Gladding and Raymond 2011). As the brain develops into adulthood, there is the addition of GluN2A containing NMDA receptors, with GluN2A typically trafficked to the postsynaptic density and GluN2B shuttled to the extrasynaptic space (Ehlers et al 1995; Groc et al 2006; Akashi et al 2009; Groc et al 2009; Gladding and Raymond 2011).

In addition to both an agonist and co-agonist, NMDA receptors also have a voltage-gated Mg<sup>2+</sup> ion site that blocks the channel pore (Mayer et al 1984; Nowak et al 1984). For activation, the NMDA receptor must bind both glutamate and glycine that is typically released from the presynaptic neuron while the postsynaptic membrane is depolarized to remove the Mg<sup>2+</sup> block (Mayer et al 1984; Nowak et al 1984; Seeberg et al 1995). Requiring both of these

circumstances to occur pairs pre- and postsynaptic activity, and it is thought to be important in coincidence detection; that is the coincidence of presynaptic glutamate release and postsynaptic depolarization (Bliss and Lomo 1973; Davies et al 1989; Kullman and Nicoll 1992; Markram et al 1997; Lauri et al 2007). The concept of coincidence detection may have an important influence over neuronal information by forming associations between two separate neuronal events that are spatially separated, but temporally close that converge on a common point (Davies et al 1989; Kullmann and Nicoll 1992; Bliss and Collingridge 1993). At the cellular level, the paired mechanism for NMDA receptor activation may represent the persistent activation needed to trigger the strengthening of synapses between two neurons, and may also provide a potential synaptic model for memory in the formed long-term potentiation (LTP) (Bliss and Lomo 1973; Davies et al 1989; Bashir et al 1991; Bliss and Collingridge 2002; Lauri et al 2007).

### LTP in the hippocampus

LTP is one of the most prominent hypothesized mechanisms for adaptive synaptic plasticity, and is widely associated in the hippocampus with learning and memory (Bliss and Collingridge 1993; Bliss and Collingridge 2013). As mentioned previously, NMDA receptors are coincidence detectors and have important implications for LTP and learning and memory (Davies et al 1989; Bashir et al 1991; Tsien et al 1996; Luthi et al 2001; Pastalkova et al 2006). This process has

three properties: cooperativity, associativity, and specificity (Bliss et al 1977; McNaughton et al 1978; Levy and Steward 1979; Bliss and Colingridge 1993; Bliss and Collingridge 2013). Cooperativity describes the intensity of the threshold needed to induce LTP (McNaughton et al 1978; Davies et al 1989; Bliss and Collinridge 1993). While weak stimulation of a single pathway is insufficient to produce LTP, it relies on appropriate threshold and timing of the stimulus for LTP induction to occur (Bliss and Lomo 1973; Bliss and Collinridge 1993). Associativity of LTP states that a weak stimulus can be potentiated if a separate, stronger signal converges on a single postsynaptic site (McNaughton et al 1978; Levy and Steward 1979). Lastly, specificity refers to LTP input. That is, LTP is specific for the active synapse, and synapses that are not active at the same time and do not experience the appropriate stimulation will not induce the mechanisms of LTP (Andersen et al 1977; Lynch et al 1977; Bliss and Collinridge 1993). These three properties are all under the assumption that this stimulation occurs on an area of the dendrite that is already depolarized (Bliss and Collinridge et al 1993; Lisman and Spruston 2005)

LTP can be divided into two different phases. The early phase in NMDAdependent LTP involves the opening of NMDA receptors and an influx of calcium into the postsynaptic neuron, but does not require transcription or new protein synthesis (Alford et al 1993; Bliss and Collingridge 1993; Emptage et al 1999). This influx of calcium is the critical event for the induction of LTP (Alford et al 1993; Spruston et al 1995; Emptage et al 1999; Torras-Garcia 2005). However, activation and calcium influx from NMDA receptors alone may not be enough to produce LTP. The NMDA receptor antagonist, AP-V inhibits LTP, but treatment with thapsigarin also prevents LTP induction, suggesting that intracellular calcium is also important (Harvey and Collingridge 1992; Mody and MacDonald 1995; Emptage et al 1999).

Throughout of this early phase, calcium-induced activation Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II (CaMKII) leads to increased phosphorylation of NMDA receptors (Gnegy 2000; Hayashi et al 2000; Fong et al 2002; Lee et al 2009). This, in turn, causes an increase in surface-expressed AMPA and increases the sodium permeability of the receptor that alters membrane potential and kinetics (Malinow 2003; Fleming and England 2010; Lisman et al 2012; Luscher and Malenka 2012). After the initial phosphorylation of CaMKII, activation persists due to autophosphorylation (Giese et al 1998; Lucic et al 2008). The late phase of LTP, unlike the early phase, requires transcription of new mRNAs and somatic and dendritic translation of new protein (Krug et al 1984; Frey et al 2001; Adams and Dudek 2005). Inhibition of protein synthesis with the polyribosome inhibitor ansiomycin blocks late-phase LTP, but does not alter LTP induction (Krug et al 1984; Bailey et al 2015).

This switch from early- to late-phase LTP involves the activation of several different intracellular signaling cascades that are needed to shift from the induction to the maintenance phase. These include both transcription and translation factors that are necessary for the new protein synthesis needed during late-phase LTP. Late-phase LTP activates CREB and corresponds with an increase in CRE-mediated gene targets (Riccio and Ginty 2002; Panja et al 2014;

Bailey et al 2015). Additionally, several downstream substrates of the ERK pathway are also upregulated or activated (Kim et al 2005; Ivanov et al 2006; Gladding and Raymond 2011). One of the main pathways responsible for local dendritic translation is also activated, PI3-K, the upstream kinase for Akt and mTORC1, is unregulated in the shift from early to late LTP (Tang et al 1999; Gong et al 2006; Bekinschtein et al 2007; Dibble and Cantley 2015). Blockade of PI3-K blocks the maintenance, but not induction of LTP (Brami-Cherrier et al 2002; Takei and Hiroyki 2014; Dibble and Cantley 2015).

In the hippocampus, the behavioral manifestations of LTP have been heavily investigated. Inhibition of LTP, either early- or late-phase, is associated with blockade of hippocampal-dependent behaviors (Torras-Garcia 2005; Kleykamp et al 2010). Rats injected with AP-V perform poorly on the Morris water maze compared to vehicle controls, and this attentuation of spatial learning corresponds to the blockade of cellular activity associated with LTP (Morris et al 1986, Zalutsky and Nicoll 1990; Hanse and Gustafsson 1992; Tsien et al 1996). However, blockade of NMDA receptors seems particularly important during the acquisition phase of memory. Pretraining on the Morris water maze does not produce inhibition of LTP or impair performance, but lack of experience prevents memory acquisition (Bannerman et al 1995). It also appears that NMDAdependent LTP is particularly important for certain types of memory. NMDA activation is the main receptor responsible for induction of LTP in most, but not all areas of the brain (Johnston et al1992; Torras-Garcia 2005). Mice with increases in total NMDA receptor protein or increased GluN2B subunit

expression show enhanced LTP (Tang et al 1999; Rinaldi et al 2007; Wang et al 2009). Disruption of LTP via inhibition of NMDA receptor activity leads to normal tone-dependent fear learning that is not dependent on hippocampal function, but impairments of context fear learning, which does rely on the hippocampus (Stiedl et al 2000; Torras-Garcia 2005; Kim et al 2006: Robert and Hunt 2015). Additionally, inhibition of other components downstream of the initial acquisition phase of LTP and learning also impair LTP and hippocampal-dependent memory (Zhao et al 2005; Lynch 2003; Niewoehner et al 2007). Inhibition or deletion of CaMKII produces hippocampal-dependent learning deficits in spatial memory and impairs LTP (Strack et al 2000; Kasai et al 2003; Bliss and Collingridge 2013).

Enhancement of LTP and memory is also associated with alterations in the actin cytoskeleton and spine morphology (Fukazawa et al 2003). LTP causes spine enlargement and is associated with long-term spine stabilization to a mature phenotype (Tolias et al 2005; Hill and Zito 2013; Bellot et al 2014; Cingolani and Goda 2008; Lemphrecht 2014). This change in morphology may have an important role in maintaining the strengthened synapses (Spacek et al 1997; Lynch 2003; Nageri et al 2004; Bellot et al 2014). This change can be characterized by alterations in spine shape, number, and density, and throughout most of the hippocampus, these changes are dependent on NMDA activation and induction of late phase LTP (Engert and Bonhoeffer 1999; Hill and Zito 2013; Lamprecht 2014). Like the electrophysiological properties of LTP, CaMKII is also an important regulator of spine morphology during LTP (Okamoto et al 2007;

Kasai et al 2003). CaMKII mediates several actin-binding proteins, and CaMKII knockout animals or knockdown of CaMKII with shRNA produces deficits in not only LTP and learning, but also induces an immature spine phenotype that is resistant to activity-dependent changes in morphology (Sobczyk et al 1995; Strack et al 2000; Okamoto et al 2007; Cingolani and Goda 2008).

### NMDA receptors and chronic ethanol use

Glutamatergic synapses, LTP, and dendritic spines are all important components of hippocampal-mediated behavior and are also altered following chronic ethanol exposure (Lovinger et al 1990; Nestler 2001; Nagy 2011). NMDA receptors in particular are susceptible to ethanol-induced alterations in expression and activity. In the context of alcohol use, these receptors have differential responses to acute and chronic ethanol, and may have an important role in ethanol-induced hyperexcitability (Lovinger 1993; Tsai and Coyle 1998; Gulick et al 2007). Acutely, ethanol dose-dependently inhibits NMDA receptors to rapidly decrease peak-current amplitude and accelerates the rate of current desensitization, decreases open channel probability, and these changes occur in a dose-dependent manner (Lovinger et al 1989; Gass and Olive 2008; Moykkynen and Korpi 2012). Previous studies indicate preferential inhibition for either GluN2A- or GluN2B-containing NMDA receptors (Blevins et al 1997; Nagy 2011). However, this may also be region specific, as other studies indicate preferences for GluN2B-containing receptors (Masood et al 1994; Du et al 2011).

Inhibition of NMDA receptors with MK-801 potentiates acute ethanol-induced impairment in memory tasks (Camarini et al 2000). Although ethanol partially blocks NMDA receptors, this is effective in producing the 'blackouts' seen with acute exposure as well as longer, deficits in LTP and behavioral tasks examining hippocampal-dependent memory (Miller et al 1994; Lukoyanov et al 2000; Kleykamp et al 2010; Bisby et al 2015; Robert and Hunt 2015). In addition, dose-dependent effects on pyramidal cell NMDA suppression correlates with dose-dependent effects on episodic memory in rodent studies (Santin et al 2000; White and Best 2000; Tokuda et al 2007). Rats exposed to ethanol also have impaired performance on hippocampal-dependent memory tasks, such as the Morris water maze (Lukoyanov et al 2000; Schulteis et al 2008; Robert and Hunt 2015).

Clinical studies also show that this effect on NMDA receptors alters not only hippocampal-dependent memory, but also translates into effects in neuronal function. Individuals with long-term ethanol use show a selective increase in mRNA levels for the NMDA glutamate receptor in the hippocampus (Hall and Zador 1997; Birnir et al 2014; Jin et al 2014). Other preclinical studies in rats and mice exposed to chronic intermittent ethanol have shown an increase in surfaceexpressed GluN2B- containing NMDA receptors and NMDA-mediated current during chronic ethanol exposure (Trevisan et al 1994; Follesa and Ticku 1996; Kumari and Ticku 2000). This increase is characterized by a shift in GluN2Bcontaining NMDA receptors from the extrasynaptic space into the postsynaptic density (Carpenter-Hyland et al 2004; Akashi et al 2009). Functionally, this may

have an important role in ethanol-induced hyperexcitability and lead to toxicity and neuronal death upon ethanol-withdrawal (Mody and MacDonald 1995; Hendricson et al 2007; Lau and Zukin 2007; Haft et al 2014).

Ethanol's effect on NMDA receptors also effects ethanol-induced excitotoxicity during acute withdrawal after cessation of ethanol use following chronic exposure. Ethanol dependence that results in withdrawal can occur even after short bouts of chronic ethanol abuse (Macey et al 1996; Hall and Zador 1997). This withdrawal syndrome is characterized by both behavioral and cellular effects that increase excitability (Roberto et al 2002; Anderson et al 2012) Repeated bouts of ethanol withdrawal potentiates withdrawal hyperexcitability in the hippocampus and results in 'kindling' of withdrawal seizures (Duka et al 2004; Pawlak et al 2005). Previous studies have found that withdrawal toxicity due to chronic ethanol use is associated with an increase in NMDA receptor expression and function (Roberto et al, 2001, Hendricson et al, 2007). This includes an increase in GluN1 expression in dendritic spines in the CA1 (Pian et al 2010). Activation of NMDA receptors is necessary for seizure activity; blockade of the receptor with AP-V or MK-801 prevents ethanol-induced withdrawal (Chandler et al 1993; Camarini et al 2000; Hendricson et al 2007).

### Proteins regulating glutamatergic signaling

#### Role of Kv4.2 Channels in Neuronal Excitation

In addition to proteins regulating excitatory input, ethanol also alters proteins that balance excitation with inhibition. One important mediator of neuronal excitation in dendrites and dendritic spines is the voltage-gated K+channel Kv4.2. Kv4.2 is a sub-threshold channel that carries A-type current that is part of the Shal-family of K+-channels (Birnbaum et al 2004; Jerng et al 2004; Leung 2010; Barros et al 2012) Like all A-type K+- channels, Kv4.2 produces an outward, transient K+- current that rapidly inactivates, and inactivation and recovery occur at sub-threshold membrane potential (Jerng et al 2004; Barros et al 2012; Carrasquillo et al 2012). These channels form either homo- or heteromultimeric complexes with the alpha subunits forming the pore of the channel and modulatory beta subunits creating a complete channel. Kv4.2 has 6 transmembrane domains with a conserved P-loop, which is shared by many K+channels and function in K+ recognition, while the fourth transmembrane domain serves as the voltage sensor (Serodio and Rudy 1998; Orlova et al 2003; Birnbaum et al 2004; Jerng et al 2004; Ren et al 2005).

Shal-family K+- channels are expressed throughout the central nervous system as well as the heart, where they also help to modulate excitation and maintain function (Rasmusson et al 1998; Jerng et al 2004; Zhou et al 2004;

Kaufmann et al 2012; Carraquillo et al 2012). Expression of Kv4.2 channels in the hippocampus increases with distance from the soma, and are highly concentrated around dendritic branch points in the extrasynaptic space (Cai et al 2004; Kim et al 2007; Kerti et al 2012, Nester and Hoffman 2011; Kaufmann et al 2012). The location and kinetic properties of these channels make them important regulators of back propagating action potentials, compartmentalization of activity in dendrites, firing frequency, and spike repolarization (Serodio and Rudy 1998; Kim et al 2007; Carrasquillo et al 2012).

Kv4.2 channels also form complexes with auxiliary proteins that modulate channel surface expression and kinetics to form a fully functional channel. Each auxiliary subunit conveys different kinetic properties to the channel. One auxiliary subunit, dipeptidyl-aminopeptidase-like protein 6 (DPP6), interacts with Kv4.2 near the first transmembrane domain, and accelerates channel recovery time (Rhodes et al 2004; Ren et al 2005, Leung 2010; Barros et al 2012; Lin et al 2014; Bezerra et al 2015; Kitazawa et al 2015). Another group of proteins known as K+-channel interacting proteins 1-4 (KChIP 1-4), and are particularly important for Kv4.2 expression and function, especially in the hippocampus, interact with all Shal-family K+- channels (An et al 2000; Lin et al 2004; Li et al 2006; Lin et al 2010; Kunjilwar et al 2013). These proteins determine not only inactivation time, but also rate of depolarization, and promote K+-channel surface expression (Lin et al 2004; Menegola et al 2006; Ruiz-Gomez et al 2006; Lin et al 2010; Norris et al 2010). Although these channels do not require these auxiliary components for surface expression, Kv4.2 must interact with at least one of two subtypes of
proteins for the channel to function (Rhodes et al 2004; Li et al 2006; Attali et al 2009; Lin et al 2010; Norris et al 2010; Kitazawa et al 2015).

In addition to auxiliary subunits, Kv4.2 activity is also mediated through post-translational modifications that fine tune channel function based on intra- or extracellular changes in activity (Anderson et al 2000; Jerng et al 2004; Barros et al 2012). Phosphorylation of Kv4.2 at different sites by different kinases alters different components of channel function, and these changes are also determined by cellular location, such as distance from the soma (Varga et al 2004; Hammond et al 2008; Kerti et al 2012; Nestor and Hoffman, 2012). Phosphorylation by CaMKII increases Kv4.2-mediated A-type current through an increase in Kv4.2 surface expression (Varga et al 2004; Labna et al 2014). Kv4.2 has three potential regulatory sites for phosphorylation via the ERK/MAPK pathway (Adams et al 2000; Schrader et al 2002; Schrader et al 2006; Lin et al 2010). At one threonine site, phosphorylation decreases current (Adams et al 2000; Schrader et al 2006; Labno et al 2014). At another site, Kv4.2 current is increased, but this requires the inclusion of KChIP3 specifically in the macromolecular complex (Schrader et al 2006; Kim et al 2007; Kunjilwar et al 2013). As previously mentioned, Kv4.2 distribution varies, depending on distance from the soma (Cai et al 2004; Kerti et al 2012, Nester and Hoffman 2011; Kaufmann et al 2012). This distance also dictates turnover rate of the channel. Increasing the distance also increases the turnover rate through phosphorylation by PKA, and this turnover rate is activity-dependent (Schrader et al 2002; Hammond et al 2008, Monaghan et al 2008; Nester and Hoffman 2011).

#### Kv4.2 channels, LTP, and learning

Kv4.2 channels also have an important influence over NMDA receptors in controlling hyperexcitability, especially in the hippocampus. Deletion of Kv4.2 in knockout animals or through viral knockdown increases the expression of GluN2B-containing NMDA receptors and the induction of LTP (Chen et al 2006, Kaufmann et al 2012; Lugo et al 2012). Conversely, an increase in A-type current through activation of Kv4.2 channels decreases GluN2B-containing NMDA receptors (Kaufmann et al 2012; Korkotian et al 2013). This increase in Kv4.2 activation is dependent on calcium influx through NMDA receptors specifically and the activity of CaMKII, and can be blocked by inhibition of GluN2B- but not GluN2A- containing NMDA receptors (Jung et al 2008, Lei et al 2010, Kaufmann et al 2012; Labna et al 2014). NMDA receptors may also mediate Kv4.2 expresssion. Downregulation of Kv4.2 channels is dependent on GluN2Bcontaining NMDA receptors (Lei et al 2008; Lei et al 2010). As such, Kv4.2 may remodel synapses and this balance between excitation an inhibition may have an influential role in ethanol-induced hyperexcitability.

This effect on GluN2B-containing NMDA receptors may have an important role in altering learning and hippocampal-dependent behaviors, such as spatial memory and temporal lobe epilepsy (Leung et al 2010, Kaufmann et al 2012, Labna et al 2014). Kv4.2 channels in the hippocampus are of great interest due to their role in regulating NMDA-mediated hyperexcitability and LTP (Lei and Xu 2008; Lei et al 2010). Previous studies have shown both deficient and enhanced

LTP in Kv4.2 knockout animals (Chen et al 2006; Kaufmann et al 2012). These studies revealed that deletion of Kv4.2 results in deficits in the learning phase of the Morris water maze, and these deficits are not attributed to differences in GABAergic function (Lugo et al 2012). Blockade of Kv4.2 also impairs performance on the radial arm maze task, and this performance is restored after channels are fully functional (Labna et al 2014). In addition, learning hippocampal-dependent memory tasks have been shown to promote an increase in expression of Kv4.2 mRNA in dendrites and dendritic spines (Petrecca et al 2000; Gross et al 2011; Trucket et al 2012). Interestingly, this is not associated with an increase in total protein expression, but rather may ensure maintenance of protein expression and activity-dependent changes throughout the learning process (Ruschenschmidt et al 2006; Trucket et al 2012; Labno et al 2014).

At the cellular level, it is hypothesized that Kv4.2 channels alter long, but not short term plasticity (Andrasfalvy et al 2008; Truchet et al 2012). Their influence over NMDA-dependent LTD may modulate signal to noise ratios to optimize the appropriate synaptic connections to facilitate learning and memory and fine-tune excitability in neuronal networks (Lei and Xu 2008; Labno et al 2014). Selective increases or decreases in Kv4.2 expression or function in certain populations of neurons may be key for proper function in the learning and memory network, and may be an essential component of hippocampaldependent memory tasks and cognition (Shen et al 2008; Prince and Ring 2011; Truchet et al 2012). Due to its role in excitability, Kv4.2 is also an important mediator of other hippocampal-dependent behaviors and diseases. Formation of

Kv4.2 complexes and proper channel function are necessary for proper integration of synaptic signaling and activity-induced neuroplasticity (Lin et al 2004; Jung et al 2008; Leung 2010; Labna et al 2014).

As a therapeutic target in neurodegenerative disorders, blockade of Kv4.2 prevents the loss of K+, decreases intracellular apoptotic processes, and decreases neuronal cell death (Ruschenschmidt et al 2006; Leung et al 2010). Temporal lobe epilepsy is associated with long-term decreases in Kv4.2, and this change in expression parallels the acquisition of recurrent seizures (Monaghen et al 2008; Su et al 2008). Therapeutic agents that enhance channel opening are effective in altering epileptic seizures and decreasing interictal activity (Lugo et al 2008; Aronica et al 2009; Leung et al 2010). Animal models with both pilocarine-or kainic acid- induced seizures, show a long-term decrease in surface-expressed Kv4.2 channels (Jung et al 2008, Su et al 2008). Kv4.2 knockout mice have increased pilocarpine-induced seizures and are prone to excitotoxic neuronal death (Barnwell et al 2009).

## KChIP3's regulation of Kv4.2

As mentioned above, Kv4.2 channels require auxiliary proteins for optimal channel function. Both DPPX and KChIPs interact with Kv4.2, but KChIP interactions with the channel have a larger effect on channel kinetics and function (An et al 2004; Lin et al 2004; Rhodes 2004; Callsen et al 2005; Kitazawa et al 2015). KChIPs are EF- hand calcium sensors, and subtypes 1-4 contain 4

calcium sensor domains on the conversed C-terminus and a divergent Nterminus (Spreafico et al 2001; Callsen et al 2005; Barghann et al 2008; Woo et al 2008; Mikhaylova et al 2011). Of particular interest in regulating excitability and activity-dependent hippocampal function is KChIP3. Each KChIP has its 'preferred' binding partner, and has a somewhat discrete regional and cellular expression pattern (Rhodes et al 2004; Xiong et al 2004; Menegola et al 2006). Although, KChIP2 is the most widely expressed of the four subtypes, based on results from co-immunoprecipitation studies, KChIP3 is the preferential binding partner of Kv4.2 (Xiong et al 2004; Han et al 2006; Menegola et al 2006). The difference in the N-terminus of the four KChIPs is responsible for the variation in Shal-family channel kinetics with different KChIPs (Callsen et al 2005; Barghann et al 2008; Raghuram et al 2012). Phosphorylation of KChIP3 induces KChIP3-Kv4.2 interaction, but this alone is not enough to induce Kv4.2 to be trafficked to the membrane, and palmitoylation of KChIP3 is also required for localization to the surface (Takimoto 2002).

Functionally, KChIP3 binds to Kv4.2 as an intracellular auxiliary unit to convey specific gating properties, channel kinetics, and promote surface expression (Shibata et al 2003; Menegola et al 2006; Woo et al 2008; Norris et al 2010). The conserved C-terminus of the KChIPs, in addition serving as the calcium-binding region, also interact with the alpha pore-forming subunit Kv4.2 (Spreafico et al 2001; Shibata et al 2003; Han et al 2006). However, the N-terminus gives different properties to the channel (Hopkins et al 1994; Callsen et al 2005; Han et al 2006). KChIP3 interaction with Kv4.2 produces more rapid

depolarization and faster inactivation, compared with other KChIP subtypes (Kunjilwar et al 2004; Norris et al 2010). Decreasing KChIP3 expression through viral knockdown decreases Kv4.2 channel surface expression and Kv4.2mediated A-type current, even in the presence of KChIP2 (Menegola et al 2006; Norris et al 2010). Likewise, decreasing Kv4.2 expression in the hippocampus is also associated with a reduction in KChIP3 expression (Menegola and Trimmer 2006). The other auxiliary subunit, DPP6, does not produce a surface-expressed channel with optimal function without KChIP3 interaction (Norris et al 2010). They retain the ability to pass current, but are significantly reduced in the absence of KChIPs. However, KChIP3 interaction alone with Kv4.2 channels, results in a current that is lower in amplitude than that of a channel possessing both DPP6 and KChIP3 (Norris et al 2010; Kitazawa et al 2015). Functionally, this interaction between KChIP3 and Kv4.2 has important implications in behavior and pathology. KChIP3 knockout animals have decreased Kv4.2-mediated A-type current as well as decreased performance on memory tasks such as novel object recognition (Wu et al 2008; Alexander et al 2009).

In addition to its role with Kv4.2, KChIP3 was also discovered in two other fields of research. It was independently discovered as downstream regulatory element antagonist modulator (DREAM) and calsenilin (Buxbaum et al 1998; Carrión et al 1999). DREAM in a transcriptional regulator that binds to downstream regulatory elements (DRE) to suppress transcription (Carrion et al 1999; Mellstrom et al 2001; Mellstrom et al 2014). The C-terminus of DREAM serves as the DRE-DREAM interaction domain with DRE, and binding of calcium

induces dimerization of DREAM and translocation to the nucleus (Carrion et al 1999; Osawa et al 2001; Woo et al 2008; Ramachandran et al 2012). In the nucleus, DREAM must drop off the bound calcium to all three EF-hand domains (Craig et al 2002; Woo et al 2008; Mellstrom et al 2014). DREAM has also been shown to be an important regulator of a number of different mRNAs, including prodynorphin and cFos (Spreafico et al 2012; Alexander et al 2009). Mice overexpressing a calcium insensitive form of DREAM (tg-DREAM), have increased levels of prodynorphin compared to knockouts, and have an response to activity-dependent changes in cFos protein expression (Spreafico et al 2001; Dierssen and Naranjo 2012).

Due to its role as a dynorphin regulator, DREAM was intensively studied as a potential therapeutic target for chronic pain (Cheng et al 2002; Costigan and Woolf 2002, Cheng and Penninger 2004). DREAM knockout mice have a higher pain tolerance compared to control mice that accompany this increase in dynorphin expression (Cheng et al 2002). However, the complexity of its involvement in other activity-dependent mechanisms, and its diffuse nuclear and somatodendritic expression pattern makes it difficult to manipulate as a pharmacological target for a phenotype that is limited to only one of its functions (Cheng and Penninger 2004; Woo et al 2008; Alexander et al 2009). Although all four KChIP proteins have a conserved C-terminus and are capable of binding DRE sequences, none of the other subtypes localize to the nucleus. In yeast-two hybrid studies, when any of the four subtypes are expressed in the nucleus, all show DRE sequence interactions and serve as a transcriptional repressor

(Pruunslid and Timmusk 2005; Raghuram et al 2012). However, animal models show knockdown of KChIP3, not the other three subtypes, alter mRNAs whose corresponding gene contains the specified DRE sequence (Woo et al 2008; Pruunslid and Timmusk 2012).

In addition to DREAM, KChIP3 was also described separately as calsenilin. Calsenilin interacts with presenilin, the active subunit of the enzyme gamma amlyase, which synthesizes beta amyloid (Buxbaum et al 1998; Lilliehook et al 2003). Through interaction with this subunit, calsenilin regulates the rate of conversion and the type of beta amyloid made (Fontan-Lozano et al 2009; Craig et al 2013). The role of calsenilin in beta amyloid production has lead to an interest in its role in the pathology of Alzheimer's disease (Dong-Gyu et al 2004; Alexander et al 2009; Craig et al 2013). Calsenilin also interacts with other intracellular mediators to regulate apoptosis and intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> release from the endoplasmic reticulum (Leissring et al 2000; Lilliehook et al 2002).

Localization of KChIP3 within the cell is important in regulating cellular processes and behavior. In animals overexpressing a calcium-insensitive KChIP3 it is unable to act as a transcription factor, and as a result there is less localization to the nucleus (Dierssen and Naranjo 2012). While these animals show normal LTP, they display enhanced contextual fear conditioning (Wu et al 2010, Alexander et al 2009). However, in patients with Alzheimer's disease, KChIP3 expression is elevated which may be associated with a decline in cognitive function as well as an increase in apoptosis (Lilliehook et al 2002; Craig et al 2013). In the context of epilepsy, there is a decrease in KChIP3 in the

hippocampus of post mortem seizure patients (Hong 2003). These conflicting pathologies indicate that localization and regulation of KChIP3 is highly dependent on intracellular signaling pathways that intricately coordinate and balance the function of KChIP3.

#### Role of KChIP3 in regulating NMDA receptor function

In the context of hyperexcitability and hippocampal-dependent deficits in behavior, KChIP3 is a potentially important component of the balance between excitation and inhibition. In addition to its role in promoting Kv4.2 expression and function, KChIP3 also modulates glutamate receptor trafficking. KChIP3 interacts with the GluN1 subunit of NMDA receptors to decrease surface expression and NMDA-mediated current (Zhang et al 2010). Additional research also indicates KChIP3 may interact with GluN2B as well, and may preferentially modulate GluN2B-containing NMDA receptors (Zhang et al 2010; Wu et al 2010). This interaction with GluN1 is calcium-dependent. The binding of each EF-hand calcium sensor to a calcium ion results in a progressive reduction of current (Zhang et al 2010; Wang and Wang 2012). Other studies in the calcium insensitive overexpressing KChIP3 mice indicate that even in the absence of calcium, KChIP3 can still inhibit NMDA receptors. However, this occurs through interaction with the anchor protein PSD-95, and does not alter NMDA-mediated current, but instead decreases surface expression (Wu et al 2010; Wang and Wang 2012). As a result, KChIP3 can not only alter cellular function though the

regulation of ion channels to dampen excitation, but also directly interact with glutamate receptors to further decrease intracellular calcium levels and glutamatergic receptor function.

KChIP3 may have an important role in ethanol-induced hyperexcitability in the hippocampus. Its dual role in regulating both NMDA and Kv4.2 surface expression and function creates the possibility that KChIP3 is part of a homeostatic mechanism that balances local excitation and inhibition during chronic ethanol exposure.

## Activity-dependent translation in dendrites

Different proteins at glutamatergic synapses are important for the balance of excitation and inhibition, and to maintain homeostasis during activitydependent alterations in the intra- and extracellular environment (Sutton et al 2006). Long-term maintenance of neuronal activity requires the induction of more permanent mechanisms that induce transcription and translation of new protein in dendrites and dendritic spines in an activity-dependent manner (Gardiol et al 1999; Kang and Schuman 2004; Holt and Bullock 2009; Zukin et al 2009; Dieck et al 2014).

### Review of translation

In the brain, translation of new protein is a key step in synaptic plasticity and in the processing and retention of required information (Cajigas et al 2010; Darnell and Richter 2012; Holt and Schuman 2013). Typical activity-dependent translational regulation is necessary not only to maintain proper synaptic function, but also has important behavioral consequences (Sutton and Schuman 2006; Costa-Mattioli et al 2009; Holt and Schuman 2013). Translation in dendrites and dendritic spines, like axonal or somatic translation, is cap-dependent and relies upon the unwinding of the 5' cap for protein synthesis (Levy et al 1991; Steward and Schuman 2001; Sutton and Schuman 2006). The process is divided into three steps: initiation, elongation, and termination (**Figure 1-2**).



from the ribosome.

Initiation is the most well characterized step in protein synthesis, and is also the rate-limiting step for translation due to the number of components necessary for the pre-initiation and initiation complexes (Nakamoto and Kalokfsky 1966; Davis and Squire 1984; Holz et al 2005; Pestova et al 2007). This assembly involves recruitment of eukaryotic initiation factors (eIFs) and coordinated activity of different ribosomal subunits. After trafficking to the synapse, the eIF4E binds the 5' cap of the mRNA (Levy et al 1991; Pinkstaff et al 2001; Scheper and Proud 2002; Pestova et al 2007). Next, eIF4G acts a scaffolding protein for assembly of the rest of the initiation complex (Oberer et al 2005; Hinnebusch and Lorsch 2012). The last initiation factor in this complex is eIF4A, which is the active helicase that unwinds structures in the 5' untranslated region of the mRNA to facilitate translation (Tsokas et al 2005; Sonenbergy and Dever 2003). Collectively these three initiation factors eIF4E, -G, and -A along with eIF4H are known as eIF4F once they are assembled into an active complex (Sonenberg and Dever 2003; Oberer et al 2005; Hoeffer et al 2013). After assembly of eIF4F, another initiation factor, eIF3 recruits the 40S small ribosomal subunit to the assembled complex (Hinnebusch 2006). This subunit acts as a scaffold for appropriate alignment and initial association of the tRNA with the other components assembled for initiation (Colombo et al 1968; Erzberger et al 2014; Korostelev 2014).

After assembly of the entire complex, the 40S subunit scans the untranslated region as it unwinds until it reaches the start codon, AUG, which codes for methionine (Colombo et al 1968; Revel et al 1968; Hussain et al 2014). tRNA is responsible for bringing the appropriate amino acid to the polyribosome based on the mRNA triplet base pairings. This methionyl- tRNA serves as a specialized initiator for translation. GTP-bound eIF2 brings the methionyl-tRNA to the 40S subunit (Clark and Marcker 1966; Revel et al 1968; Cheung et al 2007; Erzberger et al 2014; Hussain et al 2014). Hydrolysis of GTP bound to eIF3 to GDP signals for the dissociation of the small 40S subunit, which is replaced by the large 60S ribosomal subunit (Holland et al 2004; Hinnebusch and Lorsch 2012; Gamalinda et al 2014).

Following initiation with the assembly of the necessary components and the addition of the first amino acid, the rest of the mRNA is translated into protein

through elongation. Elongation is a widely conserved process that is mediated by eukaryotic elongation factors (eEFs) (Hinnebusch and Lorsch 2012; Sala 2014). Like the final stage of initiation, this involves tRNAs bringing the appropriate amino acid to the ribosome for addition on the translated protein (Dresios et al 2006). The elongation factor eEF1A in GTP-bound form separates the amino acid from the tRNA. However, this process requires the GEF eEF1B to maintain a certain rate of function for activity-dependent translation to occur (Rogers et al 2001; Kapp and Lorsch 2004; Cao et al 2014). After each amino acid addition, the large 60S subunit slides down the mRNA via hydrolysis of the GTP bound to eEF2 (Ryazanov and Davydova 1989; Kapp and Lorsch 2004; Heise et al 2014).

The final step in protein translation is termination. This step is not well studied, and the components and the exact process are not completely understood, compared to that of the two previous steps. However, like initiation and elongation, termination also utilizes separate proteins that are eukaryotic release factors (eRFs) for release of the finished peptide (Zhouravlev et al 1995; Kapp and Lorsch 2004). Once the assembled polyribosome encounters the consensus stop code, UAG, hydrolysis of GTP-bound to eRFs releases the finished peptide and promotes disassembly of the current active complex to allow the components to return to the pool of available subunits (Dever and Green 2012).

Most protein synthesis occurs in the soma, and the proteins are then transported to different neuronal processes via molecular motors (Kanai et al 2004). However, more recent studies have followed lines of research focusing on

the role of local dendritic protein synthesis and its relevance to synaptic plasticity, particularly in the hippocampus (Kang and Schuman 1996; Asaki et al 2003; Govindarajan et al 2011). While most of this production is somatic, dendritic protein translation is necessary, in some circumstances, to maintain long-term activity-dependent changes (Huber et al 2000; Martin et al 2000; Asaki et al 2003; Sutton and Schuman, 2006; Govindarajan et al 2011). Elimination of dendritic translation through mutation of the mRNA dendritic targeting element produced deficits in the spatial recognition and contextual learning (Kang and Schuman 1996; Morris et al 2002; Sutton and Schuman; 2006). Typically, this local translation involves a highly coordinated series of events with not only mRNAs, but also assembly of the polyribosome for translation and intracellular regulatory processes each component (Liu-Yesucevitz et al 2011; Parysan et al 2011; Korostelev 2014). Regulation of translation can occur at each of the three stages.

Due to its function as the rate-limiting step and as the first point of contact for mRNAs, the initiation step has several different components that alter both the initiation and rate of translation at the polyribosome (Rogers et al 2001; Dobrikov et al 2013). One of the most well-studied proteins involved in translation is the cap-binding protein eIF4E (Raught and Gingras 1999; Rogers et al 2001; Scheper and Proud 2002; Sonnenberg and Dever 2003; Gkogkas et al 2013; Sonenberg and Hinnbusch 2009). This is the first protein to interact with mRNAs and represents the first element in the rate-limiting step (Parysan et al 2013; Phosphorylation of eIF4E decreases the affinity for capped mRNA, which in turn,

slows the rate of translation (Raught and Gingras 1999; Waskiewicz et al 1999). This protein also interacts with 4 eukaryotic initiation-binding proteins (4E-BPs). These regulate translation by binding to eIF4E and inhibiting interaction with the 5' cap (Levy et al 1991; Rogers et al 2001). This includes 4E-BP2, nuclear FMRP interacting protein (NuFIP) and cytoplasmic interacting proteins (Cyfips) that convey long-term inhibition of total protein expression. These act as linker proteins between the polyribosome and larger macromolecular complexes that often include other proteins and noncoding RNAs to not only block the capbinding protein but to stall out the polyribosome to prevent cap-independent translation (Bardoni et al 2003; Napoli et al 2008; Pathania et al 2014). Although these act as translational repressors, they are important in the coordination of activity-dependent protein synthesis. Knockout or dysfunction of these proteins leads to aberrant synaptic plasticity, and deficits in hippocampal-dependent learning tasks (Banko et al 2007; Liu-Yesucevitz and 2011; Santini et al 2012; Pathania et al 2014). Activity of the alpha helicase is another component of initiation that affects the rate of translation. The poly(A)-binding protein (PABP) interacts with the 3' end to circularize the mRNA (Le et al 2000; Atkins et al 2004; Kahvejian et al 2005). This enhances unwinding of the helix and drastically enhances the rate of translation (Atkins et al 2004; Dieck et al 2014).

The process of mRNA and protein elongation is regulated through phosphorylation of elongation factors. Binding of GTP to eEF1A is relatively slow without the GEF activity of eEF1B (Tsokas et al 2005; Cao et al 2014). Phosphorylation of either of these elongation factors by PKC or casein kinase

alters the rate at which elongation of the protein occurs (Price et al 1991; Redpath and Proud 1993). Phosphorylation by PKC decreases the ability of eEF1A to bind GTP and slows translation (Redpath and Proud 1993; Ryazanov et al 1988; Tsokas et al 2005). However, phosphorylation of either protein by casein kinase enhances the rate of translation (Price et al 1991). The larger ribosomal subunit 60S slides down the mRNA and connects the appropriate amino acids brought by the tRNA (Gamalinda et al 2014). This is controlled by eEF2, which is subject to both acute and longer-term regulation (Ryazanov and Davydova 1989). Acutely, calcium-activated eEF2 kinase (eEF2K) prevents hydrolysis of GTP by eEF2, and inhibits movement of the larger subunit down the mRNA (Ryazanov et al 1988). However, eEF2K is only activated by acute influx of calcium at the synapse; inhibition lasts around 30 minutes following the influx of calcium (Ryazanov and Davydova 1989; Sala 2014). Dephosphorylation of eEF2 by PP2A occurs after activation of other intracellular signaling pathways (Sonenberg and Dever 2003; Im et al 2009).

Although little is known about the process of termination of translation, this is also regulated by phosphorylation of release factors that alter GTP hydrolysis and the rate of release. However, more regulatory steps occur during the first two steps, initiation and elongation, where mRNA stability, assembly of the complex, and rate of synthesis are affected.

Another important component regulating translation does not necessarily alter the rate of translation, but rather the mRNAs that are translated. mRNAbinding proteins are a large class of proteins that can form macromolecular

complexes to regulate mRNA interaction with the polyribosome. These proteins are important in trafficking, localization, and stability of mRNAs after transcription (Zalfa et al 2006; Bramham and Wells 2007; Bolognani and Perrone-Bizzozero 2008). These proteins contain multiple binding regions for RNAs; however, each region interacts with a specific mRNA sequence. This gives these proteins the ability to bind to several different targets while also giving target specificity (Jones 2003; Shan et al 2003). They are often regulated by post-translational modifications, with the three main types being phosphorylation, arginine methylation, and small ubiquitin-like modification (SUMO) (Glisovic et al 2008). These change activity and RNA binding affinities, induce the formation of ribonucleoprotein complexes (RNP), and creates conformational changes that alter mRNA binding and transport (Shan et al 2003; Darnell and Richter 2012; Hinnebusch and Lorsch 2012). Many of these proteins, like fragile X mental retardation protein (FMRP) are translational repressors that prevent interaction with the ribosome (Laggerbauer et al 2001; Darnell et al 2011). However other proteins such as the Staufen family of RNA-binding proteins, are important in processed mRNA transport down microtubules and into dendrites (Heraud-Farlow and Kiebler 2014). Other proteins, such as Smaug, are important in RNA destabilization and degradation (Tadros et al 2007; Bologani and Perrone-Bizzozero 2008; Gotez and Wahle 2015. However, these proteins also form RNP complexes that contain mRNAs and multiple mRNA-binding proteins to properly regulate trafficking, localization, stability, and translation activity (Braham and Wells 2007; Bologani and Perrone-Bizzozero 2008; Darnell and Richter 2012).

#### NMDA receptors and dendritic translation

Translation of new protein is a finely tuned process with several regulatory elements that alter not only assembly of the complex and mRNA binding, but also the rate at which mRNAs are translated. In dendrites, the process of local translation is an essential component of the maintenance of adaptive activity-dependent changes to neuronal activity (Ostroff et al 2002; Costa-Mattioli et al 2009; Holt and Schuman 2013). NMDA receptors are a key component for initiating activity-dependent translation, and NMDA-dependent processes, such as NMDA-dependent LTP, require protein synthesis to occur (Marin et al 1997; Im et al 2009; Costa-Mattioli et al 2009). These receptors activate different downstream components that alter local translation in different ways, and regulate all three stages of protein synthesis.

During initiation, several components of the initiation complex are subject to activity-dependent regulation through phosphorylation of different kinases in order adjust the rate of translation to the current cellular conditions. *In vivo* and *in vitro* studies have outlined a role for NMDA-dependent ERK activation in altering specific components of the initiation complex. Downstream substrates MAP kinase signal interacting kinases (Mnk1 and Mnk2) phosphorylate the capbinding protein eIF4E (Raught and Gingras 1999; Perkinton et al 2002). This phosphorylation enhances activity and the general rate of translation by pulling mRNAs more quickly to the ribosome. Activation of ERK and Mnk kinases via NMDA receptor activity and this subsequent increase in eIF4E activity promotes

new protein synthesis to sustain late phase LTP in the mouse hippocampus (Knauf et al 2001; Perkinton et al 2002; Carriere et al 2011). Mutation at the eIF4E phosphorylation does not alter the induction of LTP, but hippocampal neurons do not maintain LTP activity (Topisirovic et al 2004; Im et al 2009). As previously mentioned, PI3-K is activated during the transition from early to late phase LTP, and induces ERK-independent translational changes via the mTORC1 pathway (Perkinton et al 2002; Shahbazian et al 2006). This regulatory pathway alters several downstream components that are necessary to coordinate activity-dependent translation.

During the elongation phase of translation, activation of NMDA receptors continues to regulate the rate of protein synthesis. However, unlike initiation, this regulation occurs during early phase LTP as well as late phase (Im et al 2009). The eEF2 kinase eEF2K operates via a calcium-dependent mechanism that facilitates binding to eEF2 to slow GTP hydrolysis and the rate of translation (Browne and Proud 2004; Im et al 2009). This paradoxical coupling of both inhibition and activation of translation at different stages represents a finely regulated process that facilitates the necessary cellular functions to accommodate the different requirements of both early and late phase LTP (Im et al 2009). Although NMDA receptor activation enhances the initiation process, it inhibits elements that are downstream to slow translation. However, this inhibition is transient and spatially restricted (Ryazanov and Davydova 1989; Martin et al 2000; Govindarajan et al 2011). Persistent activation of NMDA receptors produces transient blockade of translation via eEF2 inhibition, despite the

presence of calcium at the synapse (Marin et al 1997; Browne and Proud 2004; Im et al 2009). Additionally, eEF2K phosphorylation is restricted to the activated synapses and does not alter translation outside of dendritic spines (Ryazanov and Davydova 1989).

This initial repression of translation may coordinate LTP in different ways. It may serve as a mechanism to allow coordinated mRNA transport and synaptic arrangement to produce the necessary protein needed to maintain LTP (Costa-Mattioli et al 2009; Sossin and Lacaille 2010; Thomas et al 2013; Bailey et al 2015). This may allow for mRNA-specific inhibition of translation, rather than a blanket, general blockade of all translational mechanisms (Doench and Sharp 2004; Bramham and Wells 2007, Dieck et al 2014). At the same time, general protein translation is repressed following NMDA receptor activity, and the expression of certain locally translated proteins, such as CaMKII, are increased (Pinkstaff et al 2001; Asaki et al 2003; Costa-Mattioli et al 2009).

NMDA-dependent LTP is characterized by not only alterations in synaptic activity, but also the production of new protein (Kapp and Lorsch 2004; Klann and Richet 2007; Kim et al 2013). As such, studies have confirmed that NMDA receptor activity is important in the regulation and coordination of activity-dependent translational mechanisms. This process involves several components of the translation machinery that both promote and inhibit local activity-dependent translation (Klann and Richet 2007). With defined deficits in NMDA-dependent LTP in the hippocampus resulting from chronic ethanol exposure, translational

mediators and components controlling the rate of translation are likely candidate proteins for homeostatic regulation in CIE.

#### mTORC1 translational pathway

Local regulation of dendritic translation requires the convergence and coordination of several different proteins to allow for fluid, effective activity-dependent translation. However, many of these components, those that both promote and inhibit translation, are part of a common regulatory pathway. In dendrites and dendritic spines, one of the most well characterized pathways regulating activity-dependent translation is the Akt-mTORC1 pathway (Brown et al 1995; Gingras et al 2001; Dibble and Cantley 2015). This is a large, diverse pathway with downstream components that control dendritic and somatic translation, and both promote and inhibit protein translation through activation of different substrates (Figure 1-3) (Browne and Proud 2003; Holz et al 2005).



Phosphorylation of phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3-K) initiates activity of protein kinase B (Akt). In turn, Akt phosphorylates the 2164 threonine residue to induce assembly mTORC1. Active mTORC1 involves the addition of the catalytic subunit Raptor to the complex (Kim et al 2002; Dibble and Cantley 2015). Following raptor assembly into the complex, the p70 ribosomal protein S6 kinase 1 (S6K1) is phosphorylated (Brown et al 1995; Kim et al 2002). Like mTORC1, S6K1 has a myriad of downstream proteins that control translation in the soma, axons, dendrites, and dendritic spines that both promote and inhibit activity-dependent translation, depending on the localization and function in the neuron (Burnett et al 1998; Gingras et al 2001; Holz et al 2005; Im et al 2009; Ma and Blenis 2009). Some of these substrates include the cap-binding protein elF4E,

the alpha-helicase eIF4A, and the ribosomal subunit S6; these are all components of the active polyribosome that are necessary for translation (Hara et al 1997; Hara et al 1998; Gingras et al 2001; Ma and Blenis 2009). However, S6K1 also activates other substrates including mRNA-binding proteins like FMRP, that serve as a translational repressors, Smaug, which facilitates mRNA degradation, and Cyfip1, which is a 4E-BP that halts all mRNA association with the polyribosome (Burnett et al 1998; Czaplinski and Singer 2006; Ma and Blenis 2009; Chen and Joseph 2015). Activation of these downstream components follows discrete regulatory mechanisms that tailor activation of each component to the particular change in activity to compensate in both a short- and long-term fashion (Holz et al 2005; Ma and Blenis 2009). Not all downstream proteins are activated simultaneously or even phosphorylated at all during mTORC1 or S6K1 activation (Holz et al 2005).

mTORC1 activity is regulated through a number of different mechanisms, and controls a number of activity-dependent cellular functions in addition to translation including cell growth and apoptosis. In addition to mTORC1, Akt also activates mTORC2 (Urbanska et al 2012). These two complexes differ in their assembly, activity, and sensitivity to rapamycin. mTORC1 is composed of the mTOR and mTOR-associated protein (Ma and Blenis 2009). The recruitment of the catalytic subunit Raptor activates the complex to phosphorylate downstream substrates (Ma and Blenis 2009; Urbanska et al 2012). While dephosphorylation causes dissociation of this subunit and ceases activity; exactly how it differentially regulates activity of each of its downstream substrates is not known.

#### NMDA-dependent regulation of mTORC1

In addition to ERK/Mnk regulation of translation, NMDA receptor activity also regulates mTORC1 activity to control local translation. In this context, it triggers the translation of mTORC1 substrates including p70 ribosomal S6 kinases 1 and 2 as well as p90 ribosomal S6 kinases 1 and 2 (Rsk1 and 2)(Lenz and Avruch 2005; Gong et al 2006; Carriere et al 2011). This is completely independent of ERK activity and is blocked by treatment with rapamycin (Carriere et al 2011; Dibble and Cantley 2015). Additionally, activation of other downstream mTORC1 substrates can regulate initiation and elongation. eIF4E and other components of the initiation complex are regulated in an mTORC1dependent manner (Hara et al 1997; Hara et al 1998; Gingas et al 2001; Shahbazian et al 2006). This alteration in activity of mTORC1 substrates corresponds to an increase in S6K1 phosphorylation and activity (Hara et al 1998; Holz et al 2009; Fenton et al 2011). Other studies also suggest the nature of mTORC1 activity in NMDA-dependent regulation of translation (Marin et al 1997; Lenz and Avruch 2005; Gong et al 2006; Meng et al 2013). Stimulation of NMDA receptors and subsequent activation of mTORC1 and S6K1 leads to the suppression of specific substrates that are key in balancing dendritic excitation, such as Kv1.1 (Raab-Graham et al 2006; Meng et al 2013). Treatment with rapamycin abolished this NMDA-induced decrease in Kv1.1. Additionally, treatment with rapamycin abolishes late-, but not early-phase LTP in the hippocampus, suggesting that its activation is key for synthesis of new that are

necessary to maintain but not intiate LTP (Raab-Graham et al 2006; Bekinschtein et al 2007; Russo et al 2013). In the context of ethanol-seeking behaviors, mTORC1 activation is necessary for the reduction in ethanol-seeking behaviors in rats treated with the NMDA receptor antagonist, ketamine (Sabino et al 2013).

#### mTORC1 in dendritic spines and its role in behavior

The role of mTORC1 as a translational regulatory pathway is well studied. However, long-term differences or dysfunction of dendritic translation is associated with differences in dendritic spine density and morphology (Hoeffer et al 2012; Bowling and Klann 2014; Tang and Sulzer 2014). In animal models of autism spectrum disorders, hyperactive mTORC1 is correlated with aberrant spine morphology compared to controls (Huber et al 2002; Bowling and Klann 2014). However, the connection between mTORC1-mediated translation and actin polymerization and spine formation is not well characterized, but there are studies showing correlations between alterations in mTORC1 activity and alterations in dendritic spines (Hoeffer et al 2012; Tang and Sulzer 2014). Neurodegenerative disorders that exhibit decreases in mTORC1 activity also show deficits with activity-dependent maintenance of actin polymerization and differences in spine formation (Urbanska et al 2012; Takei and Hiroyki 2014; Tang and Sulzer 2014)

Due to its well-characterized role in protein translation, mTORC1 is also studied in behaviors that have previously been shown to rely on LTP. Inhibition of

mTORC1 via treatment with rapamycin in the dorsal hippocampus prevented consolidation and reconsolidation of contextual fear conditioning (Bekinschtein et al 2007). Inhibitory avoidance tasks significantly increased mTORC1 and S6K1 phosphorylation and activity. Inhibition of mTORC1 prevented this increase in S6K1 phosphorylation and hippocampal-dependent learning (Im et al 2009; Fenton et al 2011).

Previous studies have shown that long-term exposure to ethanol preferentially up or down regulates specific proteins at glutamatergic synapses. In particular, proteins necessary for NMDA receptor signaling, such as CaMKII and PSD-95, are upregulated (Barak et al 2013; Sabino et al 2013). Additional components of the mTORC1 pathway that are key for appropriate, proficient activity-dependent translation, such as 4E-BP1 and S6K1, exhibit enhanced activity following chronic self-administration of ethanol (Nesta et al 2010; Barak et al 2013). Treatment with rapamycin not only inhibited these cellular changes in protein expression, it also prevents reinstatement of ethanol-seeking behaviors during cue-induced reinstatement. This inhibition of reinstatement was present after two weeks of rapamycin treatment (Barak et al 2013).

Included in the mTORC1 pathway are downstream components of S6K1 that serve as mRNA-binding proteins (Zalfa et al 2006; Chen and Joseph 2015). As previously discussed, these proteins, although translational repressors, are essential components for coordinated translation. Of these, the translational repressor fragile X mental retardation protein (FMRP) has previously been shown to have a key role in regulating *de novo* protein synthesis in response to changes

in activity at glutamatergic synapses (Zalfa et al 2006; Darnell et al 2011; Henry et al 2011; Darnell and Klann 2013; Fernandez and Bagni 2013).

# **Role of FMRP in activity-dependent translation**

## FMRP in dendritic translation

The mRNA-binding protein FMRP is of particular importance in the regulation of local translation in dendrites and dendritic spines (Bardoni et al 2001; Darnell et al 2011; Zalfa et al 2006). FMRP is a translational repressor that binds to mRNAs and prevents mRNA interaction with the cap-binding protein elF4E (Laggerbauer et al 2001; Fernandez and Bagni 2013; Sala et al 2014). It is one of the necessary components for activity-dependent translation in dendrites in the hippocampus and is also needed to maintain homeostatic basal protein levels (Bardoni et al 1997; Henry 2011; Fernandez and Bagni 2013). It has been most well studied in the context of neuronal development and fragile X syndrome, and there are fewer studies investigating the role of FMRP in typical activitydependent neuronal function (Sutherland 1979; Weiler et al 2004; Henry 2011; Schaeffer et al 2012). FMRP is encoded by the *fmr1* gene that is highly conserved throughout the animal kingdom, from *drosophila* to human (Bardoni et al 1997; Laggerbauer et al 2001; Usdin and Kumari et al 2015). It codes for seven different isoforms of FMRP, with isoform 6 being the most commonly expressed. However, it is of note that each isoform varies in the mRNA binding

regions and potential differences in mRNA binding and activity have not been characterized (Usdin and Kumari et al 2015).

Structurally, FMRP contains several binding regions for both coding and noncoding RNAs as well as proteins that regulate the function of FMRP and residues that undergo post-translational modification to mediate FMRP activity (Schaeffer et al 2012; Adams-Cioaba et al 2010). For regulation of mRNA translation, FMRP contains two KH domains as well as an RGG rich segment (Figure 1-4) (Bardoni et al 1997; Adams-Cioaba et al 2010; Chen and Joseph 2015; Usdin and Kumari 2015). These regions contain ubiquitous sequences that allow FMRP to interact with 3-4% of total mRNAs in hippocampal pyramidal neurons (Jones 2003; Darnell et al 2012). These include proteins that modulate the balance of excitation and inhibition such as Kv4.2, KChIP3, and the NMDA receptor subunits (Darnell et al 2011, Gross et al 2011; Jan et al 2011; Lee et al 2011). However, each mRNA binding region tends to interact with specific sequences on mRNAs. This allows FMRP to have specificity for specific mRNAs while multiple regions maximizes binding partners (Brown et al 1995; Bardoni et al 1997; Jones 2003; Darnell et al 2011; Schaeffer et al 2012). FMRP activity is mediated by phosphorylation at three different serine residues, S496, S499, and S503, located in the RGG-rich region (Bardoni et al 1997, Ceman et al 2003; Edbauer et al 2010). Of interest in the context of mRNA activity is S499 (Bartley et al 2014). This is a highly conserved site for post-translational modification that alters FMRP's mRNA binding activity (Jones et al 2001; Bhattacharya et al 2012; Bartley et al 2014). Increases in phosphorylation at S499 via S6K1 increases

FMRP activity (Ceman et al 2003; Holz et al 2005; Fenton and Grant 2011; Bhattacharya et al 2012; Bartley et al 2014). This increase in activity causes an increase in mRNA-FMRP interaction and therefore a decrease in protein synthesis of that mRNA (Laggerbauer et al 2001; Ceman et al 2003; Darnell and Klann 2013; Usdin and Kumari 2015).

FMRP also interacts with various proteins, noncoding RNAs, and miRNAs that regulate its function. Two proteins, nuclear FMRP interacting protein (Nufip) and cytoplasmic FMRP interacting protein 1 (Cyfip1), bind with FMRP to serve as linker proteins of larger macromolecular complexes that may not only regulate translation, but also mRNA localization and stability (Bardoni et al 2003; Napoli et al 2008; Pathania et al 2014). In dendrites, Cyfip1 interacts with FMRP at sites adjacent to the mRNA-binding KH regions. Once bound to FMRP, Cyfip1 also interacts with the eIF4E to prevent all translation at that ribosome (Napoli et al 2008). This binding with the polyribosome may also serve to regulate the translation of specific mRNAs. As seen in Figure 1-4, FMRP has different binding regions for mRNAs and Cyfip1, and may interact with both Cyfip1 and mRNA simultaneously (Zalfa et al 2006; Fernandez and Bagni 2013; Usban and Kumari 2015). If so, the interaction of Cyfip1 and FMRP with the ribosome may also serve to coordinate translation by holding certain mRNAs near ribosomes for quick de novo protein synthesis (Zalfa et al 2006; Napoli et al 2008). FMRP also binds noncoding RNAs, such as BC1 that interact with the ribosome to inhibit translation (Zalfa et al 2003; Napoli et al 2008).



The structure of FMRP allows for specific binding with particular motifs in certain mRNAs while multiple binding regions maximizes potential binding partners. FMRP also has different regions for protein-protein interactions that have a pivotal role in determining FMRP function.

In addition to translation, FMRP may also regulate RNA trafficking at the synapse. Increases in phosphorylation at S503 increases FMRP binding to Dicerprocessed miRNAs (Ceman et al 2003; Jin et al 2004). Dicer cuts pre-miRNAs

into shorter strands for insertion into the RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC) (Hayashi-Takagi et al 2010). In this capacity, FMRP aids Dicer by interacting with processed miRNAs through one of the KH domains and acts as an acceptor protein to localize and traffic the miRNA to the other RISC components (Jin et al 2004; Zalfa et al 2006; Hayashi-Tagaki et al 2010). Outside of this capacity, there is some controversy as to whether FMRP alters trafficking of mRNAs or holds them at specific synapses in the dendrite. Studies from different groups have produced contradictory results. In *fmr1-/-* mice, two different studies in the same preparation have reported opposite results for the same mRNA. One study implicated FMRP in Kv4.2 mRNA trafficking (Gross et al 2011). However, another study examining the FMRP-mRNA binding domains showed that mutation of the binding site on either FMRP or Kv4.2 mRNA did not produce any alteration in mRNA trafficking down the dendrite (Lee et al 2011). However, it was postulated that mRNAs may still be trafficked down the dendrites, but without FMRP interaction these mRNAs are unstable (Gross et al 2011).

## FMRP and synaptic plasticity

As an mRNA-binding protein, FMRP has numerous targets of interest related to maintenance of homeostasis and glutamatergic signaling. These include PSD-95, CaMKII, Arc, Kv4.2, KChIP3, and NMDA receptor subunits (Brown et al 1995; Muddashetty et al 2007; Jones et al 2012; Niere et al 2012; Darnell et al 2013). FMRP is also implicated in regulation of specific mRNAs that

are translated with relatively low efficiency. These are 5'- TOP mRNAs, which are mRNAs that contain an unusual terminal oligopyramidine tract at the 5' untranslated region (Levy et al 1991; Jefferies et al 1997). Most of the proteins directly involved in the assembly of the initiation and translation complexes, as well as several proteins necessary for regulation of ribosome assembly, are TOP mRNAs (Levy et al 1991; Brown et al 1995; Zalfa et al 2006). These mRNAs are transcripted, transported down into neuronal processes where they are sequestered in inactive ribonucleoprotein complexes (Bardoni et al 2003; Antar et al 2005; Zalfa et al 2006). The association of these proteins with active polyribosomes is significantly lower than other proteins whose mRNAs are trafficked out to the synapse under basal conditions (Levy et al 2991; Jefferies et al 1997). Typically, in non-neuronal cell types, activation of these mRNAs involves trafficking back to active translation sites in response to growth factor stimulation (Bardoni et al 2003; Castets et al 2005). However, in mature neurons, this also occurs in response to activity-dependent changes in synaptic plasticity. Another aspect of these mRNAs that is very different from other transcripts is that these mRNAs have an almost 'all or none' translational efficiency (Levy et al 1991; Aloni et al 1992; Jefferies et al 1997). Under basal state conditions, practically none of these mRNAs are translated, but, after synaptic stimulation, the overwhelming majority of the mRNAs present near active synapse are trafficked to active polyribosomes for translation. Due to this sudden shift in translation, FMRP may play a significant role in tethering these proteins near active polyribosomes in dendrites and dendritic spines to stabilize the mRNA

transcript and promote immediate translation as needed (Levy et al 1991; Aloni et al 1992). Translation of these mRNAs is also almost exclusively dependent on mTORC1/S6K1 activation. Treatment with rapamycin almost completely ablates *de novo* protein synthesis of these mRNAs, even with strong synaptic stimulation or growth factors (Jefferies et al 1997). Since these TOP mRNAs are transcripts of necessary components in all three stages of translation, such as eIF4E, eIF4A, eEF2, and eRF2, dysregulation of translation of these mRNAs directly alters the ability to the facilitate protein translation and maintain changes in synaptic plasticity, such as LTP (Levy et al 1991; Brown et al 1995; Schaeffer et al 2012).

FMRP is a key mediator of activity-dependent translation of numerous mRNAs in dendrites and dendritic spines (Ramocki and Zoghbi 2008). These mRNAs include several that code for proteins that are essential in mediating synaptic excitability (Brown et al 1995; Jones 2003; Darnell et al 2013). In disorders characterized by hyperexcitability, such as fragile X syndrome and epilepsy, dysfunctional FMRP creates an aberrant basal state and dysregulated activity-dependent translation (Krueger and Bear 2011; Vislay et al 2012). Fragile X syndrome is characterized by the expansion of the regulatory CpG region that recruits transcriptional regulators that promote hypermethylation and silencing of the gene (Bardoni et al 1997; Usdin and Kumari 2015). Therefore, many individuals with fragile X syndrome completely lack FMRP (Sutherland 1979; Laggerbauer et al 2001). This lack of FMRP leads to increases in basal state protein levels, including Kv4.2 and KChIP3 (Brown et al 1995; Darnell et al 2011; Schaeffer et al 2012). In individuals with fragile X syndrome

and in *fmr1-/-* mice, synaptic plasticity is limited and while induction of activitydependent mechanism is unaffected, these processes cannot be maintained. Although FMRP is a translational repressor, it has an important role in coordinating and fine-tuning mRNA interactions to produce the necessary increases in protein expression to maintain activity-dependent processes, such as LTP or LTD (Ostroff et al 2002; Niere et al 2012; Maurin et al 2014). Complete lack of FMRP has greater effects on LTD compared to LTP, but this effect may be age-dependent, vary by brain region, and depend on the knockout mouse model (Eadie et al 2010; Niere et al 2012). In the nucleus accumbens, adult *fmr1-/-* mice display impaired NMDA-dependent plasticity (Neuhofer et al 2015). Additionally, in more recent mouse models of fragile X, NMDA-dependent LTP is also impaired in the hippocampus (Mittman 2009; Eadie et al 2010)

FMRP may also control excitability by altering the polyribosome itself. As a regulator of 5' TOP mRNAs, FMRP activity alters protein expression of the obligatory subunits for active ribosomes (Levy et al 1991). Lack of FMRP in animal models has shown deficiencies in activity-dependent translation of these proteins. Although basal protein expression levels remain unchanged compared to control animals, these mRNAs are trafficked to the ribosome with low efficiency during activity-dependent synaptic plasticity, despite relatively normal levels of other mRNA- binding proteins (Levy et al 1991; Jefferies et al 1992). This suggests that FMRP not only regulates proteins that directly mediate synaptic function, but also those necessary for maintenance of synaptic plasticity.

Studies evaluating protein translation during epileptigenesis show that, although there is no change in total protein expression of FMRP, there is aberrant regulation of FMRP activity. Proteins that balance local glutamatergic inputs, such as Kv4.2 and KChIP3, are downregulated in both clinical patients and mouse models of temporal lobe epilepsy (Muddashetty et al 2007; Lee et al 2011; Fernandez and Bagni 2013; Maurin et al 2014). In some of these mouse models, FMRP total protein expression remains unaffected, but trafficking and FMRP-mRNA interactions are altered compared to controls, indicating a role for FMRP in activity-dependent protein translation in epilepsy (Mittman 2009; Lee et al 2011; Neuhofer et al 2015).

Due to its previously described role in regulating basal protein levels and activity-dependent translation of proteins altered by chronic ethanol exposure, FMRP is a likely candidate for mediating ethanol-induced hyperexcitability in the hippocampus. Blockade of upstream components of FMRP prevent the ethanolinduced alterations in protein expression. In other pathologies characterized by hyperexcitability, these alterations in protein expression and upstream kinases correspond to alterations in FMRP expression and activity.

#### FMRP and actin dynamics

Alterations in protein expression are often accompanied by changes in actin polymerization and spine morphology. Patients with fragile X syndrome who lack FMRP, have increased density of immature stubby dendritic spines and a
significant decrease in long/thin spines (Hoeffer et al 2012). In *drosophila*, FMRP interacts with a Cyfip protein that is a regulator of actin polymerization and synapse development (Schenck et al 2003; Henry 2011; Zhao et al 2013). In rodent models, *fmr1-/-* also display impaired spine development (Dictenberg et al 2008; Henry 2011). Conversely, *Cyfip+/-* mice show a behavioral phenotype characterized by deficits in hippocampal-dependent learning and increases in basal protein expression, similar to *fmr1-/-* mice (Antar et al 2003; Pathania et al 2014; Han et 2015). However, this connection between spine development and protein translation has not been well characterized. Cyfip proteins provide a potential link to activity-dependent actin polymerization and translational changes associated with synaptic plasticity (Lee and Jan 2012).

#### Spine morphology and activity-dependent translation

#### Overview of actin dynamics

Regulation of actin dynamics and morphology of dendritic spines involves a coordinated, highly regulated activity-dependent mechanism that balances the acting polymerization with functional changes at the synapse.

Actin cytoskeletal dynamics are essential to maintain proper neuronal function. One particular regulatory element is the WAVE complex. The WASP-family veropolin homologous protein (WAVE) is found in nearly all cells, including neurons, and is active in a number of different cellular processes (Bompard

2004; Stradal et al 2004; Kim et al 2006; Pollitt and Insall 2009). The WAVE complex consists of WAVE1, Arp2/3, Hem1, Abi1, and either Cyfip1 or 2. While the complex is inactive when completely assembled, dissociation of Cyfip/Hem1 allows for its activation via Arp2/3 nucleation of actin filaments. When assembled into the WAVE complex, Cyfip blocks the Arp2/3 activating domain (VCA region) and prevents activity-dependent actin polymerization. In order to facilitate actin polymerization, Arp2/3 must have a free VCA region and be activated by an F-actin filament (Smith and Rong 2004; Stradal et al 2004; Kim et al 2006).

Arp2/3-mediated polymerization of G-actin to F-actin filaments is a four step process. The first step is dissociation of the Cyfip/Hem1 inhibitory complex, which exposes the VCA region (Kim et al 2006; Pollitt and Insall 2009). The next step requires the uninhibited Arp2/3 protein to bind to a preformed actin filament. Following filament binding, Arp2/3 tethers a free actin monomer to the existing filament. The final step is elongation of the actin chain with the addition of other actin monomers. Initiation of this process of actin polymerization is ATPdependent (Suetsugu et al 1999; Innocenti et al 2004; Kim et al 2006). Hydrolysis of ATP bound to Arp2 serves as a timing mechanism to promote dynamic actin networks that can easily and readily respond quickly to activity-dependent changes. ATP hydrolysis is stimulated by interaction with either the actin monomer or filament (Smith and Rong 2004; Innocenti et al 2004). Therefore, hydrolysis may occur before the polymerization step is complete. However, the rate of nucleation of actin monomers matches the rate of ATP hydrolysis. Phosphate dissociation does not immediately induce disassembly of the F-actin,

but does allow for factors such as cofilin that facilitate the breakdown of filamenteous actin into actin monomers to interact with the newly formed chain (Kasai et al 2003; Okamoto et al 2007; Pilpel and Segal 2005; Bellot et al 2014).

#### The role of Cyfip in activity-dependent spine changes

Dissociation of Cyfip from the WAVE complex is the first step that is necessary for WAVE activation and subsequently actin polymerization (Kim et al 2006; Bellot et al 2014). Previous studies have shown a role for Rac1 signaling in regulating WAVE-mediated actin polymerization. However, Rac1 does not directly interact with the WAVE complex (Miki et al 1998; Rao and Craig 2000; Tolias et al 2005). More recent studies have shown that Rac1 interacts with Cyfip to facilitate dissociation and disinhibition of the VCA region (Figure 1-5). GTPbound Rac1 induces Cyfip/Hem1 to dissociate from the rest of the WAVE complex (Miki et al 1998: Tolias et al 2005; Bongmba et al 2011). This dissociation relieves the Cyfip-mediated block on the VCA region of Arp2/3 (Machesky et al 1999; Eden et al 2002; Choi Et al 2005). Following this disinhibition, Arp2/3 can polymerize actin monomers to filamentous actin, and hydrolysis of GTP allows for Cyfip to reassociate with WAVE and prevent further cytoskeletal remodeling via WAVE. The binding of GTP Rac1 requires GEF activity. However, it is unclear which GEF is involved in this process, and how it is regulated. Unlike many Rac1-mediated processes, this is independent of Rho A activity and it is not affected by Cdc4 activation (Suetsugu et al 1999; Eden et

al 2002; Tolias et al 2005). Regulation of spine morphology and actin dynamics may have significant functional implications. Decreases in protein translation are associated with immature spine development and impairment of synaptic plasticity. This difference in spine morphology may have a contribution to the synaptic compartmentalization and the development or maintenance of LTP (Dahl et al 2003; Soderling et al 2003; Maurin et al 2014).



As mentioned above, the inactive WAVE complex contains either Cyfip1 or 2. These two proteins, although 88% homologous, are encoded by different genes, and have a key role in dendritic translation and actin dynamics (Antar et al 2003; Billuart et al 2003; Schenck et al 2003; Abebkhouhk and Bardoni 2014). Yeast-two hybrid studies show both Cyfip proteins were found to interact with FMRP (Napoli et al 2008). However, *in vivo* studies have shown preferential interaction of Cyfip1 with FMRP over Cyfip2 (Antar et al 2003). Cyfip2 was found

to localize to the WAVE complex and alter actin polymerization over protein translation (Antar et al 2003; Bongmba et al 2011; Abekhoukh et al 2014). Clinical studies show that aberrant function of both proteins may produce similar phenotypes. Unregulated Cyfip1 mRNA is present in some patients with autism spectrum disorders, which is often a comorbid diagnosis with fragile X syndrome (Sutherland 1979; Turner et al 1980; Hoeffer et al 2012). Additionally, some clinical populations with autism spectrum disorder or fragile X syndrome also have increased Cyfip2 mRNA and protein expression (Hoeffer et al 2012). This suggests that protein translation and actin dynamics may be connected, and that alterations in either process produces a similar pathology.

Alterations in actin dynamics and spine morphology occur as a result of activity-dependent changes at glutamatergic synapses. However, like protein translation, changes in spine morphology involves a highly coordinated pathway with several components that regulate actin polymerization. As a key regulator of the WAVE complex, Cyfip2 was recently found to have a role in drug-induced alterations in spine morphology. Kumar et al found a naturally occurring polymorphism between two lines of commercially available C57BL/6 animals. This polymorphism did not alter total Cyfip2 expression, rather it changed the stability of the protein. In the C57BL/6N animals, Cyfip2 showed a decreased half-life compared to C57BL/6J mice. This created a higher turnover in protein, and these animals also showed decreased spine density in the nucleus accumbens. This decrease in density was due to a decrease in both mature long/thin spines, and immature stubby spines. Additionally, these 6N did not

show the typical behavioral responses to acute or chronic cocaine administration. Passive injection of cocaine did not elicit the increase in locomotor activity in 6N animals that was seen with 6J mice. 6N mice were also resistant to reinstatement following a cocaine prime. This is likely due to the Cyfip2 polymorphism, as experiments using a knockin on a C57BL/6J background produced the same results (Kumar et al 2013).

Atlerations in spine morphology may have a direct or indirect role in modulating protein translation and cellular function. Translation and actin dynamics might represent a coupled mechanism that must occur in tandem to have functional changes in synaptic plasticity.

#### <u>Summary</u>

Ethanol affects many areas of the brain including reward circuitry and memory systems, which include the hippocampus. While acute exposure to ethanol dampens excitation while promoting inhibition, chronic ethanol exposure induces activity-dependent changes to accommodate the persistent decrease in excitation (Carpenter-Hyland and Chandler 2006; Zhou et al 2007; Enoch et al 2012; Zorumski et al 2014). In dendrites and dendritic spines, this is characterized by an increase in excitation and a decrease in local inhibition. However, the mechanisms driving these changes are not fully understood.

It has previously been shown that chronic ethanol increases NMDA receptor activity and expression. But, regulation of excitatory inputs in dendritic spines

also includes proteins that mediate inhibition. Of the proteins regulating excitation in dendrites and dendritic spines, Kv4.2 and its auxiliary protein KChIP3 are viable candidates for ethanol-induced homeostatic changes in inhibition. Kv4.2 is an A-type K+- channel that is one of the main regulators of backpropagating action potentials and excitotoxicity (Kim et al 2007; Kaufmann et al 2012; Labno et al 2014). Other disorders characterized by hyperexcitability show decreases in Kv4.2 expression and function (Hong et al 2003; Monaghan et al 2008; Aronica et al 2009). Additionally its interacting protein KChIP3 not only enhances inhibition by promoting Kv4.2 surface expression and function, but also inhibits NMDA-mediated current and protein expression (Kunjilwar et al 2004; Lin et al 2004; Norris et al 2010; Zhang et al 2010; Wang et al 2012). These proteins exhibit inverse activity-dependent changes in expression and function. As NMDA receptors are activated, Kv4.2 expression decreases. Taken together, Kv4.2 and KChIP3 may have an influential role in mediating the homeostatic changes induced by neurons in the hippocampus to balance increased NMDA receptor expression and function.

Previous studies have shown hippocampal-dependent behaviors rely on the synaptic mechanism of LTP to execute learned behaviors that involve long-term memory, and this process may be altered by chronic ethanol exposure. Maintenance of LTP requires the induction of *de novo* protein synthesis in dendrites and dendritic spines (Pastalkova et al 2006; Govindarajan et al 2011; Hill et al 2013). The process of new protein synthesis relies on coordinated activity to increase or decrease expression of specific proteins. The factors in

dendrites and dendritic spines that mediate this activity-dependent translation have not been identified, they are components of the mTORC1 pathway and its downstream substrate FMRP is a likely candidate protein (Ma and Bliss 2009; Hoeffer 2012; Nesta 2014). As an mRNA-binding translational repressor, FMRP interacts with several mRNAs whose proteins are altered following chronic ethanol exposure, as well as the proteins of interest including Kv4.2, KChIP3, and NMDA receptor subunits (Jones 2003; Darnell et al 2012; Schaeffer et al 2012). FMRP is also one of the key proteins mediating activity-dependent changes in protein homeostasis and is necessary for maintenance of basal protein levels (Antar et al 2005; Zalfa et al 2006; Henry 2011; Darnell and Richter 2012). However, the role FMRP may have in regulating specific mRNAs during chronic ethanol exposure is completely uncharacterized. Studies in this dissertation seek to determine whether FMRP expression or activity is altered following chronic exposure, and if these changes correspond to alterations in FMRP-mRNA binding.

Long-term changes in protein expression at glutamatergic synapses is also accompanied by changes in dendritic spines. Disorders with disrupted translational regulation, such as fragile X syndrome show aberrant spine distribution and morphology (Jones 2003; Antar et al 2005; Castets et al 2005; Dictenberg et al 2008; Han et al 2015). It is not clear how these two processes are connected and how ethanol may alter both to maintain neuronal homeostasis. Cyfip2 is not only an interacting protein of FMRP, but also is necessary for appropriate actin polymerization (Pilpel and Segal 2005; Kim et al 2006; Chen et

al 2014). As seen with translational deficits, dysfunction of Cyfip2 induces alterations in protein translation, and these alterations correspond to resistance in developing drinking behaviors (Nesta et al 2012; Barak et al 2013; Han et al 2015). Therefore, the question remains: how does chronic ethanol facilitate activity-dependent homeostatic changes in dendrites and dendritic spines? The overarching hypothesis of this dissertation is that FMRP is necessary for activity-dependent homeostatic changes in protein expression and spine morphology following chronic ethanol exposure (Figure 1-6)

# **Specific Aims**

Specific Aim 1: Test the hypothesis that exposure to chronic ethanol alters downstream substrates of FMRP at dendritic spines. As key regulators of excitability and plasticity, Kv4.2, KChIP3, and NMDA receptor subunits are likely targets for homeostatic changes in protein expression to reestablish balanced neuronal signaling. These proteins are also downstream targets of FMRP, one of the main mediators of activity-dependent translation in dendrites and dendritic spines in the hippocampus. Studies under this aim will establish the nature of activity-dependent homeostatic alterations in protein expression following chronic ethanol exposure, and examine how ethanol may alter FMRP expression and function to drive these changes. Specific Aim 2: Test the hypothesis that inhibition of FMRP phosphorylation prevents ethanol-induced translational changes in the hippocampus. Although ethanol may alter FMRP activity through changes in phosphorylation, total protein expression, or binding partners, it may not be an essential component of ethanol-induced homeostasis. As a potential major regulatory element in the translational mechanism of ethanol-induced changes, it is necessary to determine the nature of FMRP-mediated changes in the hippocampus during chronic ethanol exposure. The hypothesis tested under this aim is whether blockade of FMRP activity alter ethanol-induced, homeostatic changes in protein expression.

<u>Specific Aim 3:</u> Test the hypothesis that ethanol-induced alterations in **FMRP-mediated translation are accompanied by changes in spine morphology.** Previous studies have shown that alterations in FMRP-mediated protein expression are accompanied by changes in dendritic spine morphology. These alterations appear to be mediated by Cyfip2. A naturally occurring genetic polymorphism in two different C57BL/6 mouse lines provides the opportunity to examine the connection between actin polymerization and protein translation. Experiments conducted under this aim will discern whether these two processes are linked in chronic ethanol exposure of if they can occur independently of one another.





Regulation of synaptic plasticity involves alterations in FMRP phosphorylation and protein translation that produce adaptive changes in function. These changes in translation also correspond to alterations in spine morphology via changes in WAVE activity. It is hypothesized that chronic ethanol exposure induces alterations in FMRP expression or activity that cause selective decreases in proteins mediating synaptic inhibition while also enhancing excitation. This alterations induce changes in spine morphology via alterations in Cyfip2.

# **Chapter 2**

# Exposure to chronic ethanol alters downstream substrates of FMRP at dendritic spines

## **Background and Significance**

Alterations at glutamatergic synapses in dendrites and dendritic spines in the hippocampus during exposure to chronic ethanol function to reestablish neuronal homeostasis (Calabrese et al 2006; Ramocki and Zoghbi 2008; Caljigas et al 2010; Haft et al 2014). Evidence suggests that during chronic ethanol exposure, prolonged inhibition of NMDA receptors induces homeostatic mechanism to maintain proper neuronal function (Lovinger et al 1990; Kumari and Ticku 2000; Carpenter-Hyland et al 2004; Hendrickson et al 2004; Tokuda et al 2007; Nagy 2008; Gladding and Raymond 2011) This long-term exposure requires a less transient, more lasting change to balance excitation and inhibition (Kumari and Ticku 2000; Jung et al 2008; Nagy 2008; Pian et al 2010). However, the nature of these changes in the hippocampus, and how they are achieved are not well understood.

Disorders defined by hyperexcitable states such as epilepsy and fragile X syndrome provide evidence of a role not only for NMDA receptors, but also inhibitory proteins responsible for dampening local excitatory inputs (Ruschenschmidt et al 2006; Monaghan et al 2008; Henry 2011; Fernandez and Bagni 2008; Meng et al 2013; Russo et al 2013). In pyramidal neurons in the hippocampus, the A-type K<sup>+</sup>- channel Kv4.2 and its auxiliary protein KChIP3 are two of the main proteins that regulate glutamatergic inputs and balance excitation (Lin et al 2004; Kim et al 2007; Carrasquillo et al 2012; Kunjilwar et al 2013; Labno et al 2014). As some of the main regulators of excitability in dendrites and dendritic spines in the hippocampus, these proteins are important for balancing local glutamatergic inputs with the intracellular environment to prevent hyperexcitability and neurotoxicity (Ruiz-Gomez et al 2006; Kim et al 2007; Andrasfalvy et al 2008; Barnwell et al 2009; Carrasquillo 2013)

Maintaining long-term changes in homeostasis, in addition to alterations in function, it also likely involves adjusting local protein expression. This requires alterations in signaling cascades regulating protein synthesis and the translational machinery itself to make the necessary adjustments to glutamatergic function (Krug et al 1984; Klann and Richter 2007; Mercaldo et al

2009; Sossin and Lacaille 2010; Kim et al 2013; Thomas et al 2013). Previous studies indicate a potential role for substrates in the mTORC1 translational pathway and one of its downstream components, the mRNA-binding translational repressor protein, FMRP (Weiler et al 2004; Raab-Graham 2006; Costa-Mattioli et al 2009; Ma and Blenis 2009; Darnell and Klann 2013). Treatment with the mTORC1 inhibitor, rapamycin, blocks FMRP-mediated decreases in Kv4.2 expression in the hippocampus and prevents homeostatic increases in other proteins at glutamatergic synapses, namely PSD-95 and CaMKII, in rat models of chronic ethanol exposure (Gross et al 2011; Lee et al 2011; Barak et al 2013; Takei and Hiroyki 2014).

FMRP expression and function is an important modulator of activitydependent changes in homeostatic signaling as well as overall basal protein levels for a number of downstream targets, including those affected by ethanol (Ramocki and Zoghbi 2008; Cajigas et al 2010; Henry et al 2011; Darnell et al 2013). As such, FMRP likely contributes to the homeostatic mechanism inducing intracellular changes to compensate for the long-term effects of ethanol at glutamatergic synapses. However, how FMRP alters translation, and which proteins regulated by FMRP are altered by chronic ethanol exposure are not known.

Studies presented in this chapter focused on determining which targets of FMRP are altered by chronic ethanol exposure in the *in vivo* CIE mouse model and *in vitro* organotypic hippocampal slice cultures. These studies also examined the effect of chronic ethanol on FMRP activity and total protein levels in the

hippocampus and investigate whether these ethanol-induced changes in protein expression are consistent with alterations in FMRP-mRNA interactions during long-term ethanol exposure.

#### **Methods**

#### Organotypic hippocampal slice culture ethanol exposure

Hippocampal slice cultures were prepared from P6-P8 Sprague-Dawley rats as described in Mulholland et al 2014. In brief, pups were euthanized using either ice or isofluorane, sacrificed, and both hippocampi dissected out on cold dissecting media (500 ml Eagle's Basal, 25 mM HEPES, 100 µg/ml Streptomycin, 2 mM Glutamax). Next hippocampi were sliced into 400 µm coronal sections and placed with four slices per well onto an organotypic cell culture membrane in culture media (50 ml Dissecting media, 36 mM glucose, 25% v/v Earle's Balanced Salt Solution, and 25% v/v heat inactivated horse serum). Cultures were incubated with 7.5% CO<sub>2</sub> at 37 °C in culture media for at least eight days, and media was changed every 4 days. Following eight days of incubation, slices were treated with 75 mM ethanol in regular culture media or media alone in sealed vapor chambers. All experiments adhered to NIH Animal Care Guidelines and were approved through the IACUC.

#### Protein Assay

Organotypic hippocampal slice cultures or hippocampal lystates from CIEtreated mice were sonicated in 2% LDS. A BCA protein assay kit (Pierce) was

used to determine total protein content. Following sonication, standards with a blank (0, 0.25, 0.5, 0.75, 1.0, 1.5, and 2.0) and samples at 1:10 ratio with LDS were loaded in triplicate in a 96 well plate. Once complete, 9.8 ml of Reagent A and 200  $\mu$ l of Reagent B were mixed, and 200  $\mu$ l of the combined solution was added to each well. The plate was then incubated in the dark at 37 °C for 30 minutes. The concentration for each well was calculated using the Bio-Rad 550 MicroPlate Reader.

#### Western blot analysis

Protein samples were mixed using the NuPage Invitrogen western system and then heated at 70 °C for 10 min. Proteins were separated via electrophoresis on a 7.5% Bis-Tris gel, transferred onto a PVDF membrane using the Bio-Rad semi-dry transfer, and a reversible Swift total protein stain was used to evaluate loading and for normalization of the data. Following the total protein stain, membranes were blocked in 4% non-fat milk, and incubated in primary antibody at 4 °C overnight. Primary antibodies used for these experiments are phosphorylated S499 FMRP (1:1000), FMRP total protein (1:2000), KChIP3 (1:500), Kv4.2 (1:1000), GluN1 (1:3000), and GluN2B (1:3000). After primary antibody incubation, membranes were incubated in secondary antibody, KChIP3 goat anti-rabbit and Kv4.2, GluN1, and GluN2B goat anti-mouse, for 1 hour at room temperature. After secondary antibody incubation, membranes were exposed to enhanced chemillumiscience using ChemicDoc MP Imaging System.

#### Co-immunoprecipitation (co-IP) and RT-qPCR

Following treatment with ethanol, PF-4708671 (PF) or ethanol and PF-4708671 concurrently (PF + EtOH), cultures were processed for either western blot analysis or co-IP and RT-qPCR. Co-IP with mRNA solutions were adapted from the procedures described by Lee et al 2011 and the protocol of the Pierce Co-IP Kit. Using the resin and coupling spin columns from the Pierce Co-IP kit, 6 µg of FMRP antibody was used for every mg of beads, with 6-7 mg of beads per spin column used for resin pre-clearing and antibody immobilization. AminoLink coupling resin was added to the spin column followed by coupling buffer washes (10 mM NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 150 mM NaCl in nuclease free water). Antibody for coupling was added to the spin columns in coupling buffer and incubated at room temperature for 120 minutes while slowly rotating. Following antibody coupling incubation, quenching buffer (1 M Tris-HCI) was added to ensure proper coupling. Hippocampal lysates were also pre-cleared with coupling buffer for 1 hr prior to co-IP. Slice cultures were homogenized with a needle and syringe with RNase and protease inhibitors in homogenization buffer (1.28 M sucrose, 40 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 20 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, and 1% NP-40, with ~ 2 ug/ml of RNasin Plus inhibitors, and 1X cOmplete Mini EDTA-Free Protease Inhibitor). Hippocampal lysates were cleared with control agarose resin (80 µl for every 1 mg of lysate).

For lysate clearing, new columns were coated with coupling buffer, then lysate and control resin were incubated in the column for 1 hour at 4 °C with gentle mixing. Flow-through by centrifugation provided cleared lysate for co-IP experiments. After antibody and lysate preclearing, co-IP with mRNA was performed (all steps performed 4 °C). Antibody-cleared spin columns were rinsed with wash buffer (0.1M PBS, 200 mM NaCl, and 2µl/ml of RNase Plus and 1X protease inhibitor,), pre-cleared lysate added to spin column, and incubated overnight at 4 °C. Columns were then rinsed with wash buffer, and FMRPmRNAs were eluded from the column with Elution Buffer from Pierce kit, and mRNAs were then dissociated from FMRP with a TRIzol- chloroform extraction (Lee et al 2011). In brief, 200 µl of chloroform per 1 ml of TRIzol was added to each tube (1 ml TRIzol for every 75 mg of tissue), and incubated for 3 min at room temperature. After incubation, samples were centrifuged at 12,000 xg for 15 min at 4 °C. The upper aqueous phase containing the mRNA was then transferred to a separate tube.

mRNA was purified using the Qiagen RNeasy Mini Kit and nonspecific cDNA was transcribed using the Applied Biosystems High Capacity RNA- to – cDNA Kit (4387406). The reverse transcription reaction used a total volume of 20 µl at 37 °C for 60 minutes, 95 °C for 5 minutes, and a 4 °C hold (Bio-Rad C1000 thermocycler). For qPCR, a Sybr Green qPCR kit on a Bio-Rad CFX 96 thermocycler was used with an initial denaturation of 2 min at 94 °C followed by 40 cycles with a 15 sec denaturation at 94 °C and 1 min of annealing and

extension at 60 °C and a 4 °C hold. All primer sequences used are shown in **Table 1**. A schematic of the co-IP protocol is provided in **Figure 2-1**.

mRNA	Primer Sequence
GAPDH	5'- AAGGCTCATGACCA
	3'- CAGGGATGATGTTCT
HPRT	5' TTGGATACAGGCCAGACTTTGTT
	3' CTGAAGTACTCATTATAGTCAAGGGCATA
FAAH	5'- ATGAACCCGTGGAAGCCCTC
	3'- CGCCGATGTCAGTGCCTAAAC
GluN1	5'- CTCTAGCCAGGTCTACGCTATCC
	3'- GACGGGGATTCTGTAGAAGCCA
GluN2B	5'- CTGGAGTTCTGGTTCCTTACTG
	3'- ATTCTCCTATCTTGCCCGGA
KChIP3	5' CACCTATGCACACTTCCTCTTCA
	3' ACCACAAAGTCCTCAAAGTGGAT
Kv4.2	5'-GCCTTCGTTAGCAAATCTGG
	3' GTGACATAAGGACACTGGG
Table 1. Primer sequences for RT-qPCR.	



#### Chronic intermittent ethanol

Male C57BL/6J mice, approximately 9 weeks of age at the start of the experiment, were housed in a climate-controlled vivarium with a 12-hour light/dark cycle. Beginning approximately 3 hours into the dark cycle, mice were exposed to either ethanol or air vapor for 14 hours, followed by an 8-hour withdrawal period. This cycle of intermittent ethanol exposure was repeated for four days. Following the last 14-hour exposure period of a 4-day cycle, animals experienced a 72-hour withdrawal. All animals included in the study completed four of these weeklong cycles of CIE exposure and withdrawal.

#### Statistical Analysis

Western blots were quantified using ImageJ software (National Institutes of Health). Density of the appropriate band for each antibody was measured. Background for each lane was subtracted from the band density and variations in protein sample loading were normalized with a total protein stain, as previously mentioned. Student t-tests were used to test for significant differences between control and ethanol groups. Four-day timepoints are paired t-tests; samples from each group for each *n* were taken from the same animal.

RT-qPCR experimental cDNAs were normalized against GAPDH for each sample. Student t-tests were again used to evaluate significant differences between the fold change for control and ethanol groups.

## **Results**

#### Homeostatic changes in protein expression at glutamatergic synapses

Acute ethanol decreases NMDA receptor function and local excitatory inputs to dendritic spines in the hippocampus. In contrast, prolonged exposure to ethanol induces mechanism to counteract the chronic inhibition and maintain proper excitatory function (Lovinger et al 1990; Kumari and Ticku 2000; Nagy 2008; Korkotian et al 2013; Talani et al 2013). However, the nature of these changes has not been characterized.

To evaluate changes in protein expression at glutamatergic synapses, western blot analysis was used to define differences in NMDA receptor subunit expression in chronic intermittent ethanol (CIE)-exposed mice. Whole hippocampal homogenates were tested for GluN1 and GluN2B expression. As shown in **Figure 2-2**, in mice exposed to CIE, hippocampal tissue showed an increase in total GluN1 receptor expression as well as increases in GluN2B expression (*GluN1*: *t* test, *t*(20)= 2.146, \* p< 0.05, *n*= 11; *GluN2B*: *t* test, t(20)= 2.132, \* p< 0.05, *n*=11).



In addition to changes in NMDA glutamate receptors, balance in excitation also involves alterations in proteins that mediate hyperexcitability; this includes the A-type K<sup>-</sup>-channel Kv4.2 and its auxiliary protein KChIP3. Again, western blot was used to evaluate changes in Kv4.2 and KChIP3 protein expression in the same CIE mouse model. Immunoblot analysis of total protein expression showed a decrease in Kv4.2 expression (**Figure 2-3**). Blots for KChIP3 also revealed a decrease in protein expression, suggesting ethanol alters both excitatory and inhibitory proteins to maintain neuronal homeostasis (*Kv4.2*: *t* test, *t*(16)=2.121, \*p<0.05, *n* = 9; *KChIP3*: *t* test, *t*(18)=2.123, \*p<0.05, *n*= 10).



In order to further investigate the mechanisms driving these changes, protein expression in the organotypic hippocampal slice culture model was evaluated to confirm consistency with the CIE *in vivo* paradigm. As before, using western blot, NMDA receptor subunit expression was measured by western blot. At a dose of 75 mM ethanol, GluN1 protein levels were increased, thus replicating the observations obtained in CIE- exposed mice. This increase occurred after 8 days of exposure, but it was not seen with an acute exposure period of 24 hours with the same dose. Although there was a slight increase in GluN1 subunit expression after 4 days of exposure, this was not significant (**Figure 2-4**; *GluN1*: 24 hr: *t* test, *t*(4)=1.217, p= 0.2903, *n*= 5; 4-day: *t* test, *t*(3)=2.822, p= 0.0667, *n*= 6, 5; 8-day: *t* test, *t*(10)=2.997, \*p<0.05, *n*= 6). In addition to GluN1, GluN2B protein levels were also measured. A time-course

treatment with 75 mM ethanol also induced an increase in GluN2B. Similar to GluN1, this increase was not seen after 24 hours of ethanol exposure, but was significantly increased following both 4- and 8-day exposure paradigms (**Figure 2-4**; *GluN2B*: 24 hr: *t* test, *t*(4)=1.295, p= 0.1325, *n*= 5; 4-day: *t* test, *t*(4)=2.796, \*p<0.05, *n*= 5; 8-day: *t* test, *t*(12)=2.612, \*p<0.05, *n*= 7).

As with the *in vivo* model, western blot was also used to evaluate changes in total protein levels of Kv4.2 and KChIP3. These proteins also mimicked results from CIE animals and exhibited a decrease in protein expression after both 4 and 8 days of ethanol exposure. Time course experiments revealed that these changes were limited to the longer exposure periods of 4 and 8 days (**Figure 2-5**; *Kv4.2*: 24 hr: *t* test, t(4)=0.2454, p= 0.4091, *n*= 5; 4-day: *t* test, t(4)=2.960, \*p<0.05, *n*= 5; 8-day: *t* test, t(12)=2.174, \*p<0.05, *n*= 7; *KChIP3*: 24 hr: *t* test, t(4)=1.405, p= 0.1163, *n*= 5; 4-day: *t* test, t(5)=3.588, \*p<0.05, *n*= 5,6; 8-day: *t* test, t(10)=3.016, \*p<0.05, *n*= 6).



**Figure 2-4.** Time course of changes in NMDA receptor subunits following acute and chronic ethanol exposure in hippocampal slice cultures.

**A.** GluN1 expression was significantly increased after 8 days of ethanol exposure, but not 4 days or 24 hours (n= 6, 5 p< 0.05). **B.** Expression of GluN2B was significantly increased at both 4 and 8 days, but not after 24 hours (n= 6, 5 p< 0.05).





Both Kv4.2 (**A**) and KChIP3 (**B**) total protein expression was significantly decreased following both 4 and 8 days of ethanol exposure, but no change was seen after 24 hours (n= 5, 5, 6 \*p< 0.05).

#### Ethanol-induced changes in FMRP expression and function

Chronic ethanol drives homeostatic changes at glutamatergic synapses to maintain optimal excitatory signaling. However, the mechanism underlying these changes remains unknown. One potential candidate in this process is the mRNAbinding protein FMRP. FMRP has previously been shown to regulate translation of Kv4.2, KChIP3, and NMDA receptor subunits (Jones 2003; Henry et al 2011; Darnell et al 2011). Increases in phosphorylation of FMRP at S499 are associated with an increase in FMRP-mRNA interaction, and therefore, a decrease in protein expression (Laggerbauer et al 2001; Ceman et al 2003; Zalfa et al 2006; Darnell and Klann 2013; Bartley et al 2014).

To evaluate total and phosphorylated FMRP protein expression, western blot analysis was used in CIE-exposed mouse hippocampal tissue. A phosphospecific antibody for S499 revealed an increase in expression of phospho-FMRP protein in the ethanol-exposed mouse hippocampus compared to controls. However, there was no change in total FMRP protein levels (**Figure 2-6**; *phospho-FMRP: t* test, t(40)=2.382, \*p<0.05, n=21; *FMRP: t* test, t(35)=0.0997, p=0.9211, n=18,19). In the *in vitro* model culture system, western blot was also used to determine changes in phosphorylated and total FMRP protein following different ethanol exposure time points. Similar to changes observed following *in vivo* exposure, there was an increase in phosphorylated FMRP in cultures treated with ethanol, but again no change in total FMRP protein expression. However, unlike observations with NMDA receptor subunits proteins, this

increase was seen acutely after only 24 hours of exposure and persisted throughout the longer exposure periods of 4 and 8 days (Figure 2-7; *phospho-FMRP*: 24 hr: *t* test, *t*(6)=2.474, \*p<0.05, *n*= 6; 4-day: *t* test, *t*(3)=2.848, \*p<0.05, *n*= 5, 6; 8-day: *t* test, *t*(5)=3.149, \*p<0.05, *n*= 6; 8-day+24 hr withdrawal: *t* test, *t*(6)=2.635, \*p<0.05, *n*= 6). Additionally, 8 days of ethanol exposure followed by 24 hours of acute withdrawal produced the opposite effect, with a significant decrease in phosphorylated FMRP protein while total protein levels remain unchanged (Figure 2-7 *FMRP*: 24 hr: *t* test, *t*(4)=0.2356, p= 0.4191, *n*= 5; 4-day: *t* test, *t*(4)=0.2356, p= 0.4191, *n*= 5; 8-day: *t* test, *t*(5)=0.7408, p=0.4921, *n*= 6; 8 -day+24 hr withdrawal: *t* test, *t*(6)=0.8217, p=0.4427, *n*= 6). This increase was represented by an increase in phosphorylated FMRP, and not a general increase in total protein expression (Figure 2-8; *t* test, *t*(5)=2.672, \*p<0.05, *n*= 3).







**A.** Phosphorylated FMRP was increased at three timepoints after ethanol exposure: 24 hours, 4 days, and 8 days. However following 8 days of exposure and a 24 hour withdrawal period, phosphorylated FMRP protein was significantly decreased (n= 5,6 \* p< 0.05). **B.** Unlike phosphorylated FMRP protein expression, total protein levels remained unchanged during all three exposure time points and following acute withdrawal (n= 5,6 \* p< 0.05).

#### FMRP-mRNA interactions



Although ethanol may increase **FMRP** phosphorylation at S499, the mRNAs interacting with FMRP under control and ethanoltreated conditions influence whether FMRP mediates the changes in expression of these proteins. For these experiments, organotypic hippocampal slice cultures was used to investigate changes in FMRPmRNA

binding under control and ethanol-exposed conditions. Using co-IP and RTqPCR, FMRP with bound mRNAs were pulled down, purified, and amplified with cDNA-specific primers (**Figure 2-1**). Previous studies in rat models of chronic ethanol have confirmed increases in PSD-95 protein expression (Barak et al 2013). As one of the first, and most widely researched FMRP targets, PSD-95 mRNAs were used as confirmation that mRNA binding to FMRP was preserved using this paradigm, and western blot analysis was used to as a positive control to confirm successful pull down of FMRP (**Figure 2-9**; *PSD-95*: *t* test, *t*(5)=2.672, \*p<0.05, *n*= 3). It is important to note that decreased FMRP-mRNA associations are indicative of an increase in translation, and therefore, an increase in protein expression. In the hippocampal slice cultures, PSD-95 mRNA binding to FMRP is significantly decreased following 8-day ethanol exposure. This suggests that FMRP may also mediate expression of other proteins implicated in ethanolinduced homeostatic changes.



Examination of mRNAs coding for NMDA receptor subunits in the hippocampus indicated no change in GluN1 in ethanol-exposed slices compared to controls. analysis However, of GluN2B show a decrease in FMRP-GluN2B mRNA

binding (Figure 2-10; *GluN1*: *t* test, t(7)=0.9546, p=0.3716, n=8; *GluN2B*: *t* test, t(8)=2.402, \*p<0.05, n=9; *Kv4.2*: *t* test, t(8)=2.340, \*p<0.05, n=9; *KChIP3*: *t* test, t(7)=2.561, \*p<0.05, n=6). In addition to these mRNAs, others coding for proteins that influence inhibitory signaling were also measured, including Kv4.2 and KChIP3. Co-IP and subsequent RT-qPCR showed an increase in FMRP binding to both Kv4.2 and KChIP3 mRNAs. This increase in association indicates an increase in FMRP- mRNA interaction, and therefore an increase in inhibition.

This also suggests a decrease in Kv4.2 and KChIP3 mRNA translation and protein expression.



#### **Discussion**

The main findings of this chapter are that chronic ethanol exposure induces homeostatic, bidirectional changes in protein expression in dendrites and dendritic spines that may function to reestablish the balance between excitation and inhibition. Furthermore, these changes in protein translation correspond to alterations in FMRP activity and mRNA interactions. These results suggest that restoring homeostasis during exposure to chronic ethanol is a multifaceted, coordinated effort that requires adjustments in both excitation and inhibition. However, components of these systems may share a common translational pathway with FMRP, and increased FMRP activity may be an essential component of ethanol-induced changes in protein expression.

Previous results have shown that long-term ethanol exposure promotes excitation at glutamatergic synapses and dampens inhibition (Lovinger 1990; Hendricson et al 2007; Korkotian et al 2013; Zorumski et al 2014). This increase in glutamatergic signaling is not limited to increases in NMDA receptors, and likely involves a reduction in local inhibitory proteins in dendrites and dendritic spines. Results presented in this chapter confirm a chronic ethanol-induced increase in GluN1 and GluN2B subunit expression in the hippocampus following both *in vitro* and *in vivo* chronic ethanol exposure. Previous studies from our lab indicate that this increase in NMDA receptors, and GluN2A expression remains unchanged (Carpenter-Hyland et al 2004). Functionally, this shift may have important
implications in altered plasticity and excitability in response to chronic ethanol exposure. Previous studies in Huntington's disease, fragile X syndrome, and epilepsy have shown that specifically GluN2B-containing NMDA receptors are important for the development of this hyperexcitable phenotype, and suppression of GluN2B dampens NMDA-mediated cell death in hippocampal primary cultures (Monaghan et al 2008; Lei et al 2010; Russo et al 2013). Taken together with these previous functional studies, in GluN2B-containing NMDA receptors may have a key contribution to the increased excitability induced by chronic ethanol exposure.

These results also suggest an important role for Kv4.2 and the auxiliary mediating ethanol-induced hyperexcitability protein KChIP3 in in the hippocampus. Results presented here confirm other studies from our lab found that shows a decrease in Kv4.2 channel expression following chronic ethanol exposure. Additionally, previously published work demonstrated a decrease in Atype current following chronic ethanol that is not attributed to other A-type K<sup>+</sup>channels, such as Kv1.4 (Mulholland et al 2014). As one of the main influences dampening excitatory inputs, Kv4.2 has a well-defined role in epileptogenesis and hyperexcitability in the hippocampus (Hong et al 2003; Monaghan et al 2008; Aronica et al 2009; Barnwell et al 2009). It is also of note, that Kv4.2 may have an important role in NMDA-mediated hyperexcitability. Interestingly, increases in GluN2B-containing NMDA receptors is associated with decreases Kv4.2mediated A-type current as well as Kv4.2 expression (Kim et al 2007; Lei et al 2008; Lei et al 2010). As such, Kv4.2 likely has an integral role in maintaining

homeostatic increases in excitability and reduction in Kv4.2 expression that may reflect a coupled homeostatic response with the increase in GluN2B expression.

In addition to a reduction in expression of Kv4.2, our results also show a decrease in KChIP3 protein expression. Importantly, KChIP3 is integral in fine-tuning Kv4.2 channel kinetics and is necessary for Kv4.2 channel surface expression (Shibata et al 2003; Lin et al 2004; Menegola et al 2006 Ruiz-Gomez et al 2006). Previous studies in our lab have shown that this ethanol-induced decrease in expression of Kv4.2 channels is limited to surface-expressed protein (Mulholland et al 2014). Taken together, this suggests that the decrease in KChIP3 contributes to the decreased surface expression of Kv4.2. In addition to Kv4.2, KChIP3 may also contribute to the increased excitation resulting from chronic exposure. KChIP3 interacts either directly with the GluN1 or GluN2B subunit to decrease NMDA surface expression, or indirectly by binding to PSD-95 and decreasing NMDA-mediated current (Zhang et al 2010; Wang et al 2012). Therefore, this ethanol-induced decrease in KChIP3 may have an important role in both excitation and inhibition during chronic ethanol exposure.

These data also provide insight into how ethanol may alter neuronal homeostasis by mediating local translation in dendrites and dendritic spines. Ethanol exposure resulted in an increase in FMRP phosphorylation at S499 in both acute and long-term exposure paradigms with high dose ethanol. However, ethanol-induced changes in other proteins of interest were not seen after a short-term 24-hour exposure period, only after a longer 8-day exposure. This increase in FMRP phosphorylation after acute ethanol exposure may reflect changes in

other FMRP-mediated translational mechanism for short-term adaptations. Studies in seizure disorders, such as epilepsy, have shown that although there is an increase in FMRP after 30 minutes. However, more sustained changes in protein expression of its binding partners may occur between 2 and 48 hours after the initial induction of seizure activity (Price and Ring 2011; Meng et al 2013; Russo et al 2013). Conversely, phosphorylation at S499 was significantly decreased following a 24-hour withdrawal period after an 8-day ethanol treatment. Acute withdrawal periods following long-term exposure are characterized by increased NMDA-mediated hyperexcitability that can lead to withdrawal-induced seizures (Hall and Zador 1997; Duka et al 2004; Hendricson et al 2007). This decrease in phosphorylation may be indicative of the need for an immediate shift in translational mechanisms or protein expression to correct the imbalance caused by an acute withdrawal of ethanol. Taken together, these results suggest that FMRP may mediate both short-term and long-term, homeostatic changes in the hippocampus during ethanol exposure.

Increases in FMRP phosphorylation as a result of ethanol exposure are indicative of changes in activity. However, FMRP may regulate different aspects of translation, and it has a multitude of interacting partners in dendrites and dendritic spines (Laggerbauer et al 2001; Ascano et al 2012; Darnell and Richter 2012). Therefore, it is informative to discern whether there is a difference in the mRNAs corresponding to the proteins of interest bound to FMRP during control and ethanol-treated conditions. Results in these studies revealed changes in FMRP- mRNA binding as a result of 8-day ethanol exposure. These experiments

show an increase in Kv4.2 and KChIP3 mRNAs bound to FMRP and a decrease in GluN2B, but not GluN1 following long-term ethanol treatment. These data suggest that FMRP directly modulates Kv4.2, KChIP3, and GluN2B translation during ethanol exposure. As previously mentioned, the composition of NMDA receptor subunits may affect not only NMDA-mediated hyperexcitability, but also Kv4.2 expression and function (Lei et al 2008; Kaufmann et al 2012). In these experiments, ethanol affects GluN2B, but not GluN1 FMRP-mRNA binding. During chronic ethanol exposure, FMRP may have a more pronounced effect on NMDA channel function by modulating subunit expression and therefore composition, rather than affecting overall NMDA receptor expression.

Experiments in this chapter have confirmed that multiple factors contribute to the maintenance of homeostasis at glutamatergic synapses. Increases in NMDA receptor expression promote excitability and glutamatergic signaling, while decreases in Kv4.2 and KChIP3 dampen excitation. Additionally both of these mechanisms may be mediated by FMRP activity. Further experiments presented in the next chapter will define whether FMRP activity is necessary for ethanol-induced alterations in protein expression.

# **Chapter 3**

# Inhibition of FMRP phosphorylation prevents ethanol-induced translational changes in the hippocampus

## **Background and Significance**

FMRP protein expression and activity are important in maintaining basal protein levels and regulating activity-dependent translation in dendrites and dendritic spines (Bardoni et al 1997; Antar et al 2005; Dictenberg et al 2008; Henry et al 2011). The absence of FMRP causes an increase in basal protein levels as well as dysregulated synaptic plasticity in both clinical studies and *fmr1*-

/- mouse models (Hagerman and Strafstorm 2009; Gross et al 2011; Krueger and Bear 2011; Lee et al 2011; Maurin et al 2014; Chen and Joseph 2015). The role of FMRP in regulating cellular function throughout development and in certain pathological states is relatively well characterized. However, how FMRP maintains basal protein levels and activity-dependent translation in a typically functioning adult brain is unknown. Studies in Chapter 2 of this dissertation demonstrated ethanol-induced changes in FMRP phosphorylation and alterations in FMRP-mRNA interactions, supporting the suggestion that chronic ethanol exposure induces an increase in FMRP activity. These results also implicated certain mRNA targets of FMRP in ethanol-induced synaptic plasticity that are key mediators of local excitation in dendritic spines, including Kv4.2, KChIP3, and NMDA receptor subunits. These changes in protein expression represent longer, homeostatic adaptations that are not induced by short-term exposure, even at high doses, and this longer exposure period causes significant changes in FMRP-mRNA interactions for these proteins of interest. Although FMRP activity is altered by chronic ethanol treatment, it is important to determine if these changes in FMRP phosphorylation and mRNA binding are necessary for the homeostatic alterations in protein expression, and to investigate how ethanol might induce these changes in FMRP function. Translation in dendrites and dendritic spines is a highly coordinated process that involves several components that are discretely regulated in order to maintain proper function at the synapse (Kapp and Lorsch 2004; Weiler et al 2004; Sossin and Lacaille 2010; Hinnebusch and Lorsch 2012).

One of the main intracellular pathways regulating local dendritic translation is the mTORC1 signaling cascade. Studies from other groups have demonstrated an important role for other mTORC1 substrates, namely p70 ribosomal S6 kinase 1 (S6K1), in mediating changes in protein expression following chronic ethanol exposure *in vivo* (Holz et al 2005; Nesta 2010; Barack et al 2013). Results from these studies revealed disruption of mTORC1 activity during ethanol treatment prevents ethanol-seeking behaviors and memory deficits (Nesta et al 2010; Barak et al 2013; Nesta et al 2014). Rats exposed to chronic intermittent ethanol have significantly fewer active lever presses in a standard reinstatement paradigm when treated with the mTORC1 inhibitor rapamycin (Nesta et al 2010; Barak et al 2013) Additionally, rapamycin also blocked ethanol-induced changes in expression of other proteins in dendritic spines that are regulated by FMRP (Nesta et al 2010; Barak et al 2013).

Although these results suggest FMRP and its upstream mediators may play an integral role in mediating translational changes during chronic ethanol exposure, it is unclear if this change in activity is necessary for ethanol-induced translation. Since mTORC1 and its substrates comprise one of the main pathways regulating protein synthesis in response to changes in synaptic activity, components of this pathway, including S6K1 and FMRP, are likely mediators of ethanol-induced synaptic plasticity. During CIE, increased S6K1 activity via mTORC1 activation may regulate increased FMRP phosphorylation at S499. This increase in phosphorylation induces binding to select mRNAs to decrease translation of these specific proteins while other FMRP-mRNA interactions are

reduced, resulting in increased protein expression (**Figure 3-1**). Studies presented in this chapter investigated whether increased FMRP phosphorylation is necessary for ethanol-induced changes in protein expression, and whether these changes in phosphorylation are mediated through S6K1 activity.



S6K1 phosphorylates FMRP in an activity-dependent manner to maintain the necessary levels of protein translation. According to Barak et al 2013, ethanol exposure causes increased mTORC1 and S6K1 activity. S6K1-mediated phosphorylation of FMRP at S499 decreases expression of certain proteins while disinhibiting mRNAs.

## **Methods**

### Organotypic hippocampal slice culture ethanol exposure

Hippocampal slice cultures were prepared from P6-P8 Sprague- Dawley rats, as described in Chapter 2. After plating hippocampal slice cultures were incubated in culture media for at least eight days before treatment. All experiments adhered to NIH Animal Care Guidelines and were approved through the IACUC. Slice cultures were exposed to 75 mM ethanol, 6 uM PF-4708671 (PF), or both for 8 days.

For S6K1 inhibition, a dose-response curve determined that 6 µM PF was the concentration that inhibited FMRP phosphorylation, but did not alter other downstream substrates. Therefore, this concentration was used in subsequent experiments. The inhibitor, PF-4708671 was added to culture media daily concurrent with ethanol exposure. After exposure, slices were scraped from the culture membrane, sonicated in 2% LDS, and prepared for either western blot analysis, or co- immunoprecipitation and RT-qPCR. *See Chapter 2 for extended methods*.

### Protein Assay

Organotypic hippocampal slice cultures were sonicated in 2% LDS. A BCA Pierce Protein Assay Kit was used to determine total protein content as described in Chapter 2.

### Western blot analysis

Both mouse hippocampal tissue and organotyipc hippocampal slice cultures were sonicated in 2% LDS. Protein samples were separated using electrophoresis, transferred to a PVDF membrane, and a reversible Swift total protein stain was used for normalization. Primary antibodies used were phosphorylated S499 FMRP (1:1000), KChIP3 (1:500), Kv4.2 (1:1000), GluN1

(1:3000), and GluN2B (1:3000). After primary antibody incubation, membranes were incubated in secondary antibody: phosphorylated FMRP and KChIP3 in goat anti-rabbit and FMRP, Kv4.2, GluN1, and GluN2B in goat anti-mouse for 1 hour at room temperature. After secondary antibody incubation, membranes were exposed to an enhanced chemillumiscence and imaged with a ChemicDoc MP Imaging System (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA). *See Chapter 2 for extended methods.* 

### Co- immunoprecipitation (co-IP) and RT-qPCR

Following treatment with ethanol, PF, or both, cultures were processed for either western blot analysis or co-IP and RT-qPCR. Co-IP with mRNA solutions were adapted from Lee et al 2011 and Pierce co-IP Kit. For co-IP, 6 µg of FMRP total protein antibody was used for every mg of beads, with 6-7 mg of beads per spin column. AminoLink coupling resin was added to spin column followed by coupling buffer washes. Antibody for coupling was added to the spin columns in coupling buffer and incubated at room temperature for 120 minutes with slow rotation. Hippocampal lysates were also pre-cleared prior to co-IP. After antibody and lysate preclearing, co-IP with mRNA was performed (all steps kept at 4 °C). Columns were then rinsed with wash buffer, and FMRP-mRNAs were eluded from column with Elution Buffer from the Pierce kit, and mRNAs were dissociated from FMRP with a TRIzol- chloroform extraction (Lee et al 2011). Next, mRNA was purified using the Qiagen RNeasy Mini Kit and nonspecific cDNA was transcribed using the Applied Biosystems High Capacity RNA- to –cDNA Kit. For

qPCR, the Sybr Green qPCR kit was used on a Bio-Rad CFX 96 thermocycler with an initial denaturation of 2 min at 94 °C followed by 40 cycles with a 15 sec denaturation at 94 °C and 1 min of annealing and extension at 60 °C and a 4 °C hold. All experimental data were normalized to GAPDH. The primer sequences used are presented in Table 1; Chapter 2. *Refer to Chapter 2 for detailed methods.* 

### Statistical Analysis

Experiments with control and either PF or Veh groups were analyzed with a student t-test with significance p < 0.05. For experiments with S6K1 inhibitor (PF-4708671) and concurrent ethanol treatment, a one-way ANOVA was used to determine significance.

### **Results**

### Inhibition of specific S6K1 substrates

In the previous chapter, experiments addressed whether ethanol alters FMRP protein expression and activity. Results presented here address how ethanol may alter FMRP phosphorylation, and whether this increase in phosphorylation is necessary for the homeostatic changes in protein expression following chronic ethanol exposure. Specifically, these experiments investigate whether S6K1 phosphorylates FMRP at S499, and if blockade of FMRP

phosphorylation through S6K1 inhibition will prevent ethanol-induced changes in FMRP-mRNA binding and protein expression. Importantly, treatment with the 6  $\mu$ M dose of the S6K1 inhibitor, PF-4786071, did not significantly alter other necessary downstream components of the S6K1 translational pathway. These include S6, which is required for assembly of the pre-initiation complex, and eIF4E, the mRNA cap-binding protein that is necessary to begin active translation (**Figure 3-2**; *phospho-S6*: *t* test, *t*(4)=0.3946, p= 0.7133 *n*= 3; *eIF4E*: *t* test, *t*(4)=1.081, p= 0.3403 *n*= 3; *GluN1*: *t* test, *t*(4)=0.8478, p= 0.4443 *n*= 3; *GluN2B*: *t* test, *t*(4)=0.2354, p= 0.8255 *n*= 3; *Kv4.2*: *t* test, *t*(4)=0.04028, p= 0.9698 *n*= 3; *KChIP3*: *t* test, *t*(4)=0.3239, p= 0.7623 *n*= 3).



Organotypic hippocampal slice cultures and western blot were used to first characterize the S6K1-specific inhibitor (PF) in both ethanol-treated and untreated neuronal cultures. In an 8-day ethanol exposure paradigm, treatment with PF or concurrent PF + ethanol treatment significantly decreased FMRP phosphorylation levels compared to ethanol only. However, neither group varied significantly compared to controls (**Figure 3-3**; *phospho-FMRP*: one-way ANOVA, F(3,12)= 6.174 p = 0.0062, Tukey post hoc, \*p<0.05, n = 5).



Using the same 8-day ethanol exposure paradigm, the effects of exposure to the S6K1 inhibitor were evaluated for ethanol-induced alterations in NMDA receptor subunits. Ethanol treatment alone produced the expected effect of an increase in GluN1 subunit expression (**Figure 3-4**; *GluN1*: one-way ANOVA,  $F(3,12)= 3.324 \ p = 0.0567$ , Tukey post hoc, \*p<0.05, n = 5). However, PF alone and PF with 75 mM ethanol did not significantly decrease GluN1 protein levels compared to ethanol alone.

GluN2B total protein expression was also evaluated using western blot. Similar to GluN1, there was a significant increase in protein expression with ethanol treatment only. Addition of PF to the culture media alone did not significantly change expression levels from either control or ethanol-treated tissue. When PF and ethanol were added to hippocampal slices in combination, GluN2B protein expression decreased significantly compared to ethanol- treated tissue, but did not show a significant change compared to controls (**Figure 3-4** *GluN2B*: one-way ANOVA, F(3,12)= 5.665 p= 0.0.0272, Tukey post hoc, \*p<0.05, n= 5).



In addition to NMDA receptor subunits, Kv4.2 and KChIP3 protein levels were also investigated with inhibition of FMRP phosphorylation. Consistent with results from Chapter 2, ethanol alone caused a significant decrease in expression of both Kv4.2 and KChIP3 (Figure 3-5; *Kv4.2*: one-way ANOVA, F(3,12)= 5.509 p= 0.0148, Tukey post hoc, \*p<0.05, n= 5; *KChIP3*: one-way ANOVA, F(3,12)= 6.174 p= 0.0.146, Tukey post hoc, \*p<0.05, n= 5). However, this decrease in Kv4.2 and KChIP3 expression was prevented by exposure to PF. Additionally, KChIP3 protein levels with S6K1 inhibition alone were significantly decreased compared to ethanol alone, but were not different compared to control slices. Kv4.2 expression with S6K1 inhibition, however, was unchanged compared to both controls cultures and ethanol-treated slices.



Alterations in FMRP-mRNA ethanol-induced interactions following S6K1 inhibition

Changes in protein expression with inhibition of FMRP phosphorylation via decreases in S6K1-mediated activity is consistent with a potential role for FMRP in translational changes during chronic ethanol-induced plasticity. To further examine direct FMRP-mRNA interactions, we again used co-immunoprecipitation of FMRP-mRNA complexes followed by RT-qPCR analysis of GluN1, GluN2B, Kv4.2, and KChIP3. As shown in **Figure 3-6**, these results corresponded to the changes in protein expression. GluN1 mRNA bound to FMRP was not significant following ethanol treatment alone, confirming observations in Chapter 2. In the

western blot experiments with PF treatment, none of the other treatment groups, PF or PF + ethanol, were significantly different compared to controls or ethanol alone. However, as seen in previous experiments, GluN2B mRNA bound to FMRP in ethanol-treated cultures was significantly reduced compared to controls alone. Treatment with the S6K1 inhibitor blocked ethanol-induced decreases in GluN2B mRNAs. PF alone did not significantly alter mRNA levels compared to either control or ethanol alone (**Figure 3-6**; *GluN1*: one-way ANOVA, *F*(3,12)= 0.3996 *p*= 0.7558, *n*= 5; *GluN2B*: one-way ANOVA, *F*(3,15)= 4.232 *p*= 0.0235, Tukey post hoc, \*p<0.05, *n*= 6).



In addition to NMDA receptor subunits, other mRNAs bound to FMRP that are affected by chronic ethanol exposure were tested. Kv4.2 mRNA coprecipitated with FMRP was increased following an 8-day ethanol treatment, replicating previous observations (**Figure 3-7**; *Kv4.2*: one-way ANOVA, F(3,12)= 3.630 p= 0.0351, Tukey post hoc, \*p<0.05, n= 5). Treatment with the S6K1 inhibitor alone did not significantly change protein levels compared to either control or ethanol-treatment tissue. Addition of PF blocked ethanol-induced increases in Kv4.2 mRNA and FMRP binding.

Expression of the Kv4.2 auxiliary protein KChIP3 was also evaluated. As with Kv4.2, the addition of ethanol to the culture media caused an increase in KChIP3 mRNAs interacting with FMRP, again consistent with results presented Chapter 2. Importantly, treatment with PF in combination with ethanol prevented the ethanol-induced increase in interactions (**Figure 3-7**; *KChIP3*: one-way ANOVA, F(3,12)= 4.465 *p*= 0.0252, Tukey post hoc, \*p<0.05, *n*= 5). While PF alone did not cause any change in protein expression compared to control tissue, there was a significant decrease mRNAs compared to controls.





**A**. Treatment with PF-4708671 prevented ethanol-induced increases in Kv4.2 mRNA binding to FMRP (n= 5, \* p< 0.05). **B**. Like Kv4.2, KChIP3 mRNAs bound to FMRP were also decreased following concurrent treatment of ethanol and PF. (n= 5, \* p< 0.05).

Ctrl: Untreated slices; EtOH: Ethanol treatment only; PF: S6K1 inhibitor only; PF+ EtOH: S6K1 inhibitor and ethanol treatment.

## **Discussion**

Data presented in this chapter demonstrated that ethanol-induced increases in FMRP phosphorylation at S499 underlie ethanol-induced homeostatic changes in protein expression in the hippocampus. These studies also suggest a mechanism by which ethanol causes these increases in FMRP phosphorylation through activation of S6K1.

Results from Chapter 2 suggest that FMRP is an integral component of activity-dependent translation by increases in phosphorylation of S499 of FMRP, changes in protein expression of downstream stream targets, and through differences in FMRP-mRNA interactions in control and ethanol-treated hippocampal slices. Studies in this chapter addressed whether this increase in FMRP phosphorylation is necessary for ethanol-induced homeostatic changes NMDA receptors, Kv4.2, and KChIP3 protein expression, and whether blockade of FMRP phosphorylation will prevent these changes. Studies characterizing other disorders defined by hyperexcitability have shown that aberrant FMRP function dysregulates both basal state and activity-dependent translation, and that knockdown of FMRP in dissociated cultures corrects this phenotype (Jeon et al 2012; Russo et al 2013; Takei and Hiroyki 2014). Consistent with this, results presented here show that inhibition of FMRP phosphorylation can prevent ethanol-induced changes in both mRNA trafficking and protein expression of the GluN2B subunit and inhibitory proteins Kv4.2 and KChIP3. This suggests that FMRP phosphorylation is not only an integral component of synaptic plasticity in dendrites and dendritic spines, but that it is necessary for local activity-dependent alterations in protein expression.

As with previous results, FMRP phosphorylation did not affect GluN1 protein expression or mRNA binding. These studies indicate that FMRP phosphorylation at S499 is not required for ethanol-induced increases in GluN1 protein expression, and this is mediated by other activity-dependent mechanisms. Studies examining fragile X syndrome and epilepsy suggest that K<sup>+</sup>- channel deficits may contribute more to the hyperexcitable phenotype than NMDA receptor deficits (Henry 2008; Mercaldo et al 2009; Gross et al 2011; Lee et al 2011). As such, in chronic ethanol exposure, FMRP may have a greater impact on proteins that are mediators of glutamateric signaling in dendritic spines, rather

than NMDA receptor expression directly. Other pathways implicated in alcohol use disorders, such as ERK and MAPK, are also key regulators of GluN1, and may have a greater influence on GluN1 translation (Perkinton et al 2002; Ivanov et al 2006). Our results also revealed that FMRP appears to play a significant role in modulating GluN2B subunit expression, suggesting that FMRP have a more influential role in NMDA receptor function through regulation of NMDA subunit expression rather than total protein expression of the receptor itself. Further studies investigating both signaling pathways are necessary to discern how NMDA receptors are regulated and trafficked during chronic ethanol exposure.

An important finding in these studies is that ethanol-induced changes in FMRP phosphorylation and activity are mediated by S6K1, and are likely part of the mTORC1 pathway. Work from other labs have shown that S6K1 phosphorylation is increased following chronic ethanol exposure, and that this change in phosphorylation is essential to produce the long-term cellular and behavioral phenotype induced by heavy ethanol exposure (Nesta et al 2010; Barak et al 2013; Sabino et al 2013) Phosphorylation at S499 is not completely dependent on S6K1 in all activity-dependent mechanisms, and phosphorylation at this site may also be regulated by other mTORC1 substrates. Previous studies examining local dendritic protein translation have manipulated mTORC1 and showed changes in FMRP, rather than altering S6K1 directly. Results presented here implicate S6K1 specifically as the upstream regulator for activity-dependent increases in ethanol-induced FMRP phosphorylation at S499. This provides

insight into how ethanol may induce these activity-dependent changes in FMRP and its binding partners.

Experiments in these studies used a pharmacological intervention directed at the upstream kinase S6K1 to alter FMRP phosphorylation, rather than direct manipulation of the FMRP protein. The S6K1 inhibitor PF-4706871 affected some, but not all substrates in the translational pathway. It is important to note, that certain key proteins necessary for translation, namely S6 and eIF4E, were not altered by the dose used in these experiments. Additionally, other mechanism may compensate for low S6K1 activity, such as S6K2 and other kinases in the RSK family including p90 ribosomal proteins RSK1 & 2 (Urbanaska et al 2012). This inhibitor also did not interfere with the ability of mTORC1 to phosphorylate S6K1, or any of the other downstream components, rather its action appears to be limited to S6K1 (Pearce et al 2010). Limiting inhibition to S6K1 was of particular importance for these sets of studies to ensure proper assembly of the polyribosome and to preserve the ability of neurons to induce activity-dependent translation.

Although *fmr1-/-* mice are available, the developmental phenotype that includes important cellular changes in activity, differences in circuitry and synaptic development, and the behavioral deficits in knockout animals as adults makes them a difficult model system in the context of these experiments (Zhao et al 2005; De Rubeis and Bagni 2011; Sidorov et al 2013). The goal of these studies was to determine whether FMRP has a role in the homeostatic changes at glutamatergic synapses using typical activity-dependent mechanisms. With the

established cellular and behavioral phenotype, *fmr1-/-* mice do not have typical activity-dependent translational mechanisms that include differences in basal Kv4.2 protein levels, and hippocampal-dependent memory tasks, and are not as useful for these studies (Gross et al 2011; Lee et al 2011; Darnell and Richter 2012).

FMRP and S6K1 have previously been shown to be important in regulating hyperexcitability in the hippocampus (Hara et al 1998; Lenz and Avruch 2005; Fenton and Gout 2011; Lee et al 2011). Studies in this chapter reveal that not only is FMRP activity altered through S6K1-mediated phosphorylation in response to chronic ethanol exposure, but also that this increase in phosphorylation is necessary for ethanol-induced changes in translation. Blockade of FMRP phosphorylation also prevented alterations in mRNA trafficking and protein expression. In addition to differences protein translation, alterations in S6K1 and FMRP-mediated signaling pathways have been shown to alter spine morphology and actin polymerization (Calabrese et al 2006; Bongmba et al 2011; Bowling and Klann 2014). Experiments in the next chapter will address whether differences in spine morphology are linked to changes in protein expression and drinking behaviors.

# Chapter 4

# Ethanol-induced alterations in FMRP-mediated translation are accompanied by changes in spine morphology

# **Background and Significance**

Data presented in the previous chapters focused on the role of ethanolinduced alterations in FMRP-mediated translation in the hippocampus of proteins associated with homeostatic changes at glutamatergic synapses. However, changes in protein expression are often accompanied by alterations in spine morphology and actin polymerization (Fukazawa et al 2003; Kasai et al 2003; Lebeau et 2011; Chen et al 2014). Following chronic ethanol exposure, previous studies have observed an increase in actin clusters and enlargement of dendritic spines (Carpenter-Hyland and Chandler 2006; Zhou et al 2007; Brigman et al 2010). In a number of developmental disorders, dysregulation of translational mechanisms results in alterations in dendritic spine shape and distribution (Krueger and Bear 2011; Hoeffer et al 2012; De Rubeis et al 2013; Pathania et al 2014; Han et al 2015; Neuhofer et al 2015). In fragile X syndrome and *fmr1-/-* animals, loss of FMRP resulted in an increase in spine density that is largely due to an increase in stubby spines (Krueger and Bear 2015).

Several mechanisms may regulate spine development and actin dynamics in the hippocampus. Of interest to these studies is the WAVE complex protein termed cytoplasmic FMRP interacting protein 2 (Cyfip2). As a binding partner of FMRP as well as a member of an actin regulatory complex, Cyfip2 may serve as a link between local activity-dependent translational changes and alterations in spine morphology (Smith and Rong 2004; Zhao et al 2013; Abekhoukh and Bardoni 2014). Fragile X patients exhibit an increase in Cyfip2 expression in the hippocampus, and *fmr1-/-* animal models also show increased Cyfip2 expression that accompanies the increase in immature stubby spines (Castets et al 2004; Hoeffer et al 2012). Cyfip2 regulates actin polymerization through direct interaction with the WAVE complex and inhibits WAVE activity and F-actin formation (Smith and Rong 2004; Pilpel and Segal 2005; Zhao et al 2013; Chen et al 2014). As illustrated in **Figure 4-1**, the binding of GTP-bound Rac1 to Cyfip2

induces dissociation between WAVE and Cyfip2, allowing for disinhibition and an active WAVE complex (Castets et al 2005; Zhao et al 2013; Chen et al 2014).



Recent work by Kumar et al 2013 demonstrated a potential role for Cyfip2 in regulating the morphological and behavioral changes resulting from drug abuse. In this study, a SNP polymorphism in the Cyfip2 gene of two substrains of C57BL/6 mice were identified in which a serine found in the C57BL/6J mice was substituted with a phenylalanine in the C57BL/6N mice (Kumar et al 2013) It was further observed that this SNP is found in all commercially available mice of the

6N substrain (Figure 4-2). This polymorphism codes for an unstable form of Cyfip2, and it was hypothesized that this instability disrupts proper coordinated, activity-dependent changes in spine morphology. Additionally, 6N animals were shown to be resistant to acute cocaine-induced increases in locomotor sensitization, displayed fewer active lever presses, and did not show reinstatement. Spine analysis showed an overall decrease in density, and a highly significant decrease in long/thin spines in the nucleus accumbens (Kumar et al 2013).



Studies presented in this chapter aim to discern whether ethanol-induced alterations in local protein translation are accompanied by changes in spines morphology. Using two commercially available substrains of C57BL/6J or /6NJ, these experiments may provide insight into how chronic ethanol alters both protein expression and spine morphology in an activity-dependent manner.

### **Methods**

### Animals

Animals used in these studies consisted of two different substrains of C57BL/6 mice: C57BL/6J and C57BL/6NJ. Both lines were obtained from Jackson Labs and will be referred to as 6J and 6N, respectively. Twenty-four male mice per genotype (48 animals total) arrived at 9 weeks of age, and were allowed to acclimate to the animal vivarium for 2 weeks. All animals were singly housed on a 12 hour light/dark cycle. Lights were off from 11am -11pm. Animals had access to food and water in the home cage throughout the entire experiment. Cages were changed and animals weighed weekly at least 48 hours after the end of the last 24-hour session. All experimental procedures were approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee and the National Institutes of Health.

### Two-bottle choice and chronic intermittent ethanol vapor exposure

For the two-bottle choice ethanol drinking procedure, mice were divided into two treatment groups: a Naive group that received tap water in both bottles, and an EtOH group that received one bottle containing 15% ethanol and another bottle containing only tape water. Groups represented in the study are 6J Naive, 6N Naive, 6J EtOH, and 6N EtOH. Each bottle was assigned to a specific animal, and bottles were cleaned and refilled between each session, and all bottles were weighed before and after each session. Weight difference was converted to volume using the contributing density of ethanol. Volume was then converted to grams per kilogram (g/kg). Mice gained and lost weight throughout both baseline drinking and chamber weeks, and the average of weights before and after each drinking week was used to calculate g/kg. Drinking sessions began 1 hour before the dark cycle, with bottle weights taken after 4 and 24 hours. After 4 consecutive 24-hour drinking sessions, bottles were removed, and all animals were provided home cage tap water for 72 hours.

Following four weeks of baseline two-bottle choice drinking, mice then began the chronic intermittent ethanol vapor exposure paradigm. A member of Dr. Howard Becker's lab kindly performed the vapor chamber exposure for these experiments. As illustrated in **Figure 4-3**, mice that received ethanol during the two-bottle choice drinking sessions underwent ethanol vapor exposure for 16 hours followed by an 8 hour withdrawal as described previously in Becker and Lopez 2004, Lopez and Becker 2005, and Griffin et al 2014.

The water only group received air exposure for the 16-hour period and remained ethanol naive. Both groups received IP injections of pyrazole (1mmol/kg) and an ethanol prime injection (1.6 g/kg; 8% w/v). This 16-hour vapor session was followed by an 8-hour withdrawal period, and animals continued this cycle for 4 consecutive days. This was followed by a 72-hour withdrawal period. Blood was taken via retro-orbital bleed on either the 3rd or 4th day of each of the cycles for determination of blood ethanol concentration (BECs). After each week of ethanol exposure and withdrawal, mice began two-bottle choice drinking for 4 days, and then another 72-hour withdrawal period. These two week cycles were repeated 4 consecutive times. Following the last day of two-bottle choice drinking

after the fourth cycle of vapor exposure, mice were euthanized with urethane (1.5g/kg) and were either perfused for spine analysis or brains were taken for western blot analysis.



### Diolistic labeling and spine analysis

Diolistic labeling of slices obtained from fixed brains was used to assess the effects of CIE and active drinking on dendritic spine morphology in the hippocampus as previously described (Kroener et al. 2012). In brief, 6 mice from each of the 4 experimental groups were anesthetized and perfused with 0.1 M phosphate buffer followed by 1.5% paraformaldehyde (PFA) in phosphate buffer and post-fixed in 1.5% PFA for 1 hour at room temperature. Brains were then

kept at 4°C in 0.1 M phosphate buffer until coronal sections of 150 µm were prepared on a vibratome. Tungsten particles (1.7 µm diameter) coated with Dil were delivered diolistically using a Helios Gene Gun (Bio-Rad) fitted with a polycarbonate filter (3.0 µm pore size; BD Biosciences). Dil was allowed to diffuse overnight at 4°C, and the slices were then post-fixed in 4% PFA for 1 hour prior to mounting. Images of the apical dendrites of the CA1 region of the hippocampus were collected in the Z-plane with a stack interval of 0.1 µm. A total of 8 z-stack images of 6-8 dendrites from 8 different cells per animal were collected. AutoQuant (MediaCybernetics, Rockville, MD) was then used to create deconvolved 3-D images. A filament of the dendritic shaft and spines was then created using Imaris XT (Bitplane, Zurich, Switzerland). Dendritic spines were classified as long, mushroom, stubby, or filopodia based on their length and neck and head width, where L is spine length, WH is spine head width, and WN is spine neck width. Long spines were identified as having a  $L \ge 0.75 \ \mu m$  and <3  $\mu m$ , mushroom spines as a  $L < 3.5 \mu m$ , WH>0.35  $\mu m$  and a WH>WN, stubby spines had a  $L < 0.75 \,\mu\text{m}$ , and filopodia were identified as having a  $L \ge 3 \,\mu\text{m}$ .

### Lysate preparation and protein assay

Six animals per group were euthanized and 1.0 mm coronal brains slices were prepared using a standard brain block. From these slices, 2.0 mm bilateral tissue punches of the hippocampus were homogenized by sonication in 4% LDS. Protein concentration was determined by the BCA procedure described in Chapter 2.

### Western blot analysis

Western blots were performed as described in Chapter 2. Briefly, following electrophoresis and membrane transfer, a reversible Swift total protein stain was used to evaluate errors in loading and normalization. Following the total protein stain, membranes were blocked in 4% non-fat milk, and incubated in primary antibody at 4°C overnight. Primary antibodies included phospho-S499 S499 FMRP (1:1000), FMRP total protein (1:2000), KChIP3 (1:500), Kv4.2 (1:1000), GluN1 (1:3000), and GluN2B (1:3000). After primary antibody incubation, membranes were incubated in secondary antibody: S499 FMRP, FMRP, and KChIP3 with goat anti-rabbit (1:2000) Kv4.2, GluN1, and GluN2B with goat anti-mouse (1:2000), for 1 hour at room temperature. After secondary antibody incubation, membranes were exposed to an enhanced chemillumiscience with ChemicDoc MP Imaging System (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA).

### Statistical Analysis

Two-bottle choice drinking data was analyzed using SPSS (IBM) with either a one- or two-way repeated measures ANOVA (\* p< 0.05). Significance for animal weights was examined using student t-test, and the spine data were analyzed with SPSS using a general linear mixed model. Western blots were analyzed with a one-way ANOVA in GraphPad Prism.

## **Results**

Blood Ethanol Concentrations (BECs)

Following baseline two-bottle choice drinking, mice were exposed to four cycles of vapor exposure along with a two-bottle choice 24-hour access paradigm between each week of vapor exposure. As seen in **Figure 4-4**, blood-ethanol levels steadily rose for both groups with each chamber cycle. While the reason for this increase is not clear, no significant differences were found between 6J and 6N animals throughout any cycle (one-way ANOVA, F(3,66) = 0.2964, p> 0.05 *n*= 12).



### Two-bottle choice 24-hour access

During two-bottle choice drinking, animals were divided into four groups with 6 animals per group as follows: 6J Naive- water only, 6J EtOH- ethanol and water, 6N Naive- water only, and 6N EtOH- ethanol and water. Mice were given free access to bottles for 24 hrs with time points taken after 4- and 24-hours during the two-bottle choice paradigm. Throughout the baseline period and most of the drinking days between ethanol vapor exposures, mice in the 6J EtOH group exhibited significantly higher ethanol intake (g/kg) in a 24-hour period compared to the 6N EtOH group (Figure 4-5A, two-way ANOVA, F(31, 682)= 1.928 p= 0.0020, Sidak post-hoc, \* p< 0.05, n= 12, 11). 6N and 6J groups also differed in their total daily water consumption. Not only did 6N mice consume less ethanol overall, they also consumed more water compared to 6J ethanol-drinking mice (Figure 4-5B, two-way ANOVA, F(31, 682)= 2.811 p= 0.0016, Sidak posthoc, \* p< 0.05, n= 12, 11). Additionally, although 6N mice consumed less ethanol compared to the 6J group, both 6J and 6N mice exhibited an escalation in drinking following the final week of vapor exposure compared to their respective baseline levels (Figure 4-5C, two-way ANOVA; F(4,15)=5.085; p= 0.0163; Tukey post-hoc \* p< 0.05, n= 12, 11). Therefore, both genotypes showed CIE-induced escalation in ethanol consumption. However, these two sub-strains varied in baseline overall ethanol intake. Total water intake for the ethanol-naïve 6J and 6N mice did not significantly vary by genotype. (Figure 4-6, two-way ANOVA, *F*(31, 682)= 1.286 p= 0.1390, *n*= 12).




**A.** During each 24-hour drinking period, 6J mice consumed more ethanol compared to 6N animals (n= 12, 11 \*p< 0.05) **B.** The 6N group consumed more water than the 6J group for several of the 24- hour two-bottle choice drinking days. **C.** Although 6N mice consumed less ethanol than 6J mice, average weekly intake indicates an escalation in drinking following the third and fourth week of vapor chamber exposure compared to baseline for both genotypes (n= 12, 11 \*p < 0.05; indicates significant difference compared to average of baseline within genotype).



The difference in water consumption between the 6J and 6N genotypes resulted in significantly lower total fluid intake over several 24-hour sessions for the 6J ethanol-drinking mice compared to 6N ethanol animals (**Figure 4-7A**, two-way ANOVA, F(31, 682)= 3.040 p= 0.0030, Sidak post-hoc, \* p< 0.05, *n*= 12, 11). Interestingly during two-bottle choice drinking between chamber exposures as 6J mice increased their ethanol intake, their water consumption decreased. Ethanol also accounted for a higher percent of total intake throughout most of the two-bottle choice drinking paradigm (**Figure 4-7B/C**, *B:* two-way ANOVA, *F*(31, 682)= 2.820 p< 0.0001, Sidak post-hoc, \* p< 0.05, *n*= 12, 11; *C*: two-way ANOVA, *F*(31, 682)= 3.438 p< 0.0001, Sidak post-hoc, \* p< 0.05, *n*= 12, 11). However, the 6N group maintained their water intake throughout the entirety of the paradigm.



**A.** Since 6N mice consumed more water in a 24 hour period on several days throughout the paradigm, their total fluid intake was higher for several of the two-bottle choice drinking days compared to the 6J group (n= 12, 11 \* p< 0.05) **B.** 6J mice not only consumed more ethanol by weight, ethanol also accounted for a higher percentage of total liquid intake compared to 6N mice (n= 12, 11 \* p< 0.05; \*\* p< 0.001).

Although 6J mice consumed more ethanol throughout most of the 24-hour drinking sessions, these studies also examined fluid consumption during the first four hours of each these 24-hour drinking days (Figure 4-8, EtOH: two-way ANOVA, F(31, 682)= 2.123 p= 0.0023, Sidak post-hoc, \* p< 0.05, n= 12, 11; Water: two-way ANOVA, F(31, 682)= 7.768 p< 0.0001, Sidak post-hoc, \* p< 0.05, n=12, 11). After 4 hours of two-bottle choice, the 6J group had significantly higher ethanol consumption for most of the baseline drinking phase compared to 6N mice. However, following chamber exposure periods, 6J and 6N animals maintained similar levels of ethanol intake for the first four hours on most drinking days. As expected, 6N animals had significantly higher water intake compared to 6J mice throughout the entirety of the paradigm. Additionally, following chamber exposure, as 6N mice increased their intake of ethanol, water consumption also increased, a trend that continued throughout the next 20 hours. In general, 6N mice consumed less ethanol and more water than 6J animals. However, unlike the four hours of drinking, there was no escalation in water consumption among the 6N group (Figure 4-9, EtOH: two-way ANOVA, F(31, 682)= 2.144 p= 0.0004, Sidak post-hoc, \* p< 0.05, n= 12, 11; Water: two-way ANOVA, F(31, 682)= 2.580 p< 0.0001, Sidak post-hoc, \* p< 0.05, n=12, 11). Ethanol consumption also remained relatively consistent throughout most of the paradigm for the last 20hour period. As noted above, due to this increase in water consumption during the first four hours of the drinking sessions, total liquid intake increased in 6N

animals, especially during each bottle week following vapor chamber exposures. 6J ethanol mice, however, remained relatively consistent during this time period.





**A** 6J mice consumed more ethanol at each time point for most drinking days throughout baseline. However, the ethanol intake for the 6J groups was significantly increased in only half of the time points following chamber exposure (n= 12,11; \* p< 0.05) **B**. Water consumption in the 6N group was significantly increased compared to 6J mice throughout the entire paradigm (n= 12,11; \* p< 0.05).

Throughout two-bottle choice drinking and CIE vapor exposure cycles, body weight for all mice was recorded immediately before and after each cycle. It was observed that both 6N naive and 6N ethanol groups lost weight following each CIE vapor exposure, but gained weight during each two-bottle choice week. Unlike the 6N genotype, minimal fluctuation in weight was observed for the first three cycles of CIE vapor and two-bottle choice drinking in both 6J naive and 6J ethanol mice. Following the fourth and final CIE chamber cycle, however, a decrease of 4-5 grams was observed in both 6J and 6N ethanol mice. Mice in the 6J group had regained this weight at the time of sacrifice following the final two-bottle choice drinking period. However, 6N ethanol mice did not experience any weight gain at the time of sacrifice (**Figure 4-10**).





**A.** 6J animals consumed more ethanol throughout the entire 24 hour two-bottle choice paradigm, during both baseline and chamber drinking sessions. (n= 12, 11; \* p< 0.05) **B.** The 6N ethanol group drank more water during the latter 20 hours for most of the baseline and chamber drinking weeks. (n= 12, 11; \* p< 0.05)





Each bar represents the weight lost or gained during each week of either CIE vapor chamber exposure or two-bottle choice. Therefore, bars represent the change in weight due to either vapor exposure or two-bottle choice.

**A.** 6J ethanol-treated mice lost and gained small amounts of weight depending on the treatment. Vapor exposure was associated with small decreases in weight while twobottle choice weeks caused small increases in the 6J ethanol group. However the final vapor exposure cycle induced a larger weight loss in both 6J and 6N ethanol-treated mice. 6J mice regained this weight by time of sacrifice, but 6N mice did not **B**. Weight of mice in the 6J naive group did not fluctuate during the paradigm. However, 6N mice did experiences alterations in weight depending on ethanol cycle. Changes in protein expression in 6J and 6N mice following chronic ethanol exposure

Data presented in previous chapters of this dissertation have shown that chronic ethanol exposure alters expression of proteins associated with homeostatic plasticity in the hippocampus in both a CIE in vivo mouse model and in vitro hippocampal slice culture model. In the present chapter, hippocampal tissue from 6J and 6N naive and ethanol-exposed mice were analyzed using western blot for FMRP and other proteins of interest previously shown to be altered by chronic ethanol. Expression of the translational repressor protein was assessed for total protein and the previously identified FMRP phosphorylation site of interest (S499). Consistent with results from previous chapters, blots revealed an increase in phospho-FMRP protein expression in ethanol-exposed 6J mice compared to 6J naive animals. Additionally, the 6J ethanol group exhibited an increase in phosphorylated FMRP compared to both 6N treatment groups. Importantly, the 6N ethanol mice did not show an increase in expression of either phosphorylated or total FMRP protein expression compared to either the 6J or 6N naive groups. As seen in previous studies, total FMRP protein expression did not vary between any of the groups tested (Figure **4-11**; *phospho-FMRP*: one-way ANOVA, F(3,20) = 5.152, p=0.0084, Tukey posthoc \* p< 0.05 *n*= 6; *FMRP*: one-way ANOVA, F(3,20)= 0.1105, p=0.9528, Tukey post-hoc p> 0.05 n= 6). Of note, these data also show no difference between the

6J and 6N naive mice, indicating that the polymorphism in Cyfip2 does not lead to differences in basal levels of phosphorylated or total FMRP protein.



In the next set of experiments, NMDA receptor subunits were evaluated in both genotypes. As observed in Chapter 2, 6J mice exposed to chronic ethanol displayed increased levels of GluN1 protein expression compared to 6J ethanol naive animals (Figure 4-12; *GluN1*: one-way ANOVA, F(3,19) = 6.733, p=0.034, Tukey post-hoc \* p< 0.05 *n*= 5, 6; *GluN2B*: one-way ANOVA, F(3,20) = 5.844, p=0.0049, Tukey post-hoc \* p< 0.05 *n*= 6). Additionally, the 6J ethanol group also showed increases in GluN1 compared to 6N naive mice. There was a slight, non-significant increase in GluN1 in the 6N ethanol group. GluN2B protein levels were increased with 6J ethanol mice compared to both the 6J and 6N naive group.

However, 6N ethanol-exposed mice did not show any increase in GluN2B levels compared to either control group. Genotypic differences between the two naive groups did not result in any change with either GluN1 or GluN2B protein levels. Like FMRP, this indicates there is no difference in basal expression of either protein.



In addition to NMDA receptor subunits, Kv4.2 and KChIP3 protein levels were also assessed in both mouse lines (Figure 4-13; *Kv4.2*: one-way ANOVA, F(3,19) = 5.122, p=0.0104, Tukey post-hoc \* p< 0.05 *n*= 6, 5; *KChIP3*: one-way ANOVA, F(3,20) = 6.248, p=0.0047, Tukey post-hoc \* p< 0.05 *n*= 6). This analysis revealed both Kv4.2 and KChIP3 expression was decreased as a result of ethanol exposure in the 6J mice compared to both 6N and 6J ethanol naive

mice. However, protein levels in 6N ethanol-treated mice remained unchanged compared to both naive groups. Data also show no change between 6J or 6N naive mice. These observations also indicate no baseline differences in expression of these proteins between the two genotypes for either protein.



**6J Naive**= C57BL/6J water/air only, **6N Naive**= C57BL/6NJ water/air only, **6J EtOH** = C57BL/6J ethanol treated, **6N EtOH**= C57BL/6NJ ethanol treated.

#### Spine morphology in 6J and 6N naive and ethanol-treated mice

It has been previously reported that Cyfip2 function is associated with a reduction in overall spine density in the nucleus accumbens that was largely due to a decrease in thin and stubby spine density (Kumar et al 2013). This decrease in spine density was accompanied by a resistance to cocaine-induced locomotor sensitization and decreased cocaine-seeking behaviors. Previous studies have

also shown that ethanol-induced changes in actin polymerization result in enlargement of dendritic spines, and this enlargement may be dependent on changes in protein expression (Carpenter-Hyland and Chandler 2006; Zhou et al 2007; Cingolani and Goda 2008; Akashi et al 2009). Therefore, the next set of studies examined the effect of ethanol exposure in hippocampal dendritic spine density and morphology between the 6J and 6N mouse lines.

Quantification of the spine density in the CA1 region of the hippocampus yielded results similar to previous finding in the nucleus accumbens (Kumar et al 2013). 6N ethanol naive mice showed baseline differences in spine density compared to the 6J naive group. Exposure to chronic intermittent ethanol caused an increase in total spine density of 6J mice compared to both 6J and 6N naive groups as well as 6N ethanol-exposed animals (**Figure 4-14**; *Total spines*: F(2,18)=5.156, \* p <0.05, n=6, 5; *Classification of spines*: F(3,85)=2.254, \* p< 0.05, n=6, 5). Classification of dendritic spines revealed that these alterations in total density were due specifically to changes in long/thin spines. Compared to 6J naive mice, the 6N naive group showed a significant decrease in long/thin spines, suggesting baseline differences in spine density and morphology between the two genotypes. Mice in the 6J ethanol group exhibited an increase in density compared to 6J naive mice, and this increase was also characterized by increased density of long/thin spines.



**A.** Representative image of Dil labeled CA1 pyramidal neuron in the hippocampus. Blue channel is a draq5 nuclear stain highlighting the cell body layer. **B.** Raw and analyzed representative images for 6J and 6N naive and ethanol-exposed animals. **C.** Total differences and distribution by spine type for each genotype and condition. Overall 6J ethanol animals showed an increase in density that is largely due to an increase in long/thing spines (n= 6,5 \*p< 0.05 significance represents differences compared to 6J EtOH mice, § p< 0.05 significance compared to 6J Naive animals. A total of 6-8 dendrites were used per animal).

### **Discussion**

The results of studies in this chapter revealed two important findings. The first that alterations in Cyfip2 function may correlate to a reduction ethanol consumption. However, the 6N mice carrying the phenylalanine SNP still exhibited CIE-induced escalation in drinking. Secondly, 6N animals do not show baseline differences in proteins implicated in synaptic plasticity, but do not induce mechanisms that allow for homeostatic changes in protein expression and spine morphology. Additionally, similar to previous results reported in the nucleus accumbens, 6N naive mice have baseline differences in spine density and morphology compared to the 6J strain in hippocampal CA1 pyramidal neurons (Kumar et al 2013)

These results further suggest that the polymorphism in the *cyfip2* gene that alters protein stability may have a significant influence over synaptic plasticity in not only spine morphology, but also protein translation and drinking behaviors. Not only did 6N ethanol-exposed animals drink less ethanol, they also consumed more water, and this water intake increased as ethanol consumption increased. Both 6J and 6N animals consumed more ethanol in the first four hour period than the expected daily intake, assuming a constant rate of consumption over 24 hours. 6N ethanol treated animals consumed more in the first four hours, indicating they drink more at the start of the dark cycle, but do not maintain this behavior throughout the 24-hour period. The drop off in consumption seen during the last 20 hours of the session is not likely a result of decreased ethanol

metabolism since BECs did not differ between the two genotypes following CIE exposure. Also, 6N animals did show escalation in drinking during two-bottle choice weeks following the final two weeks of chamber exposure, but did not escalate to the levels achieved by 6J mice. Of note, the 6J animals drinking levels were relatively even throughout the first four hours during both baseline and chamber periods, suggesting that the escalation in drinking did not occur during the first part of the dark cycle, but 6N animals displayed the opposite behavior, increasing ethanol consumption in the first 4 hours.

As with previous chapters, differences in protein expression was also evaluated in naive and ethanol-exposed animals. In mice, decreased Cyfip2 total protein expression has been shown to cause a reduction in basal levels of FMRP total protein as well as cognitive deficits similar to fmr1-/-. However, 6N naive mice that show decreased Cyfip2 activity did not exhibit baseline differences in FMRP phosphorylation or total expression, nor did they display any alterations in GluN1, GluN2B, Kv4.2, or KChIP3 expression compared to 6J naive mice. Additionally, ethanol treatment in the 6N group did not induce changes in protein expression. However, the expected increases or decrease in GluN1 and GluN2B or Kv4.2 and KChIP3, respectively, were observed in 6J ethanol mice compared to 6J naive. This suggests that differences in Cyfip2 activity do not affect basal protein expression, but may have an important role in activity-dependent changes in FMRP activity and protein translation. However, further experiments are necessary to investigate the mechanism by which chronic ethanol mediates both Cyfip2 and FMRP in response to alterations in homeostatic plasticity.

The studies investigating structural differences in dendritic spines revealed that 6N mice exhibit a lower density of spines in the hippocampus compared to 6J mice. Analysis of spine type indicated this difference was largely due to a decrease in the density of long/thin spines. This reduction in total density and thin spines is similar to results from studies in the nucleus accumbens (Kumar et al 2013). Ethanol did cause a slight difference in 6N mice, but this did not vary significant from either 6J or 6N naive mice. Again, this difference is due to an alteration in long, thin spines. However, baseline differences in spine density and morphology in the 6N naive mice were not accompanied by alterations in basal protein levels. The 6N group was resistant to ethanol-induced changes in protein expression and spine morphology. This suggests that changes protein translation and actin polymerization that occur in tandem may be limited to activitydependent plasticity, and that basal protein translation and actin dynamics may be differentially regulated.

Drinking studies in this chapter indicate 6N mice with the polymorphism in *cyifp2* consumed less ethanol that 6J mice. Although 6N mice did escalate their ethanol intake compared to baseline, consumption in the 6N ethanol group was still significantly less than 6J animals for several 24-hour time points. Studies with cocaine with a knock-in of the 6N SNP on a 6J background produced the same cellular and behavioral phenotype as the commercially available 6N mouse lines, suggesting that Cyfip2 activity has an important role in drug-induced behaviors. However, further studies are needed to determine how the polymorphism found

in 6N animals behavioral differences seen in response to chronic ethanol exposure.

A potential confound in these chronic intermittent ethanol studies was the observation that weight in both groups of 6N mice fluctuated throughout each cycle of CIE vapor and two-bottle choice following the first four weeks of baseline drinking. It is important to note that during the fourth and final chamber exposure, both animals experienced higher than expected blood ethanol levels. Following this vapor exposure cycle, mice in both 6J and 6N ethanol groups lost an average of 4-5 grams in weight. The 6J mice gained all of the lost weight back by the time of sacrifice; 6N mice, however, did not. This may have important implications for actin dynamics and spine morphology. Alterations in body weight are associated with either an increase or decrease in spine density, depending on brain region (Stranahan et al 2008; Stranahan et al 2009; Fan et al 2015). A reduction in spine density was observed in the 6N naive group. However, these data are consistent with previously published studies, showing this same decrease in the nucleus accumbens. 6N ethanol-treated mice showed a slight increase in spine density compared to the 6N naive group. It is difficult to speculate whether this sudden change in body weight contributed to the behavioral and cellular phenotype.

Results presented in this chapter reveal the importance of homeostatic mechanism in dendrites and dendritic spines for regulating protein expression, spine morphology, and drinking behaviors. With the polymorphism in Cyfip2 in 6N animals, failure to induce appropriate mechanisms to maintain the necessary

activity-dependent changes in protein expression and actin polymerization in order to adapt to chronic ethanol exposure produced not only differences in baseline drinking, but also changes in escalation. Although there is no baseline difference in protein expression, as seen with spine density, this indicates that basal state protein expression may be regulated in a different manner. However, activity-dependent mechanisms may require the ability to change both protein expression and actin polymerization to reestablish homeostasis.

Studies in this chapter addressed whether changes in protein expression are also accompanied by changes spine morphology. The naturally occuring polymorphism in the *cyfip2* gene between the -J and -N substrains of C57BL/6 provides the opportunity to address how differences in spine morphology may affect both baseline and ethanol-induced activity-dependent dendritic protein synthesis. Further studies are needed to determine the nature of the connection between protein translation and spine morphology, and how these two processes may alter drinking behaviors.

# **Chapter 5**

# **Discussion and Future Directions**

# **Translational Changes and Plasticity**

Synaptic plasticity is an essential process that allows for homeostatic neuronal adaptations in response to changes in the cellular environment in order to maintain balanced homeostatic function. Plasticity in the hippocampus is necessary for alterations in synaptic activity that have important implications for hippocampal function, including memory processing and consolidation

(Grosshans et al 2001; Fukazawa et al 2003; Hoeffer et al 2013; Bailey et al 2015). Long-term maintenance of these adaptations requires alterations in protein homeostasis and translation of new proteins (Kang et al 1996; Klann and Richter 2007; Im et al 2009; Panja et al 2014). Cellular processes previously investigated that regulate activity-dependent protein synthesis have focused on transcription and somatic translation. However, more recent studies have demonstrated that maintenance of synaptic plasticity also requires alterations in local dendritic translation (Kang et al 1996; Klann and Richter 2007; Liu-Yesucevitz et al 2011). Activity-dependent de novo protein synthesis requires a series of highly coordinated synaptic events that are tightly regulated at each step. Pathologies, such as fragile X syndrome, that are characterized by aberrant translational regulation leads to alterations in basal protein levels and deficits in maintaining synaptic plasticity (Li et al 2001; Hagerman and Stafstorm 2009; Darnell et al 2011; De Rubeis and Bagni 2011; Henry 2011). This insufficient regulation of translation is accompanied by cognitive deficits and developmental delays, and the investigation of the how these components are precisely regulated remains an active area of research.

Previous studies have identified the mTORC1 translational pathway as one of the main cellular mechanism regulating activity-dependent translation in dendrites. The sensitivity of synaptic plasticity and memory consolidation to inhibition of mTORC1 implies that coordinated activity of mTORC1 substrates is likely necessary for maintenance of homeostasis (Gong et al 2006; Bekinschtein et al 2007; Meng et al 2013; Russo et al 2013; Takei and Hiroyki 2014; Dibble

and Cantley 2015). In response to chronic ethanol exposure, studies with *in vivo* rat models revealed an increase in several downstream components as well as alterations in protein expression at glutamatergic synapses and in dendritic spines (Nesta et al 2010; Barack et al 2013; Nesta et al 2014). Components of this pathway include kinases, mRNA-binding proteins, and ribosomal subunits that control mRNA trafficking and stability, assembly of the active ribosome, and the rate of translation. Different substrates in this pathway are discretely activated to fine-tune protein synthesis that is necessary for alterations in synaptic activity (Ma and Blenis 2009; Urbanska et al 2012; Meng et al 2013; Takei and Hiroyki 2014). However, how the different proteins in the mTORC1 pathway are tightly regulated is not known.

Studies examining mTORC1 signaling following chronic ethanol exposure have demonstrated that this signaling pathway and its substrates have an important role in maintaining ethanol-induced alterations in protein expression (Nesta et al 2010; Barak et al 2013; Sabino et al 2013). Studies in this dissertation revealed that ethanol-induced alterations in expression of proteins that are key mediators of neuronal excitability in dendrites and dendritic spines may also be regulated by mTORC1 pathway. Results in these experiments from both *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies show that chronic exposure to ethanol causes an increase in GluN1 and GluN2B subunit expression in the hippocampus but a reduction in Kv4.2 and KChIP3 protein levels. Together, these changes in protein expression may tip the equilibrium in cellular signaling toward excitability to reestablish neuronal homeostasis during chronic ethanol exposure. These

studies also provide evidence that FMRP, a downstream substrate in the mTORC1 pathway, may be an important mediator of alterations in NMDA receptor, Kv4.2, and KChIP3 protein expression. As an mRNA-binding protein, FMRP interacts with a variety of different mRNAs to inhibit their translation (Laggerbauer et al 2001; Jones 2003). Although FMRP is a translational repressor, its activity is necessary for maintenance of basal protein synthesis and activity-dependent translation in dendrites and dendritic spines (Zalfa et al 2006; Henry 2011; Schaeffer et al 2012). In the absence of FMRP, local dendritic translation is uncoordinated, leading to disorganization of translation with no *de novo* synthesis of the specific proteins that are required to maintained synaptic plasticity.

# FMRP and Ethanol Exposure

#### Ethanol-induced changes in FMRP and its binding partners

Studies investigating alterations in synaptic plasticity in response to ethanol exposure have identified a role for protein translation in maintaining neuronal homeostasis (Nesta et al 2011; Barak et al 2013). Studies presented here revealed that not only does chronic ethanol exposure induce alterations in proteins that modulate synaptic activity, but they also provide insight into how ethanol may induce these changes in protein levels. Results from Chapter 2 demonstrated an increase in FMRP phosphorylation following exposure to acute and chronic ethanol with no change in expression. Additional experiments also showed alterations in FMRP-mRNA interactions in ethanol-treated slice cultures compared to control cultures. Studies in Chapter 3 then demonstrate that blockade of ethanol-induced increases in FMRP phosphorylation through inhibition of S6K1 activity prevent alterations in GluN2B, Kv4.2, and KChIP3 in response to chronic ethanol exposure. These observations suggest that ethanol exposure not only increases FMRP activity, but also alters FMRP-mRNA interactions.

Findings presented in Chapters 2 and 3 provide support to the suggestion that FMRP is an essential component of synaptic homeostasis during ethanol exposure, and that FMRP is necessary for coordinated activity-dependent translation in response to ethanol exposure. Previous studies have focused on mTORC1 as a global regulator of activity-dependent translation (Gong et al 2006; Nesta et al 2010; Barak et al 2013; Brewster et al 2013). In contrast, this dissertation provides insight into the role of a specific mTORC1 substrate in discrete regulation of proteins altered by chronic ethanol exposure.

It is important to note that inhibition of FMRP activity prevented ethanolinduced increases in GluN2B, but not GluN1 protein expression. This suggests that FMRP activity does not have a critical role in regulating overall increases in NMDA receptor protein expression. Rather FMRP may indirectly influence NMDA receptor function or localization through regulation of receptor subunit composition.

Another implication of these FMRP experiments is that these studies focused on FMRP in a typically developing brain. Research examining the role of FMRP in synaptic plasticity often utilize clinical populations with aberrant FMRP function, as seen in fragile X syndrome, or mouse models that lack the FMRP protein (Gross et al 2011; Lee et al 2011; Jeon et al 2012; Hoeffer et al 2013. Although these types of studies have provide important insight into the irregularities in cellular structure and function related to the loss of FMRP, there is little research in model systems with typical FMRP protein expression. Experiments in this dissertation focused on the role of FMRP in activity-dependent protein synthesis when FMRP expression is regulated via normal cellular processes. Results from these studies may contribute to the understanding of basic FMRP function in dendritic translation.

#### S6K1-mediated FMRP activity during chronic ethanol exposure

FMRP is part of a larger mTORC1 signaling pathway that mediates activitydependent translation (Holz et al 2005; Ma and Blenis 2009; Russo et al 2013). This pathway includes numerous downstream kinases that activate different components for proper coordination of translation. *In vitro* studies in Chapter 3 demonstrated that both increased FMRP phosphorylation at S499 and alterations in FMRP-mRNA binding are regulated by S6K1 activity. Experiments in a rat model of chronic exposure also demonstrated an increase in S6K1 phosphorylation as well as an increase in protein expression for other mRNAs

that are downstream substrates of FMRP (Nesta et al 2010; Barak et al 2013; Nesta et al 2014). Importantly, decreased S6K1 activity *in vivo* has been shown to prevent ethanol-seeking behaviors and ethanol-induced increases in protein expression (Barak et al 2013). Taken together, these results suggest that FMRP phosphorylation and activity are likely mediated by S6K1 during ethanol exposure.

FMRP contains multiple binding sites for mRNAs and regulatory proteins, and its activity can be regulated through different cellular pathways. S6K1mediated phosphorylation of S499 on FMRP provides important insight into how FMRP activity is regulated during ethanol exposure (Bardoni et al 1997; Brown et al 1995; Jones 2003; Bartley et al 2014). Phosphorylation at each of its three serine residues differentially regulates activity to induce binding to 4E-BPs and the ribosome to suppress translation, interaction with mRNAs, or interaction with miRNAs that inhibit FMRP function (Bardoni et al 1997; Li et al 2001; Jones 2003; Chen and Joseph 2015). Regulation of FMRP through S6K1 suggests a potential mechanism by which neurons maintain protein homeostasis during chronic ethanol exposure.

### Spine morphology and activity-dependent translation

#### Regulation of WAVE through Cyfip2 activity

Long-term maintenance of protein homeostasis in dendrites is often accompanied by alterations in actin polymerization and spine morphology. As with protein translation, actin polymerization is a dynamic process that involves several discretely coordinated components. Regulation of F-actin formation through the WAVE complex is mediated through Cyfip2. Interaction between Cyfip2 and WAVE prevents actin polymerization, while Rac1-dependent activation of Cyfip2 induces disassociation from the complex (Miki et al 1998; Zhao et al 2003; Bongmba et al 2011; Bellot et al 2014). This disassociation of Cyfip2 from WAVE allows for disinhibition of the complex and active actin polymerization (Smith and Rong 2004; Pilpel et al 2005; Kim et al 2006). Decreased expression of Cyfip2 leads to dysregulated actin dynamics and an increase in immature dendritic spines (Hoeffer et al 2013; Bellot et al 2014). Additionally, this decrease in Cyfip2 is also correlated with an alteration in basal protein levels (Napoli et al 2008; Panthania et al 2014; Han et al 2015). Likewise, individuals with fragile X syndrome who lack FMRP and exhibit aberrant basal and activity-dependent protein expression, also have increases in Cyfip2 (Hoeffer et al 2013). This presents the possibility that chronic ethanol-induced alterations in protein expression may be connected to ethanol-induced differences in spine

morphology, and that FMRP and Cyfip2 both have an essential role in this process.

As shown in Chapter 4, C57BL/6N mice (6N) with a polymorphism substituting a phenylalanine in place of a serine residue in the *cyfip2* gene exhibited a decrease in spine density characterized by a decrease in long/thin spines compared to C57BL/6J mice (6J). Exposure to chronic ethanol resulted in an increase in spine density in 6J mice but not 6N mice. Of note, this SNP does not affect the levels of Cyfip2 protein, but rather it decreases the half-life of the protein and likely an increase in Cyfip2 turnover (Kumar et al 2013). This increase in Cyfip2 turnover may interfere with discrete regulation of the WAVE complex. While Cyfip2 is an inhibitor of WAVE activity, this inhibition may be necessary to properly coordinate the different components needed for adaptive cytoskeletal remodeling. Without this coordination, actin dynamics may remain unregulated and unresponsive to alterations in synaptic activity.

Results from experiments in Chapter 4 suggest a connection between the regulation of spine morphology and activity-dependent protein translation. Although 6N mice had a reduced spine density, there was no difference in basal protein levels compared to the 6J mice. However, unlike 6J mice, the 6N group did not display ethanol-induced alterations in protein expression or FMRP phosphorylation. One potential interpretation of these data are that protein expression and spine morphology may be differentially regulated under basal conditions, but both processes must occur in tandem to develop sustained homeostatic adaptations to alterations in neuronal activity.

#### Importance of Cyfip2 and FMRP during ethanol consumption

Alterations in both protein expression and spine morphology in response to chronic ethanol exposure suggest that both of these processes are important for maintaining neuronal homeostasis in response to changes in synaptic plasticity. Data presented in Chapter 4 indicates that for activity-dependent adaptations to occur, both changes in spine morphology and protein synthesis are necessary. Results from these studies and others indicate that inhibition of either of these two mechanisms prevents ethanol-induced cellular changes. Additionally, these cellular changes may also influence behavioral phenotypes. As shown in Chapter 4, 6N mice consumed less ethanol compared to 6J mice in a long-term CIE/twobottle choice drinking paradigm. Although other factors may contribute to this difference in consumption, when these drinking data are considered with activitydependent differences in protein expression and spine morphology, these data suggest that Cyfip2 function may have an important role in the development of drinking behaviors. These results also present the idea that the ability of neurons to induce specific homeostatic mechanisms is directly connected to the development of ethanol drinking and dependence. If 6N mice cannot initiate the appropriate mechanism to adapt to ethanol-induced alterations in homeostasis, does this contribute to the decreased ethanol intake? Conversely, are 6J mice more susceptible to acquiring high ethanol drinking behaviors because they can induce this specific homeostatic mechanism?

# **Future Directions**

This project outlines some important findings regarding how ethanol may induce alterations in protein expression and spine morphology. Future studies to further investigate how homeostatic protein translation is mediated in ethanol exposure are needed. Results in Chapter 2 indicate that although protein expression in dendrites did not change after acute ethanol exposure, FMRP phosphorylation was increased after only 24 hours of ethanol treatment. Followup experiments could focus on FMRP activity during this period. FMRP can regulate translation through several different means including interaction with the active ribosome or other mRNAs that encode proteins needed for short-term adaptations to ethanol. As a key mediator of 5' TOP mRNAs, alterations in FMRP activity may also be important for translation of proteins that make up the active ribosome along with other mRNA binding proteins and key translational regulators (Jefferies et al 1997; Darnell et al 2013). As a result of this increase in phosphorylation, FMRP may have a significant role in mediating the transition in neuronal homeostasis that occurs during the shift from acute to chronic ethanol exposure.

An important direction for these future studies could focus on the questions presented above. For example, are specific cellular homeostatic mechanisms directly connected to drinking behavior, and how might activity-dependent protein translation and actin dynamics be regulated? Cyfip2 is also mediated by

upstream of Rac1 by S6K1 (Miki et al 1998; Castets et al 2005; Tolias et al 2005). Therefore, S6K1 may serve as the common element of each mechanism regulating both spine morphology and protein translation (Figure 5-1). Research in non-neuronal cell types indicate that inhibition of S6K1 decreases interactions between GTP-bound Rac1 and Cyfip, as well as preventing Cyfip2-mediated cytoskeletal remodeling (Castets et al 2005). These studies also demonstrate that Cyfip2-mediated actin dynamics are dependent on another downstream substrate of S6K1, specifically, the Rac1 GEF Tiam1 (Castets et al 2005; Tolias et al 2005). As with S6K1 inhibition, blockade of Tiam1 activity prevented cytoskeletal alterations due to Cyfip2 activity (Castets et al 2005). Future experiments may also investigate these mechanisms in other brain regions implicated in alcohol addiction and ethanol-induced cognitive deficits. Both the S6K1 inhibitor used in these studies as well as a Tiam1-specific inhibitor are commercially available.

Studies comparing the behavioral and cellular phenotype of C57BL/6J to -6N mice would build upon the body of work presented here. 6N mice consumed less ethanol compared to 6J mice, but like the 6J group, the 6N group demonstrated an escalation in ethanol intake following vapor chamber exposure. Investigation of ethanol-induced behavioral or cognitive deficits will further characterize the phenotypic differences that may exist as a result of this *cyfip2* polymorphism. Although these are two distinct substrains of mice, a group has created a knock-in of the 6N SNP on a 6J background, making the only

difference between the two strains the *cyfip2* gene, eliminating one of the variables in these studies (Kumar et al 2013).

Interestingly, in 6N mice, both the water and CIE-exposed groups gained more weight by the end of the baseline-drinking period compared to 6J mice. Research in Prader-Willi phenotype, a form of obesity connected with fragile X syndrome, has implicated Cyfip2 in dysregulation of leptin signaling (Hoeffer et al 2013). Additionally in preclinical obesity studies, 6N mice are prone to develop diet-induced obesity when given free access to food (Fan et al 2015). Future studies may investigate whether the genotypic differences in 6J and 6N mice affect reward choice. Results may reveal an interesting difference in 6N mice between natural rewards (food) and unnatural rewards (ethanol).

In conclusion, the work presented in this dissertation revealed that chronic ethanol exposure induces homeostatic alterations in protein translation that likely occur through modulation of FMRP activity. These alterations in translation were also accompanied by changes in dendritic spine density and spine morphology. The aim of these experiments was to examine the role of FMRP in activitydependent, homeostatic protein synthesis in dendrites and dendritic spines in response to chronic ethanol exposure. Additionally, these studies also investigated whether spine morphology is associated with these FMRP-mediated changes in translation and if these two processes have a potential role in mediating ethanol drinking behaviors. The mechanism driving these neuronal adaptations during ethanol exposure, and how this may affect behavior is not well understood. Results from these studies provide evidence of a specific

mechanism that may be essential for chronic ethanol-induced cellular adaptations.



**Figure 5-1** Potential S6K1-mediated mechanism driving activity-dependent alterations in protein translation and spine morphology.

Increases in protein translation through FMRP-mRNA binding induced by S6K1 activity leads to activity-dependent translation of specific proteins. S6K1 may also activate the GEF Tiam1, and Rac1 activation through GTP binding. Cyfip2 interactions with GTPbound Rac1 causes dissociation with the WAVE complex, and allows for actin polymerization and spine development. S6K1 may be the common mediator that pairs ethanol-induced translational changes with activity-dependent alterations in dendritic spines.

# REFERENCES

- 1. Abebkhoukh, S. and Bardoni, B. Cyfip family proteins between autism and intellectual disability: links with fragile X syndrome. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*. 8: 81, 1-9 (2014).
- 2.Adams, J. P., Anderson, A. E., Varga, A. W., Dineley, K. T., Cook, R. G., Pfaffinger, P. J., and Sweatt, J. D. The A-type potassium channel Kv4.2 is a substrate for the mitogen-activated protein kinase ERK. *Journal of Neurochemistry* 75: 6, 2277–2287 (2000).
- 3.Adams, P and Dudek, S. Late-phase long-term potentiation: getting to the nucleus. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 6: 9, 737-743 (2005).
- 4.Adcock, A. Thangavel, A. Whitfield-Gabrieli, S. Knuston, B. and Gabrieli, J. Reward-motivated learning: Mesolimbic activation precedes memory formation. *Neuron*. 50: 3, 507-517 (2006).
- 5.Agartz, I. Momenan, R. Rawlings, R. Kerich, M. and Hommer, D. Hippocampal volume in patients with alcohol dependence. *Archives of General Psychiatry*. 56: 4, 356-363 (1999).
- 6.Akashi, Kakizaki, K.T, Kamiya, H, Fukaya, M., Yamasaki, M., Natsume A.R., Watanabe, M. and K. Sakimura. NMDA Receptor GluN2B (GluR 2/NR2B) Subunit Is Crucial for Channel Function, Postsynaptic Macromolecular Organization, and Actin Cytoskeleton at Hippocampal CA3 Synapses. *Journal of Neuroscience* 29: 35, 10869–10882 (2009).
- 7. Alexander, J. C. McDermott, C.M., Tunur, T., Rands, V., Stelly, C., Karhson, D., Bowlby, M.R., An, W.F., Sweatt, J.D., and Schrader, L.A. The role of Calsenilin/DREAM/KChIP3 in contextual fear conditioning. *Learning* and Memory 16:3, 167–177 (2009).
- 8.Alford S, Frenguelli BG, Schofield JG, and Collingridge GL: Characterization of Ca2+ signals induced in hippocampal CA1 neurones by the synaptic activation of NMDA receptors. *Journal of Physiology* 469: 1, 693–716 (1993).
- 9.An W.F. Bowlby M.R. Betty M. Cao, J. Ling, H. Mendoza, G. Hinson, J. Mattsson, K. Strassle, B. Trimmer, J. and Rhodes, K. Modulation of A-

type potassium channels by a family of calcium sensors. *Nature* 403: 6769, 553–556 (2000).

- Anderson, A. Adams, J. Qian, Y. Cook, R. Pfaffinger, P. and Sweatt, J. Kv4.2 phosphoylation by cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry.* 275: 8, 5337–5346 (2000).
- Anderson, M. L., Nokia, M. S., Govindaraju, K. P. and Shors, T. J. Moderate drinking? Alcohol consumption significantly decreases neurogenesis in the adult hippocampus. *Neuroscience*. 224: 8, 202–209 (2012).
- 12. Andrasfalvy, B. Makara, J. Johnston, D. Magee, J. Altered Synaptic and nonsynaptic properties of CA1 pyramidal neurons in Kv4.2 knockout mice. *Journal of Physiology*. 586: 16, 3881 (2008).
- Antar, L. N., Dictenberg, J. B., M, P., Afroz, R. and Bassell, G. J. Localization of FMRP-associated mRNA granules and requirement of microtubules for activity-dependent trafficking in hippocampal neurons. *Genes, Brain* and Behavior. 4: 6, 350–359 (2005).
- Aronica, E. Boer, K. Doorn, K. Zurolo, E. Spliet, W. van Rijen, P. Baayen, J. Gorter, J. Jeromin, A. Expression and localization of voltage dependent potassium channel K4v.2 in epilepsy associated focal lesions. *Neurobiology of Disease*. 36: 1, 81-95 (2009).
- 15. Asaki C., Usuda N., Nakazawa A., Kametani K., Suzuki T. Localization of translational components at the ultramicroscopic level at postsynaptic sites of the rat brain. *Brain Research*. 972: 1-2, 168–176 (2003).
- Ascano, M. Mukherjee, N. Bandaru, P. Miller, J. Nusbaum, J. Langlois, C. Munschauer, M. Dewell, S. Hafner, M. Williams, Z, Ohler, U. and Tuschl, T. FMRP targets distinct mRNA sequence elements to regulate protein expression. *Nature*. 492: 7429, 382-386 (2012).
- Atkins, C. Nozaki, N. Shigeri, Y. and Thomas Soderling. Cytoplasmic polyadenylation element binding protein-dependent protein synthesis is regulated by calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II. *Journal of Neuroscience.* 24: 22, 5193-5201 (2004).

- 18. Attali, B. The somato-dendritic A-type K+ channel complex: a ménage à trois. *Frontiers in Neuroscience.* 3: 2, 158–159 (2009).
- Bailey, C. H., Kandel, E. R. and Harris, K. M. Structural Components of Synaptic Plasticity and Memory Consolidation. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology.* 7: 7, a021758 (2015).
- Banko, J. L. Merhave, M. Stern, E. Sonenberg, N. Rosenblum K., and Klann,
  E. Behavioral alterations in mice lacking the translation repressor 4E-BP2. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory.* 87: 2, 248–256 (2007).
- Bannerman, D. Good, M. Butcher, S. Ramsay, M. and Morris R. Distinct components of spatial learning revealed by prior training and NMDA receptor blockade. *Nature*. 378: 6553, 182-186 (1995).
- Barak, S. Liu, F., Hamida, S., Yowell, Q., Neasta, J., Kharazia, V., Janak, P., Ron, D. Disruption of alcohol-related memories by mTORC1 inhibition prevents relapse. *Nature.* 16: 8 1111-1117 (2013).
- 23. Bardoni, B. Schenck, A, and Mandel, J. NUFIP1 (nuclear FMRP interacting protein 1) is a nucleocytoplasmic shuttling protein associated with active synaptoneurosomes. *Experimental Cell Research.* 289: 1, 95–107 (2003).
- 24. Bardoni, B., Sittler, A., Shen, Y., and Mandel, J. Analysis of Domains Affecting Intracellular Localization of the FMRP Protein. *Neurobiology of Disease.* 4: 5, 329-336 (1997).
- Barnwell, L. Lugo, J. Lee, W. Willis, S. Gertz, S. Hrachovy, R. and Anderson, A. Kv4.2 knockout mice demonstrate increased susceptibility to convulsant stimulation. *Epilepsia*. 7: 7, 1741-1751 (2009).
- 26. Barria, A. and Malinow, R. Subunit-specific NMDA receptor trafficking to synapses. *Neuron.* 35: 2, 345–353 (2002).
- Barros, F, Dominguez, P. de la Pena, P. Cytoplasmic domains and voltagedenpendent potassium channel gating. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 3: 49 (2012).
- Bartley, C. M., O'Keefe, R. A. and Bordey, A. FMRP S499 Is Phosphorylated Independent of mTORC1-S6K1 Activity. *PLoS ONE.* 9: 5, e96956 (2014)
- 29. Bashir ZI, Alford S, Davies SN, Randall AD, Collingridge GL: Long-term potentiation of NMDA receptor-mediated synaptic transmission in the hippocampus. *Nature*. 349: 6305, 156–158 (1991).
- Becker, H. and Lopez, M. Increased ethanol drinking after repeated chronic ethanol exposure and withdrawal experience in C57BL/6 mice. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*. 28: 12, 1829-1838 (2004).
- Bekinschtein, P. Katche, C.Slipczuk, L.N. Igaz, L.M. Cammarota, M. Izquierdo, I., and Medina, J.H. mTOR signaling in the hippocampus is necessary for memory formation. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory.* 87: 2, 303–307 (2007).
- Bellot, A. Guivernau, M. Tajes, M. Bosch-Morató, V. Valls-Comamala, and F. J. Muñoz. The structure and function of actin cytoskeleton in mature glutamatergic dendritic spines. *Brain Research.* 1573: 21, 1–16 (2014).
- Benveniste, M. and Mayer, M. Kinetic analysis of antagonist action at Nmethyl-D-aspartic acid receptors. Two binding sites each for glutamate and glycine. *Biophysical Journal*. 59: 3, 560-573 (1991).
- Beresford, T. P. D. B. Arciniegas, J. Alfers, L. Clapp, B. Martin, Y. Du, D. Liu, D. Shen, and C. Davatzikos. Hippocampus Volume Loss Due to Chronic Heavy Drinking. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research.* 30: 11, 1866–1870 (2006).
- Bezerra, G. Dobrovetsy, E. Seitova, A. Fedosyuck, S. Dhe-Paganon, S. and Gruber, K. Structure of human dipeptidyl peptidase 10 (DPPY): a modulator of neuronal Kv4 channels. *Scientific Reports*. 5, 8769 1-9 (2015).
- Birnbaum, S. Varga, A. Yuan, L. Anderson, A. Sweatt, J. Schrader, L. Structure and function of Kv4-family transient potassium channels. *Physiological Reviews*. 84: 3, 803-833 (2004).

- Birnir, B. Selective increases of AMPA, NMDA, and kainate receptor subunit mRNAs in the hippocampus and orbitofrontal cortex but not in prefrontal cortex of human alcoholics. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*. 8:11, 1– 10 (2014).
- Bisby, J. A. J. A. King, V. Sulpizio, F. Degeilh, H. V. Curran, and N. Burgess. Extinction learning is slower, weaker, and less context specific after alcohol. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*. 125, 55-62 (2015).
- Blevins, T. Mirshahi, T. Chandler, L. and Woodward, J. Effects of acute and chronic ethanol exposure on hetermoeric N-methyl-D- aspartate receptors expressed in HEK 293 cells. *Journal of Neuroschemistry*. 69: 6, 2345-2354 (1997).
- Bliss T, Collingridge G, and Morris R: Synaptic plasticity in the hippocampus. In The Hippocampus Book. Edited by Andersen P, Morris R, Amaral D, Bliss T, O'Keefe J. New York: Oxford University Press; 343–474 (1977).
- 41. Bliss TV, and Collingridge GL: A synaptic model of memory: long-term potentiation in the hippocampus. *Nature*. 361: 6407, 31–39 (1993).
- 42. Bliss, T. and Lomo, T. Long-lasting potentiation of synaptic transmission in the dentate area of the anaesthetized rabbit following stimulation of the perforant pathway. *Journal of Physiology*. 232: 2, 331-356 (1973).
- Bolognani, F. and Perrone-Bizzozero, N. RNA-protein interactions and control of mRNA stability in neurons. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*. 86: 3, 481-489 (2008).
- Bongmba, O. Y. N., Martinez, L. A., Elhardt, M. E., Butler, K. and Tejada-Simon, M. V. Modulation of dendritic spines and synaptic function by Rac1: A possible link to Fragile X syndrome pathology. *Brain Research*. 1399: 5, 79–95 (2011).
- 45. Bouchery, E. E., Harwood, H. J., Sacks, J. J., Simon, C. J. and Brewer, R. D. Economic Costs of Excessive Alcohol Consumption in the U.S., 2006. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*. 41: 5, 516–524 (2011).

- Bowling, H. and Klann, E. Shaping Dendritic Spines in Autism Spectrum Disorder: mTORC1-Dependent Macroautophagy. *Neuron.* 83: 5, 994– 996 (2014).
- 47. Bramham, C. R. and Wells, D. G. Dendritic mRNA: transport, translation and function. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*. 8: 10, 776–789 (2007).
- Brami-Cherrier, K., Valjent, E., Garcia, M., Pages, C., Hipskind, R., and Caboche, J. Dopamine induces a PI3-Kinase independent activation of Akt in striatal neurons: A new route of cAMP response element-binding protein phosphorylation. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 22: 20, 8911-8921 (2002).
- 49. Brewster, A. L. Lugo, J., Vinit, P., Lee, W., Qian, Y., Vangegas, F., and Anderson, A. Rapamycin Reverses Status Epilepticus-Induced Memory Deficits and Dendritic Damage. *PLoS ONE.* 8: 3, e57808 (2013).
- Brigman, J. Wright, T. Talani, G. Prasad-Mulcare, S. Jinde, S. Seabold, G. Mathur, P. Davis, M. Bock, R. Gustin, R. Colbran, R. Alvarez, V. Nakazawa, K. Delpire, E. and Lovinger, D. Loss of GluN2B-containing NMDA receptors in CA1 hippocampus and cortex impairs long-term depression, reduces spine density, and disrupts learning. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 30: 13, 4590-4600 (2010).
- Brown, E. Beal, P. Keith, C. Chen, J. Shin, T. and Schreiber, S. Control of p70 S6 kinase by kinase activity of FRAP *in vivo*. *Nature Letters*. 377: 6548, 441-446 (1995).
- Browne, J. and Proud, G. A novel mTOR-regulated phosphorylation site in elongation factor 2 kinase modulates the activity of the kinase and its binding to calmodulin. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*. 24: 7, 2986– 2997 (2004).
- 53. Burnett, P. Barrow, R. Cohen, N. Snyder, S. Sabatini, D. RAFT1 phosphorylation of the translation regulators P70 S6 kinase and 4E-BP1. *PNAS*. 95: 4, 1432-1437 (1998).
- Buxbaum J. D., Choi E. K., Luo Y., Lilliehook C., Crowley A. C., Merriam D. E., Wasco W. Calsenilin. A calcium-binding protein that interacts with the presenilins and regulates the levels of a presenilin fragment. *Nature Medicine*. 4: 10, 1177–1181 (1998)

- 55. Caljigas, I. A. N. J., Will, T. and Schuman, E. M. Protein homeostasis and synaptic plasticity. *The EMBO Journal.* 29: 16, 2746–2752 (2010).
- 56. Calabrese, B. Wilson, M. and Halpain, S. Development and Regulation of Dendritic Spine Synapses. *Physiology.* 21: 1, 38–47 (2006).
- Callsen, B., Isbrandt, D., Sauter, K., Hartmann, L. S., Pongs, O., and Bähring, R. Contribution of N- and C-terminal Kv4.2 channel domains to KChIP interaction. *Journal of Physiology*. 568: 2, 397–412 (2005).
- 58. Camarini, R. Frussa-Filho, R. Monteiro, M. and Maria-Calil, H. MK-801 blocks the development of behavioral sensitization to ethanol. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*. 24: 3, 285-290 (2000).
- Cao, Y. Portela, M. Janikiewicz, J. Doig, J. and Abbott, C. Characterisation of translation eligation factor eEF1B subunit expression in mammalian cells and tissues and co-localization with eEF1A2. *PLOS One*. 9: 12, e114117 (2014).
- 60. Carpenter-Hyland, E. Woodward, J. and Chandler, L. Chronic ethanol induces synaptic but not extrasynaptic targeting of NMDA receptors. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 24: 36, 7859-7868 (2004).
- 61. Carpenter-Hyland, E. and Chandler, L. Homeostatic plasticity during alcohol exposure promotes enlargement of dendritic spines. *European Journal of Neuroscience*. 24: 12, 3496-3506 (2006).
- Carrasquillo, Y., Burkhalter, A. and Nerbonne, J. M. A-type K+ channels encoded by Kv4.2, Kv4.3 and Kv1.4 differentially regulate intrinsic excitability of cortical pyramidal neurons. *The Journal of Physiology*. 590: 16, 3877–3890 (2012).
- Carriere, A. Romeo, Y. Acosta-Jaquez, H. Moreau, J. Bonneil, J. Thibault, P. Fingar, D. and Roux, P. ERK1/2 phosphorylate raptor to promote Rasdependent activation of mTOR Complex 1 (mTORC1). *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 286: 1, 567-577 (2011).
- 64. Carrión A. M., Link W. A., Ledo F., Mellström B., and Naranjo J. R. DREAM is a Ca<sup>2+</sup>-regulated transcriptional repressor. *Nature*. 398: 6722, 80–84 (1999)

- Castets, M. Schaeffer, C. Bechara, E. Schenck, A. Khandjian, E. Luche, S. Moine, H. Rabilloud, T. Mandel, J. and Bardoni, B. FMRP interferes with the Rac1 pathway and controls actin cytoskeleton dynamics in murine fibroblasts. *Human Molecular Genetics.* 14: 6, 835-844 (2005).
- Castilla-Ortega, E. Blanco, E. Serrano, A. Ladron de Guevara-Miranda, D. Pedraz, M. Estivill-Torrus, G. Pavon, F. Rodriguez de Fonseca, F. Santin, L. Pharmacological reduction of adult hippocampal neurogenesis modifies functional brain circuits in mice exposed to a cocaine conditioned place preference paradigm. *Addiction Biology*. In Press (2015).
- 67. Chen, B. Brinkmann, K., Shi, S., Henry, L., Grishin, N.V., Bogdan, S., and Rosen, M.K. The WAVE Regulatory Complex Links Diverse Receptors to the Actin Cytoskeleton. *Cell* .156: 1-2, 195–207 (2014).
- 68. Chen, B.S. and Roche, K.W. Regulation of NMDA receptors by phosphorylation. *Neuropharmacology*. 53: 3, 362–368 (2007).
- Chen, E. and Joseph, S. Fragile X mental retardation protein: A paradigm for translational control by RNA-binding proteins. *Biochimie*. 114: 147–154 (2015).
- Chen, X. Yuan, L., Zhao, C., Birnbaum, S., Frick, A., Jung., W., Schwarz, T., Sweatt, J., and Johnston, D. Deletion of Kv4.2 Gene Eliminates Dendritic A-Type K+ Current and Enhances Induction of Long-Term Potentiation in Hippocampal CA1 Pyramidal Neurons. *Journal of Neuroscience.* 26: 47, 12143–12151 (2006).
- 71. Cheng, H. and Penninger, J. DREAMing about arthritic pain. *Annals of Rheumatoid Diseases*. 23: 2, ii72-ii75 (2004).
- Cheng, M. Pitcher, G. Laviolette, S. Whishaw, I. Tong, K. Kockeritz, L. Wada, T. Joza, N. Crackower, M. Goncalves, J. Sarosi, I. Woodgett, J. Oliveira-dos-Santos, A. Ikura, M. Kooy, D. Salter, M. Penninger, J. DREAM is a critical transcriptional repressor for pain modulation. *Cell*. 108: 1, 31-43 (2002).

- Cheung, Y. Maag, D. Mitchell, S. Fekete, C. Algire, M. Takacs, J. Shirokikh, N. Pestova, T. Lorsch, J. and Hinnebusch. Dissociation of eIF1 from the 40S ribosomal subunit is a key step in start codon selection in vivo. *Genes and Development*. 21: 1217-1230 (2007).
- 74. Ceman, S. Phosphorylation influences the translation state of FMRPassociated polyribosomes. *Human Molecular Genetics.* 12: 24, 3295– 3305 (2003).
- Cingolani, L. and Goda, Y. Actin in action: the interplay between the actin cytoskeleton and synaptic efficacy. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*. 9: 5, 344-356 (2008).
- 76. Clark, B. and Marcker, K. The role of N-formyl-methionyl-sRNA in protein biosynthesis. *Journal of Molecular Biology*. 17: 2, 394-406 (1966).
- 77. Colombo, B. Vesco, C. and Baglioni, C. Role of ribosomal subunits in protein synthesis in mammalian cells. *PNAS*. 61: 2, 651-658 (1968).
- Costa-Mattioli, M. Sossin, W. Klann, E. and Sonenberg, N. Translational control of long-lasting synaptic plasticity and memory. *Neuron*. 61: 1, 10-26 (2009).
- 79. Costigan, M. and Woolf, C. No DREAM, no pain: closing the spinal gate. *Cell*. 108: 3, 297-300 (2002).
- Craig, T. A. Benson, L. Venyaminov, S. Klimtchuk, E. Bajzer, Z. Prendergast, F. Naylor, S. and Kumar, R. The Metal-binding properties of DREAM. Evidence for calcium-mediated changes in DREAM structure. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 277: 13, 10955–10966 (2002).
- 81. Craig, T. A. Ramachandran, P. Bergen, H. Podratz, J. Windebank, A. and Kumar, R. The regulation of apoptosis by the downstream regulatory element antagonist modulator/potassium channel interacting protein 3 (DREAM/KChIP3) through interactions with hexokinase I. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications.* 433: 4, 508–512 (2013).
- 82. Czaplinski and Singer. Pathways for mRNA localization in the cytoplasm. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*. 31: 12, 687-693 (2006).

- Dahl, J. Wang-Dunlop, J. Gonzales, C. Goad, M. Mark, R. and Kwak, S. Characterization of the WAVE1 knock-out mouse: implications for CNS development. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 23: 8, 3343-3352 (2003).
- Darnell, J. C. Driesche, S., Zhang, C., Hung, K., Mele, A., Fraser, C., Stone, E., Chen, C., Fak, J., Chi, S., Licatalosi, D., Richter, J., Darnell, R. FMRP Stalls Ribosomal Translocation on mRNAs Linked to Synaptic Function and Autism. *Cell.* 146: 2, 247–261 (2011).
- 85. Darnell JC and Richter JD. Cytoplasmic RNA-binding proteins and the control of complex brain function. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology.* 4: 8, a012344 (2012)
- Darnell, J. C. and Klann, E. The translation of translational control by FMRP: therapeutic targets for FXS. *Nature Neuroscience*. 16: 11, 1530-1536 (2013).
- Davies, S.N. Lester, R.A. Reymann, K.G. and Collingridge, G.L. Temporally distinct pre- and post-synaptic mechanisms maintain long-term potentiation. *Nature*. 338: 6215, 500–503 (1989).
- Dawson, A. and Grant, F. Family history of alcoholism and gender: their comorbid effects on DSM-IV alcohol dependence and major depression. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs.* 59: 1, 97–106. 1998.
- Be Rubeis, S. and Bagni, C. Regulation of molecular pathways in the Fragile X Syndrome: insights into Autism Spectrum Disorders. *Journal of Developmental Disorders*. 3: 3, 257–269 (2011).
- Dever, T. and Green, R. The elongation, termination, and recycling phases of translation in eukaryotes. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*. 4: a013706 (2012).
- 91. Dibble, C. C. and Cantley, L. C. Regulation of mTORC1 by PI3K signaling. *Trends in Cell Biology.* 25: 9, 545- 555 (2015).
- Dictenberg, J. B., Swanger, S. A., Antar, L. N., Singer, R. H. and Bassell, G. J. A Direct Role for FMRP in Activity-Dependent Dendritic mRNA Transport Links Filopodial-Spine Morphogenesis to Fragile X Syndrome. *Developmental Cell.* 14: 6, 926–939 (2008).

- 93. Dieck, S. T., Hanus, C. and Schuman, E. M. SnapShot: Local Protein Translation in Dendrites. *Neuron.* 81: 4, 958–958.e1 (2014).
- Dierssen, M. Fedrizzi, L. Gomez-Villafuertes, R. Martinez de Lagran, M. Gutierrez-Adan, A. Sahun, I. Pintado, B. Oliverso, J. Dopazo, X. Gonzalez, P. Brini, M. Mellstrom, B. Carafoli, E. and Naranjo, J. Reduced Mid1 expression and delayed neuromotor development in daDREAM transgenic mice. *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience*. 5: 58, 1–9 (2012).
- 95. Dingledine, R. Borges, K., Bowie, D., and Traynelis, S. Glutamate receptor ion channels. *Pharmacological Review*. 51: 7, 7-62 (1999).
- 96. Dobrikov, M. Dobrikova, E. and Gromeier, M. Dynamic regulation of the translation of initiation helicase complex by mitogenic signaling transduction to eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4G. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*. 33: 5, 937-946 (2013).
- 97. Doench, J and Sharp, P. Specificity of microRNA target selection in translational repression. *Genes and Development*. 18: 504-511 (2004).
- 98. Dong-Gyu, J. Joo-Yong, L. Yeon-Mi, H. Sungmin, S. Inhee, M. Jae-Young, and Yong-Keun. Induction of pro-apoptotic calsenilin/DREAM/KChIP3 in Alzheimer-s disease and cultured neurons after amyloid-β exposure. *Journal of Neurochemistry*. 88: 3, 604-611 (2004).
- 99. Dresios, J. Chappell, S. Zhou, W. and Mauro, V. An mRNA-rRNA basepairing mechanism for translation initiation in eukaryotes. *Nature: Structural and Molecular Biology*. 13: 1, 30-34 (2006).
- 100. Du, X., Elberger, A. J., Matthews, D. B. and Hamre, K. M. Heterozygous deletion of NR1 subunit of the NMDA receptor alters ethanol-related behaviors and regional expression of NR2 subunits in the brain. *Neurotoxicology and Teratology*. 34: 1, 177-186 (2011).
- 101. Duka, T. Gentry, J. Malcolm, R. Ripley, T. Borlikova, G. Stephens, D. Veatch, L. Becker, H. Crews, F. Consequences of multiple withdrawals from alcohol. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*. 28: 2, 233-246 (2004).

- Eadie, B. D., Cushman, J., Kannangara, T. S., Fanselow, M. S. and Christie, B. R. NMDA receptor hypofunction in the dentate gyrus and impaired context discrimination in adult Fmr1 knockout mice. *Hippocampus.* 22: 2 241–254 (2010).
- 103. Eden, S. Rohatgi, R. Podtelejnikov, A, Mann, M. and Kirschner, M. Mechanism of regulation of WAVE1-induced actin nucleation by Rac1 and Nck. *Nature*. 418: 6899, 790-793 (2002).
- 104. Ehlers, M.D., Tingley, W.G., and Huganir, R.L. Regulated subcellular distribution of the NR1 subunit of the NMDA receptor. *Science.* 269: 5231, 1734–1737 (1995).
- 105. Emptage N, Bliss T.V, and Fine A. Single synaptic events evoke NMDA receptor- mediated release of calcium from internal stores in hippocampal dendritic spines. *Neuron*. 22: 1, 115–124 (1999).
- 106. Engert, F. and Bonhoeffer, T. Dendritic spine changes associated with hippocampal long-term synaptic plasticity. *Nature*. 399: 6731, 66-70 (1999).
- 107. Enoch, M.A. Zhifeng, Z., Kimuar, M. Mash, D.C., Yuan, Q., and Goldman, D. GABAergic Gene Expression in Postmortem Hippocampus from Alcoholics and Cocaine Addicts; Corresponding Findings in Alcohol-Naïve P and NP Rats. *PLoS One*. 7: 1, e29369 (2012).
- 108. Erzberger, J. Stengel, F. Pellarian, R. Zhang, S. Schaefer, T. Aylett, C. Cimermancic, P. Boehringer, D. Sali, A. Aebersold, R. and Ban, N. Molecular architecture of the 40S-eIF1-eIF3 translation initiation complex. *Cell*. 158: 5, 1123-1135 (2014).
- 109. Fadda and Rossetti. Chronic ethanol consumption: from neuroadaptation to neurodegeneration. *Progress in Neurobiology*. 566: 4, 385-431 (1998).
- 110. Fan, Y. Liu, Y. Xue, L. Gu, G. Fan, W. Xu, Y. and Ding, Z. Diet-induced obesity in male C57BL/6 mice decreases fertility as a consequence of disrupted blood barrier. *PLoS One*. 10: 4, e0120775 (2015).

- 111. Fenton, T. R. and Gout, I. T. Functions and regulation of the 70kDa ribosomal S6 kinases. *International Journal of Biochemistry and Cell Biology.* 43: 1, 47–59 (2011).
- 112. Fernandez, E. and Bagni, C. The FMRP regulon: from targets to disease convergence. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*. 7: 191 (2013).
- 113. Fleming, J. and England, P. AMPA receptors and synaptic plasticity: a chemist's perspective. *Nature Chemical Biology*. 6: 2, 89-97 (2010).
- 114. Flint, A.C., Maisch, U.S., Weishaupt, J.H., Kriegstein, A.R., and Monyer, H. NR2A subunit expression shortens NMDA receptor synaptic currents in developing neocortex. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 17: 7, 2469–2476 (1997).
- 115. Follesa, P. and Ticku, M. Chronic ethanol-mediated up-regulation of the Nmethyl-D-aspartate receptor polypeptide subunits in mouse cortical neurons in culture. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 271: 23, 13297-13299 (1996).
- 116. Fong, D.K., Rao, A., Crump, F.T., Craig, A.M. Rapid synaptic remodeling by protein kinase C: reciprocal translocation of NMDA receptors and calcium/calmodulin- dependent kinase II. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 22: 6, 2153–2164 (2002).
- 117. Fontan-Lozano, A. Romerao-Granados, R. del-Pozo-Martin, Y. Suarez-Pereira, I. Delgado-Garcia, J. Penninger, J. and Carrion, A. Lack of DREAM protein enhances learning and memory and slows brain aging. *Current Biology*. 19: 1, 54-60 (2009).
- 118. Frey, S., Bergado-Rosado, J., Seidenbecher, T., Pape, H., and Frey, J. Reinforcement of early long-term potentiation (early LTP) in the dentate gyrus by stimulation of the basolateral amygdala: heterosynaptic induction mechanisms of late-LTP. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 12: 10, 3697-3703 (2001).
- 119. Fukazawa, Y., Saitoh, Y., Ozawa, F., Mizuno, K., and Inokunchi, K. Hippocampal LTP is accompanied by enhanced F-actin content within the dendritic spine that is essential for late phase LTP maintenance in vivo. *Neuron*. 3: 3, 447-460 (2003).

- 120. Gass, J. and Olive, M. Glutamatergic substrates of drug addiction and alcoholism. *Biochemical Pharmacology*. 75; 1, 218-265 (2008).
- 121. Gal-Ben-Ari, S. Kenney, J.W., Ounalla-Saad, H., Taha, E., David, O., Levitan, D., Gildish, I., Panja, D., Pai, B., Wibrand, K., Simpson, T.I., Proud, C.G., Bramham, C. R., Armstrong, J.D. and Rosenbluem, K. Consolidation and translation regulation. *Learning and Memory.* 19: 410–422 (2012).
- 122. Gamalinda, M. Ohmayer, U. Jakovljevic, J. Kumcuoglu, B. Woolford, J. Mbdom, B. Lin, L. and Woolford, J. A hierarchical model for assembly of eukaryotic 60S ribosomal subunit domains. *Genes and Development*. 28: 198-210 (2014).
- 123. Gardiol, A. Racca, C. and Triller, A. Dendritic and postsynaptic protein synthetic machinery. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 19: 1, 168-179 (1999).
- 124. Giese, K. Fedorvo, N. Filipkowski, R. and Silva, A. Autophosphorylation at Thr286 of alpha calcium-calmodulin kinase II in LTP and learning. *Science*. 279: 5352, 870-873 (1998).
- 125. Gingras, A., Raught, B. and Sonenberg, N. Regulation of translation initiation by FRAP/mTOR. *Genes and Development.* 15: 807-826 (2001).
- 126. Gkogkas, C. Khoutorsky, A. Rampakakis, E. Nevarko, T. Weatherill, C. Vasuta, S. Yee, M. Truitt, M. and Dallaire, P. Autism-related deficits via dysregulated eIF4E-dependent translational control. *Nature*. 493: 7432, 371-377 (2013).
- 127. Gladding, C. M. and Raymond, L. A. Mechanisms underlying NMDA receptor synaptic/extrasynaptic distribution and function. *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience*. 48: 4, 308–320 (2011).
- 128. Glisovic, T. Bachorik, J. Yong, J. and Dreyfuss, G. RNA-binding proteins and post-transcriptional gene regulation. *FEBS Letters*. 14: 18, 1977-1986 (2008).
- 129. Gnegy, M. Ca<sup>2+</sup>/ calmodulin signaling in NMDA-induced synaptic plasticity. *Critical Reviews in Neurobiology*. 14: 2, 91-129 (2000).

- 130. Goebel-Goody, S.M., Davies, K.D., Alvestad Linger, R.M., Freund, R.K., Browning, M.D. Phospho-regulation of synaptic and extrasynaptic Nmethyl-D-aspartate receptors in adult hippocampal slices. *Neuroscience.* 158: 4, 1446–1459 (2009).
- 131. Goetzel, R.Z., Hawkins, K., Ozminkowski, R.J. The health and productivity cost burden of the "top 10" physical and mental conditions affecting six large U.S. employers in 1999. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*. 45: 1, 5–14 (2003)
- 132. Gong, R., Park, C. S., Abbassi, N. R. & Tang, S. J. Roles of Glutamate Receptors and the Mammalian Target of Rapamycin (mTOR) Signaling Pathway in Activity-dependent Dendritic Protein Synthesis in Hippocampal Neurons. *Journal of Biological Chemistry.* 281: 27, 18802–18815 (2006)
- 133. Govindarajan, A. Israely, I. Huang, S. and Tonegawa, S. The dendritic branch is the preferred integrative unit for protein synthesis-dependent LTP. *Neuron*. 69: 1, 132-146 (2011).
- 134. Grant, B.F. Estimates of U.S. children exposed to alcohol abuse and dependence in the family. *American Journal of Public Health*. 90: 1, 112–115 (2000).
- 135. Grant, B. F., Dawson, D.A., Stinson, F.S., Stinson, F.S., Chou, S.P., Dufour, M.C. and Pickering R.P. The 12-month prevalence and trends in DSM-IV alcohol abuse and dependence: United States, 1991–1992 and 2001–2002. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*. 74: 3, 223–234 (2004).
- 136. Griffin, W. Haun, H. Hazelbaker, C. Ramachandra, V. and Becker, H. Increased extracellular glutamate in the nucleus accumbens promotes excessive ethanol drinking in ethanol-dependent mice. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. 39: 3, 707-717 (2014).
- 137. Groc, L., Heine, M., Cousins, S.L., Stephenson, F.A., Lounis, B., Cognet, L., and Choquet, D. NMDA receptor surface mobility depends on NR2A-2B subunits. *PNAS*. 103: 49, 18769–18774 (2006).

- 138. Groc, L., Choquet, D., Stephenson, F.A., Verrier, D., Manzoni, O.J., and Chavis, P. NMDA receptor surface trafficking and synaptic subunit composition are developmentally regulated by the extracellular matrix protein Reelin. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 27: 38, 10165–10175 (2007).
- 139. Groc, L., Bard, L., and Choquet, D. Surface trafficking of N-methyl-Daspartate receptors: physiological and pathological perspectives. *Neuroscience.* 158: 1, 4–18 (2009).
- 140. Gross, C., Yao, X., Pong, D. L., Jeromin, A. and Bassell, G. J. Fragile X Mental Retardation Protein Regulates Protein Expression and mRNA Translation of the Potassium Channel Kv4.2. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 31: 15, 5693–5698 (2011).
- 141. Grosshans, D. R., Clayton, D. A., Coultrap, S. J. and Browning, M. D. LTP leads to rapid surface expression of NMDA but not AMPA receptors in adult rat CA1. *Nature Neuroscience*. 5: 1, 27–33 (2001).
- 142. Gulick, D., and Gould, T. J. Acute ethanol has biphasic effects on short- and long-term memory in both foreground and background contextual fear conditioning in C57BL/6 mice. *Alcohol, Clinical and Experimental Research.* 31: 9, 1528–1537 (2007).
- 143. Haft, R. J. F. Keating, D.H., Schwaegler, M.S., Vinkur, J., Tremaine, M., Peters, J.M., Kotlajich, M.V., Pohlmann, E.L., Ong, I.M., Grass, J.M., and Landick, R. Correcting direct effects of ethanol on translation and transcription machinery confers ethanol tolerance in bacteria. *PNAS*. 111: 25, E2576–E2585 (2014).
- 144. Hagerman, P and Stafstorm, C. Origins of epilepsy in fragile X syndrome. *Current Review in Basic Science.* 9: 4, 108-112 (2009).
- 145. Hall, W. and Zador, D. The alcohol withdrawal syndrome. *The Lancet*, 349: 9069, 1897-1900 (1997).
- 146. Hammond, R. S., Lin, L., Sidorov, M. S., Wikenheiser, A. M. and Hoffman, D. A. Protein Kinase A Mediates Activity-Dependent Kv4.2 Channel Trafficking. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 28: 30, 7513–7519 (2008).

- 147. Han, K. Chen, H. Gennarino, V. Richman, R. Lu, H. and Zoghbi, H. Fragile X-like behaviors and abnormal cortical dendritic spines in cytoplasmic FMR1-interactin protein 2-mutant mice. *Human Molecular Genetics*. 24: 7, 1813-1823 (2015).
- 148. Han, W. Nattel, S. Noguchi, T. and Shrier, A. C-terminal domain of Kv4.2 and associated KChIP2 interactions regulate functional expression and gating of Kv4.2. *Journal of Biological Chemistry.* 281: 37, 27134-27144 (2006).
- 149. Hanse, E. and Gustafsson, B. Long-term potentiation and field EPSPs in the lateral and medial perforant paths in the dentate gyrus in vitro: a comparison. *European Journal of Neuroscience*. 4: 11, 1191-1201 (1992).
- 150. Hansen, K. B., Ogden, K. K., Yuan, H. and Traynelis, S. F. Distinct Functional and Pharmacological Properties of Triheteromeric GluN1/GluN2A/GluN2B NMDA Receptors. *Neuron.* 81: 5, 1084–1096 (2014).
- 151. Hara, K. Yonezawa, K. Kozlowski, M. Sugimoto, T. Andrabi, K. Weng, Q, Kasuga, M. Nishimoto, I. Avruch, J. Regulation of eIF-4E BP1 phosphorylation by mTOR. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 272: 42, 26457-26463 (1997).
- 152. Hara, K. Yonezawa, K. Weng, Q. Kozlowski, M. Belham, C. and Avruch, J. Amino acid sufficiency and mTOR regulate p70 S6 kinase and eIF-4E BP1 through common effector mechanism. *Journal Biological Chemistry*. 273: 23, 14484-14494 (1998).
- 153. Heraud-Farlow, J. and Kiebler, M. The multifunctional Staufen proteins: conserved roles from neurogenesis to synaptic plasticity. *Trends in Neuroscience*. 37: 9, 470-479 (2014).
- 154. Harvey, J. and Collingridge, G. Thapsigargin blocks the induction of longterm potentiation in rat hippocampal slices. *Neuroscience Letters*. 139: 2, 197-200 (1992).
- 155. Hawkins, L. M. Prybylowski, K. Chang, K. Moussan, C. Stephenson, F.A. and Wenthold, R. Export from the Endoplasmic Reticulum of Assembled N-Methyl-D-aspartic Acid Receptors Is Controlled by a Motif

in the C Terminus of the NR2 Subunit. *Journal of Biological Chemistry.* 279: 28, 28903–28910 (2004).

- 156. Hayashi, Y, Shi, S., Estban, J., Piccini, A., Poncer, J., and Malinow, R. Driving AMPA receptors into synapses by LTP and CaMKII: requiprement for GluR1 and PDZ domain interaction, *Science*. 287: 5461, 2262-2267 (2000).
- 157. Hayashi-Takagi, A. Takaki, M. Graziane, N. Seshadri, S. Murdoch, H. Dunlop, A. Makino, Y. Sheshadria, A. Ishizuka, K. Srivastava, P. Xie, Z, Baraban, J. Houslay, M. and Tomoda, T. Brandon, N. Kamiya, A. Yan, Z. Penzes, P. and Sawa, A. Disrupted-in-Schizophrenia 1 (DISC1) regulates spines of the glutamate synapse via Rac1. *Nature Neuroscience*. 13: 3, 327-332 (2010).
- 158. Heise, C. Gardoni, F. Culotta, L. di Luca, M. Verpelli, C. and Sala, C. Elongation factor-2 phosphorylation in dendrites and the regulation of dendritic mRNA translation in neurons. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*. 8: 35 (2014).
- 159. Heinz, A. Beck, A. Grusser, S. Grace, A. Wrase, J. Identifying the neural circuitry of alcohol craving and relapse vulnerability. *Addiction Biology*. 14: 1, 108-118 (2009).
- 160. Hendricson, A. W. Maldve, R.E., Salinas, A.G., Theile, J.W., Zhang, T.A., Diaz, L.M., and Morrisett, R.A. Aberrant Synaptic Activation of N-Methyl-D-aspartate Receptors Underlies Ethanol Withdrawal Hyperexcitability. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics.* 321: 1, 60–72 (2007).
- 161. Hendrickson, A, Sibbald, J., and Morrisett, R. Ethanol alters the frequency, amplitude, and decay kinetics of Sr<sup>2+</sup>- supported, asynchronous NMDA mEPSCs in rat hippocampal slices. *Journal of Neurophysiology*. 91: 6, 2568-2577 (2004).
- 162. Henry, F. E. A Fragile Balance at Synapses: New Evidence Supporting a Role for FMRP in Homeostatic Plasticity. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 31: 18, 6617–6619 (2011).

- 163. Herrera, D. Yague, A. Johnsen-Soriano, S. Bosch-Morell, F. Collado-Morente, L. Muriach, M. Romero, F. and Garcia-Verdugo, J. Selective impairment of hippocampal neurogenesis by chronic alcoholism: protective effects of an antioxidant. *PNAS*. 100: 13, 7919-7924 (2003).
- 164. Hill, T. C. and Zito, K. LTP-Induced Long-Term Stabilization of Individual Nascent Dendritic Spines. *Journal of Neuroscience.* 33: 2, 678–686 (2013).
- 165. Hinnebusch, A. eIF3: a versatile scaffold for translation initiation complexes. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*. 31: 10, 553-562 (2006).
- 166. Hinnebusch, A. and Lorsch, J. The mechanism of eukaryotic translation initiation: New insights and challenges. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*. 26: 4, 1355-1372 (2012).
- 167. Hoeffer, C. A. Sanchez, E., Hagerman, R.J., Mu, Y., Nguygen, D.V., Wong, H., Whelan, A.M., Zukin, R.S., Klann, E., and Tassone, F. Altered mTOR signaling and enhanced CYFIP2 expression levels in subjects with fragile X syndrome. *Genes Brain and Behavior.* 11: 3, 332–341 (2012).
- 168. Hoeffer, C. Santini, E. Ma, T. Arnold, E. Whelan, A. Wong, H. Pierre, P. Pelletier, J. and Klann, E. Multiple components of eIF4F are required for protein synthesis-dependent hippocampal long-term potentiation. *Journal of Neurophysiology*. 109: 1, 68-76 (2013).
- 169. Holland, E. C., Sonenberg, N., Pandolfi, P. P. and Thomas, G. Signaling control of mRNA translation in cancer pathogenesis. *Oncogene.* 23: 18, 3138–3144 (2004).
- 170. Holopainen, I. E. Organotypic Hippocampal Slice Cultures: A Model System to Study Basic Cellular and Molecular Mechanisms of Neuronal Cell Death, Neuroprotection, and Synaptic Plasticity. *Neurochemical Research.* 30: 12, 1521–1528 (2005).
- 171. Holt C., and Bullock S. Subcellular mRNA localization in animal cells and why it matters. *Science.* 326: 5957, 1212–1216 (2009).

- 172. Holt, C. and Schuman, E. The central dogma decentralized: New perspectives on RNA function and local translation in neurons. *Neuron*. 80: 3, 648-657 (2013).
- 173. Holz, M. K., Ballif, B. A., Gygi, S. P. and Blenis, J. mTOR and S6K1 Mediate Assembly of the Translation Preinitiation Complex through Dynamic Protein Interchange and Ordered Phosphorylation Events. *Cell.* 123: 4, 569–580 (2005).
- 174. Hong, Y. Reduced expression of calsenilin/DREAM/KChIP3 in the brains of kainic acid-induced seizure and epilepsy patients. *Neuroscience Letters*. 340: 1, 33–36 (2003).
- 175. Hopkins, W. F., Demas, V., and Tempel, B. L.Both N- and C-terminal regions contribute to the assembly and functional expression of homoand heteromultimeric voltage-gated K+ channels. *Journal of Neuroscience.* 14: 3, 1385–1393 (1994).
- 176. Hsia, A.Y., Malenka, R.C., and Nicoll, R. Development of excitatory circuitry in the hippocampus. *Journal of Neurophysiology.* 79: 4, 2013–2024, (1998).
- 177. Hume, R., Dingledine, R., Heinemann, S. Identification of a site in glutamate receptor subunits that controls calcium permeability. *Science*. 253: 5023, 1028-1031 (1991).
- 178. Hussain, T. Llacer, J. Fernandez, I. Munoz, A. Martin-Marcos, P. Savva, C. Lorsch, J. Hinnebusch, A. and Ramakrishnan, V. Structural changes enable start codon recognition by eukaryotic translation initiation complex. *Cell.* 159: 3, 597-607 (2014).
- 179. Im H. I., Nakajima A., Gong B., Xiong X., Mamiya T., Gershon E. Posttraining dephosphorylation of eEF-2 promotes protein synthesis for memory consolidation. *PLoS One* 4: 10, e7424 (2009)
- 180. Innocenti, M. Zucconi, A. Disanza, A. Frittoli, E. Areces, L. Steffen, A. Stradal, T. Di Fore, P. Carlier, M. and Scita, G. Abi1 is essential for the formation and activation of a WAVE2 signalling complex. *Nature Cell Biology*. 6: 4, 319-327 (2004).

- 181. Ivanov, A., Pellegrino, C., Rama, S., Dumalska, I., Salyha, Y., Ben-Ari, Y., and Medina, I. Opposing role of synaptic and extrasynaptic NMDA receptors in regulation of the extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK) activity in cultured rat hippocampal neurons. *Journal of Physiology*. 572: 3, 789–798 (2006).
- 182. Jefferies, H. Fumagalli, S. Dennis, P. Reinhard, C. Pearson, R. and Thomas, G. Rapamycin suppresses 5'TOP mRNA translation through inhibition of p70 S6K. *EMBO Journal*. 16: 12, 3693-3704 (1997).
- 183. Jeon, S. H, Yang, S., Choi, J., Kwon, K., Park, S., Kim, H., Cheong, J., Ryu, J., Ho Ko, K, Wells, D., and Shin, C. Positive feedback regulation of Akt-FMRP pathway protects neurons from cell death. *Journal of Neurochemistry.* 123: 2, 226–238 (2012).
- 184. Jerng, H. H., Pfaffinger, P. J., and Covarrubias, M. Molecular physiology and modulation of somatodendritic A-type potassium channels. *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience*. 27: 4, 343–369 (2004).
- 185. Johnston, D. Williams, S. Jaffe, D. and Gray, R. NMDA-receptor independent LTP. *Annual Review of Physiology*. 54: 489-505 (1992).
- 186. Jung, S.C., Kim, J. and Hoffman, D. A. Rapid, Bidirectional Remodeling of Synaptic NMDA Receptor Subunit Composition by A-type K+ Channel Activity in Hippocampal CA1 Pyramidal Neurons. *Neuron.* 60: 4, 657– 671 (2008).
- 187. Kahvejian, A. Svitkin, Y. Sukarieh, R. Boutchou, M. and Sonenberg, N. Mammalian poly(A)-binding protein is a eukaryotic translation initiation factor, which acts via multiple mechanisms. *Genes and Development*. 19: 104-113 (2005).
- 188. Kang, H. and Schuman, E. A requirement for local protein synthesis in neurotrophin-induced hippocampal synaptic plasticity. *Science*. 273: 5280, 1402-1406 (1996)
- 189. Kanai, Y. Dohmae, N. and Hirokawa, N. Kinesin transports RNA: isolation and characterization of an RNA-transporting granule. *Neuron*. 43: 4, 513-525 (2004).

- 190. Kapp, L. and Lorsch J. The molecular mechanisms of eukaryotic translation. Annual Review in Biochemistry. 73: 657-704 (2004).
- 191. Kasai, H., Matsuzaki, M., Noguchi, J., Yasumatsu, N. and Nakahara, H. Structure-stability-function relationships of dendritic spines. *Trends in Neuroscience*. 26: 7, 360–368 (2003).
- 192. Kaufmann, W. A., Matsui, K., Jeromin, A., Nerbonne, J. M. and Ferraguti, F. Kv4.2 potassium channels segregate to extrasynaptic domains and influence intrasynaptic NMDA receptor NR2B subunit expression. *Brain Structure and Function.* 218: 5, 1115–1132 (2012).
- 193. Keinanen, K., Wisden, W., Sommer, B., Wener, P., Herb, A, Verdoorn, T., Sakmann, B., Seeburg, P. A family of AMPA-selective glutamate receptors. *Science*. 249: 3, 556-560 (1990).
- 194. Kerti, K., Lorincz, A. and Nusser, Z. Unique somato-dendritic distribution pattern of Kv4.2 channels on hippocampal CA1 pyramidal cells. *European Journal of Neuroscience* 35: 66–75 (2012).
- 195. Kim, C. and Lisman, J. A role of actin filament in synaptic transmission and long-term potentiation. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 19: 11, 4314-1324 (1999).
- 196. Kim, D. Sarbassov, D. Ali, S. King, J. Latek, R. Erdjument-Bromage, H. Tempst, P. and Sabatini, D. mTOR interacts with raptor to form a nutrient-sensitive complex that signals to the cell growth machinery. *Cell*, 110, 2 (2002).
- 197. Kim, J. and Jung, M. Neural circuits and mechanisms involved in Pavlovian conditioning: A critical review. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*: 30: 2, 188-202 (2006).
- 198. Kim, J., Jung, S.-C., Clemens, A. M., Petralia, R. S. and Hoffman, D. A. Regulation of Dendritic Excitability by Activity-Dependent Trafficking of the A-Type K+ Channel Subunit Kv4.2 in Hippocampal Neurons. *Neuron.* 54: 6, 933–947 (2007).

- 199. Kim, M., Dunah, A., Wang, T., and Sheng, M. Differential roles of NR2Aand NR2B- containing NMDA receptors in Ras-ERK signaling and AMPA trafficking. *Neuron.* 46: 5, 745-760 (2005).
- 200. Kim, S. H. Fragile X Mental Retardation Protein Shifts between Polyribosomes and Stress Granules after Neuronal Injury by Arsenite Stress or In Vivo Hippocampal Electrode Insertion. *Journal of Neuroscience.* 26: 9, 2413–2418 (2006).
- 201. Kim, T. K. Sul, J., Helmfors, H., Langel, U., Kim, J., and Eberwine, J. Dendritic Glutamate Receptor mRNAs Show Contingent Local Hotspot-Dependent Translational Dynamics. *Cell Reports.* 5: 114–125 (2013).
- 202. Kim, Y. Sung, J. Ceglia, I. Lee, K. Ahn, J. Halford, J. Kim, A. Kwak, S. Park, J. Ryu, S. Schenck, A. Bardoni, B. Scott, J. Nairn, A. and Greengard, P. Phosphorylation of WAVE1 regulates actin polymerization and dendritic spine morphology. *Nature*. 442: 7104, 814-817 (2006).
- 203. Kitazawa, M. Kubo, Y. Nakajo,K. Kv4.2 and accessory dipeptidyl peptidaselike protein 10 (DPP10) subunit preferentially form 4:2 (Kv4.2:DPP10) channel complex. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, in press (2015).
- 204. Klann, E. Translational control of synaptic plasticity and learning and memory. Edited by: Richter, J. *Translational Control in Biology and Medicine*. Cold Spring Harbor Press. 485-506 (2007).
- 205. Knauf, U. Tschopp, C. and Gram, H. Negative regulation of protein translation by mitogen-activated protein kinase-interaction kinases 1 and 2. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*. 21: 16, 5500-5511 (2001).
- 206. Knierim, J. Dynamic Interactions Between Local Surface Cues, Distal Landmarks, and Intrinsic Circuitry in Hippocampal Place Cells. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 22: 14, 6254-6256 (2002).
- 207. Korkotian, E., Bombela, T., Odegova, T., Zubov, P. and Segal, M. Ethanol Affects Network Activity in Cultured Rat Hippocampus: Mediation by Potassium Channels. *PLoS ONE.* 8: 11, e75988 (2013).

- 208. Kleykamp, B., Griffiths, R., & Mintzer, M. Dose effects of triazolam and alcohol on cognitive performance in healthy volunteers. *Experimental & Clinical Psychopharmacology*. 18: 1, 1–16 (2010).
- 209. Koh, D., Geiger, J., Jonas, P., Sakmann, B. Ca(2+)-permeable AMPA and NMDA receptor channels in basket cells in the hippocampal dentate gyrus. *Journal of Physiology*. 485: 2, 383-402 (1995).
- 210. Korostelev, A. A deeper look into translation initiation. *Cell*. 159: 3, 475-476 (2014).
- 211. Kroenke, C. Rohfling, T. Park, B. Sullivan, E. Pfefferbaum, A. and Grant, K. Monkeys that voluntarily and chronically drink alcohol damage their brains: a longitudinal MRI study. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. 39: 4, 823-830 (2014).
- 212. Krueger, D. and Bear, M. Toward fulfilling the promise of molecular medicine in fragile X syndrome. *Annual Reviews in Medicine*. 62: 411-429 (2011).
- 213. Krug, M., Lossner, B. and Ott, T. Anisomycin blocks the late phase of longterm potentiation in the dentate gyrus of freely moving rats. *Brain Research Bulletin*. 13: 1, 39–42 (1984).
- 214. Kullmann DM and Nicoll RA: Long-term potentiation is associated with increases in quantal content and quantal amplitude. *Nature*. 357: 6375, 177-260 (1992).
- 215. Kumar, V. Kim, K. Joseph, C. Kourrich, S. Yoo, S. Huang, H. Vitaterna, M. Pardo-Manuel de Villena, F. Churchill, G. Bonci, A. and Takahashi, J. C57BL/6N mutation in *cytoplasmic FMRP interacting protein 2* regulates cocaine response. *Science*. 342: 6165, 1508-1512 (2013).
- 216. Kumari, M. and Ticku, M. Regulation of NMDARs by ethanol. *Progress in Drug Research*, 54: 151-189 (2000).
- 217. Kuner, T., Wollmuth, L., Karlin, A., Seeburg, P., Sakmann, B. Structure of the NMDA receptor channel M2 segment inferred from accessibility of substituted cysteines. *Neuron*. 2: 17, 343-352 (1996).

- 218. Kunjilwar K, Strang C, DeRubeis D, Pfaffinger PJ. KChIP3 rescues the functional expression of Shal channel tetramerization mutants. *Journal of Biological Chemistry.* 279: 52, 54542-54551 (2004).
- 219. Kunjilwar, K., Qian, Y. and Pfaffinger, P. J. Functional stoichiometry underlying KChIP regulation of Kv4.2 functional expression. *Journal of Neurochemistry.* 126: 4, 462-472 (2013).
- 220. Kurth, C. Wegerer, V. Reulbach, U. Lewczuk, P. Kornhuber, J. Steinhoff, B. Bleich, S. Analysis of hippocampal atrophy in alcoholic patients by a Kohonen feature map. *NeuroReport*. 15: 2, 367-371 (2004).
- 221. Labno, A., Warrier, A., Wang, S. and Zhang, X. Local Plasticity of Dendritic Excitability Can Be Autonomous of Synaptic Plasticity and Regulated by Activity-Based Phosphorylation of Kv4.2. *PLoS ONE.* 9: e84086 (2014).
- 222. Lamprecht, R. The actin cytoskeleton in memory formation. *Progress in Neurobiology* .117: 1–19 (2014).
- 223. Laggerbauer, B. Ostareck, D. Keidel, E. Ostareck-Lederer, A. and Fischer, U. Evidence that fragile X mental retardation protein is a negative regulator of translation. *Human Molecular Genetics*. 10: 4, 329-338 (2001).
- 224. Lau, C. G. and Zukin, R. S. NMDA receptor trafficking in synaptic plasticity and neuropsychiatric disorders. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience.* 8: 6, 413–426 (2007).
- 225. Lauri SE, Palmer M, Segerstrale M, Vesikansa A, Taira T, Collingridge GL: Presynaptic mechanisms involved in the expression of STP and LTP at CA1 synapses in the hippocampus. *Neuropharmacology*. 52: 1, 1–11 (2007).
- 226. Le, H. Browning, K. and Gallie, D. The phosphorylation state of poly(A)binding protein specifies its binding to poly(A)RNA and its interaction with eukaryotic initiation factor (eIF) 4F, eIFiso4E, and eIF4B. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 275: 33, 17452-17462 (2000).

- 227. Lebeau, G. DesGroseillers, L. Sossin, W. Lacaille, J. mRNA binding protein staufen 1-dependent regulation of pyramidal cell spline morphology via NMDA receptor-mediated synaptic plasticity. *Molecular Brain*. 4: 22 (2011).
- 228. Lee, J. Kim, I., Oh, S., Ko, S., Lim, M., Kim, D., Kim, C. Regulation of DREAM Expression by Group I mGluR. *Korean Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology.* 15: 2, 95-100 (2011).
- 229. Lee S-JR, Escobedo-Lozoya Y, Szatmari EM, Yasuda R: Activation of CaMKII in single dendritic spines during long-term potentiation. *Nature*. 458: 7236, 299–304 (2009).
- 230. Lee, H. Ge, W. Huang, W. He, Y. Wang, G. Rowson-Baldwin, A. Smith, S. Jan, Y. and Jan. L. Bidirectional regulation of dendritic voltage-gated potassium channels by the fragile X mental retardation protein. *Neuron*. 72: 4, 630-642 (2011).
- Lei, Z., Deng, P. and Xu, Z. C. Regulation of Kv4.2 channels by glutamate in cultured hippocampal neurons. *Journal Neurochemistry*. 106: 1, 182– 192 (2008).
- 232. Lei, Z., Deng, P., Li, Y. and Xu, Z. C. Downregulation of Kv4.2 channels mediated by NR2B-containing NMDA receptors in cultured hippocampal neurons. *Neuroscience*. 165: 2, 350–362 (2010).
- 233. Leissring, M. Yamasaki, T. Wasco, W. Buxbaum, J. Park, I. and LaFerla, F. Calsenilin reverses presenilin-mediated enhancement of calcium signaling. *PNAS.* 97: 15, 8590-8593 (2000).
- 234. Lenz G. and Avruch J. Glutamatergic regulation of the p70S6 kinase in primary mouse neurons. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 280: 38121–38124 (2005).
- 235. Leung, Y.-M. Voltage-gated K+- channels as neuroprotective agents. *Life Sciences.* 86: 21-22, 775–780 (2010).
- 236. Levy, S. Avni, D. Hariharan, N. Perry, R. Meyuhas, O. Oligopyrimidine tract at the 5' end of mammalian ribosomal protein mTNAs is required for their translational control. *PNAS*. 88: 8, 3319-3323 (1991).

- 237. Levy, W. and Steward, O. Synapses as associative memory elements in the hippocampal memory formation. *Brain Research*. 175: 2, 233-245 (1979).
- 238. Li, Y., Um, S. Y., and McDonald, T. V. Voltage-gated potassium channels: regulation by accessory subunits. *Neuroscientist.* 12: 3, 199–210 (2006).
- 239. Li, Z. Zhang, Y. Ku, L. Wilkinson, K. Warren, S. and Feng, Y. The fragile X mental retardation protein inhibits translation via interacting with mRNA. *Nucleic Acids Research.* 29, 11 (2001).
- 240. Lilliehook, C. Chan, S. Choi, E. Zaidi, N. Wasco, W. Mattson, M. Buxbaum, J. Calsenilin enhances apoptosis by altering endoplasmic reticulum calcium signaling. *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience*. 19, 4 (2002).
- 241. Lilliehook C., Bozdagi O., Yao J., Gomez-Ramirez M., Zaidi N. F., Wasco W., Gandy S., Santucci A. C., Haroutunian V., Huntley G. W., Buxbaum J. D. Altered Aβ formation and long term potentiation in a calsenilin knock-out. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 23: 27, 9097–9106 (2003).
- 242. Lin, L., Sun, W., Wikenheiser, A. M., Kung, F. and Hoffman, D. A. KChIP4a regulates Kv4.2 channel trafficking through PKA phosphorylation. *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience*. 43: 3, 315–325 (2010).
- 243. Lin, Y. Chen, C. Cheng, C. Chang, L. Protein-protein interactions of KChIP proteins and Kv4.2. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*. 3: 27, 606-610 (2004).
- 244. Liu-Yesucevitz, L. Bassell, G. Gilter, A. Hart, A. Klann, E. Richter, J. Warren, S. and Wolozin, B. Local RNA translation at the synapse and in disease. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 31: 45, 16086-16093 (2011).
- 245. Lisman, J. and Spruston, N. Postsynaptic depolarization requirements for LTP and LTD: critique of spike timing-dependent plasticity. *Nature Neuroscience.* 8: 7, 839-841 (2005).
- 246. Lisman J, Yasuda R, and Raghavachari S. Mechanisms of CaMKII action in long-term potentiation. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*. 13: 3, 169–182 (2012).

- 247. Lopez, M. and Becker, H. Effect of pattern and number of chronic ethanol exposures on subsequent voluntary ethanol intake in C57BL/6J mice. *Psychopharmacology*. 181: 4, 688-696 (2005).
- 248. Lovinger, D. White, G, and Weight, F. NMDAR-mediated synaptic excitation selectively inhibited by ethanol in hippocampal slice from adult rat. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 10: 4, 1372-1379 (1990).
- 249. Lovinger, D. Excitotoxicity and alcohol-related brain damage, *Alcohol: Clinical and Experimental Research*. 17: 1, 19-27 (1993).
- 250. Lucic, V., Greif, G., and Kennedy, M. Detailed model of CaMKII activation and autophosphorylation. *European Journal of Biophysics*. 38: 1, 83-89 (2008).
- 251. Lukoyanov, L., Brandao, F., Leite, A., Madeira, M., Paula-Barbosa, M. Synaptic reorganization in the hippocampal formation of alcohol-fed rats may compensate for functional deficits related to neuronal loss. *Alcohol.* 20: 2, 139-148 (2000).
- 252. Luscher, C. and Malenka, R. NMDA receptor-dependent long-term potentiation and long-term depression. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*. 4: 6, a005710 (2012).
- 253. Luthi, A., Schwyzer L., Mateos, J., Gahwiler, B., McKinney, A. NMDA receptor activation limits the number of synaptic connections during hippocampal development. *Nature Neuroscience.* 4: 11, 1102-1107 (2001).
- 254. Lynch, M. Long-term Potentiation and Memory. *Physiology Reviews.* 84, 87 (2003).
- 255. Ma, X. M. and Blenis, J. Molecular mechanisms of mTOR-mediated translational control. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cellular Biology*. 10: 5, 307–318 (2009).
- 256. Macey, D. Schulteis, G. Heinrichs, S. and Koob, G. Time-dependent quantifiable withdrawal from ethanol in the rat: Effect of method of dependence induction. *Alcohol.* 13: 2, 163-170 (1996).

- 257. Mague, S. Port, R. McMullen, M. Carlson, G. and Turner, J. Mouse model of ORPRM1 (A118G) polymorphism has altered hippocampal function. *Neuropharmacology*. 97: 426-435 (2015).
- 258. Makris, N. Oscar-Berman, M., Jaffin, S., Hodge, S.M., Kennedy, D., Caviness, V., Marinkovic K., Breiter, H., Gasic, G., Harris, G. Decreased Volume of the Brain Reward System in Alcoholism. *Biological Psychiatry.* 64: 3, 192–202 (2008).
- 259. Malinow, R. AMPA receptor trafficking and long-term potentiation. *Trends in Biological Science*. 358: 1432 (2003).
- 260. Marin P., Nastiuk K. L., Daniel N., Girault J. A., Czernik A. J., Glowinski J. Glutamate-dependent phosphorylation of elongation factor-2 and inhibition of protein synthesis in neurons. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 17: 10, 3445–3454 (1997).
- 261. Markram, H., Lubke, J., Frostcher, M., Sakmann, B. Regulation of synaptic efficacy by coincidence of postsynaptic APs and EPSPs. *Science*. 275: 5297, 213-215 (1995).
- 262. Martin, K. Barad, M. and Kandel, E. Local protein synthesis and its role in synapses-specific plasticity. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*. 10: 5, 587-592 (2000).
- 263. Masood, K. Wu, C. Brauneis, U. and Weight, F. Preferential ethanol sensitivity of recombinant N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor subunits. *Molecular Pharamcology*. 45: 2, 324-329 (1994).
- 264. Maurin, T., Zongaro, S. and Bardoni, B. Fragile X Syndrome: From molecular pathology to therapy. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews.* 46: 2, 242–255 (2014).
- 265. Mayer, M., Westbrook, G., and Guthrie, P. Voltage-dependent block of Mg of NMDA responses in spinal cord neurons. *Nature*. 309: 5965, 261-263 (1984).
- 266. Mellström B., Naranjo J. R. Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent transcriptional repression and derepression. DREAM, a direct effector. *Seminars in Cell and Developmental Biology*. 12: 1, 59–63 (2001).

- 267. Mellstrom, B. Sahun, I., Ruiz-Nuno, A., Murtra, P., Gomez-Villafuertes, M., Savignac, J., Oliveros, P., Gonzazlez, P., Kastanauskaite, A., Knafo, S., Zhuro, M., Higuera-Matas, A., Errington, M., Maldonado, R. DREAM Controls the On/Off Switch of Specific Activity-Dependent Transcription Pathways. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*. 34: 5, 877–887 (2014).
- 268. Menegola, M. and Trimmer, J. S. Unanticipated Region- and Cell-Specific Downregulation of Individual KChIP Auxiliary Subunit Isotypes in Kv4.2 Knock-Out Mouse Brain. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 26: 47, 12137– 12142 (2006).
- 269. Meng, X.-F., Yu, J.-T., Song, J.-H., Chi, S. and Tan, L. Role of the mTOR signaling pathway in epilepsy. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*. 332: 1-2, 4–15 (2013).
- Mercaldo, V., Descalzi, G. and Zhuo, M. Fragile X mental retardation protein in learning-related synaptic plasticity. *Molecular Cells.* 28: 6, 501–507 (2009).
- 271. Mikhaylova, M., Hradsky, J. and Kreutz, M. R. Between promiscuity and specificity: novel roles of EF-hand calcium sensors in neuronal Ca2+ signalling. *Journal of Neurochemistry.* 118: 5, 695–713 (2011).
- Miki, H., Suetsugu, S. & Takenawa, T. WAVE, a novel WASP-family protein involved in actin reorganization induced by Rac1. *The EMBO Journal*. 17: 6932–6941 (1998).
- 273. Miller, M. Adesso, V. Fleming, J. Gino, A. and Lauerman, R. Effects alcohol on the storage and retrieval processes of heavy social drinkers. *Journal* of *Experimental Psychology*. 4: 3, 346-255 (1978).
- 274. Miller, W. Hertel, P, Saucedo, C. Hester, R. Effects of alcohol and expectancy upon episodic memory in individuals reporting alcoholic blackouts. *Experimental and Clinical Psychopharmacology*. 2: 2, 161-166 (1994).
- 275. Mineur, Y. S., Huynh, L. X. and Crusio, W. E. Social behavior deficits in the Fmr1 mutant mouse. *Behavioural Brain Research*. 168: 1, 172–175 (2006).

- Mittmann, T. Role of hippocampal NMDA receptors in a mouse model for fragile x mental retardation syndrome. *The Journal of Physiology*. 587: 4, 723–723 (2009).
- 277. Mody, I. and MacDonald, J. NMDA receptor-dependent excitoxicity: the role of intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> release. *Trends in Pharmacology*. 16: 10, 356-359 (1995).
- 278. Monaghan, M. M., Menegola, M., Vacher, H., Rhodes, K. J. and Trimmer, J. S. Altered expression and localization of hippocampal A-type potassium channel subunits in the pilocarpine-induced model of temporal lobe epilepsy. *Neuroscience*. 156: 3, 550–562 (2008).
- 279. Moonat, S., Sakharkar, A. J., Zhang, H. and Pandey, S. C. The role of amygdaloid brain-derived neurotrophic factor, activity-regulated cytoskeleton-associated protein and dendritic spines in anxiety and alcoholism. *Addiction Biology*. 16: 2, 238–250 (2010).
- 280. Mori, H and Mishina M. Structure and function of the NMDA receptor channel. *Neuropharmacology*. 34: 10, 1219-1237 (1995).
- 281. Morris, R. Spatial localization does not require presence of local cues. *Learning and Memory.* 2: 12, 239-260 (1981).
- 282. Möykkynen, T. and Korpi, E. Acute effects of ethanol on glutamate receptors. *Basic Clinical Pharmacology and Toxicology*. 111: 1, 4-13 (2012).
- 283. Muddashetty, R. S., Kelic, S., Gross, C., XU, M. and Bassell, G. J. Dysregulated Metabotropic Glutamate Receptor-Dependent Translation of AMPA Receptor and Postsynaptic Density-95 mRNAs at Synapses in a Mouse Model of Fragile X Syndrome. *Journal of Neuroscience* 27: 20, 5338–5348 (2007).
- 284. Mulholland, P. Spencer, K. Wei, H. Kroener, S. Chandler, J. Neuroplasticity of A-type potassium channel complexes induced by chronic ethanol exposure enhances dendritic calcium transients in hippocampus. *Psychopharmacology*. 17: 11, 1995-2006 (2014).

- 285. Nagy, J. Alcohol Related Changes In Regulation of NMDA Receptor Functions. *Current Neuropharmacology*. 6: 1, 39-54 (2008).
- 286. Nageri, U. V., Eberhorn, N., Cambridge, S. B. and Bonhoeffer, T. Bidirectional activity-dependent morphological plasticity in hippocampal neurons. *Neuron* 44: 5, 759–767 (2004).
- 287. Nakamoto, T. and Kalokofsky, D A possible mechanism for initiation of protein synthesis. *PNAS*. 55: 3, 606-613 (1966).
- 288. Nakanishi, S. Molecular diversity of glutamate receptors and implications in structure and function. *Science*. 258: 5082, 597-603 (1992).
- 289. Napoli, I. Mercaldo, V. Boyl, P. Eleuteri, B. Zalfa, F. De Rubeis, S. Di Marino, D. Mohr, E. Massimi, M. Falconi, M. Witke, W. Costa-Mattioli, M. Sonenberg, N. Achsel, T. and Bagni, C. The fragile X syndrome protein represses activity-dependent translation through Cyfip1, a novel 4E-BP. *Cell*. 134: 6, 1042-1054 (2008).
- 290. McNaughton, B. Douglas, R. and Goddard, G. Synaptic enhancement in fascia dentate: Cooperativity among coactive afferents. *Brain Research*. 157: 2, 277-293 (1978).
- 291. Nesta, J. Hamida, S. Yowell, Q. Carnicella, S. and Ron. D. Role for mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1 signaling in neuroadaptations underlying alcohol-related disorders. *PNAS*. 107: 46, 20093-20098 (2010).
- 292. Nesta, J. Barak, S. Hamida, B. and Ron. mTOR complex 1: a key player in neuroadaptations induced by drugs of abuse. *Journal of Neurochemistry*. 130: 2, 172-184 (2014).
- 293. Nestor, M. W. and Hoffman, D. A. Differential cycling rates of Kv4.2 channels in proximal and distal dendrites of hippocampal CA1 pyramidal neurons. *Hippocampus.* 22: 5, 969–980 (2011).
- 294. Nestler, E. J. Molecular Basis of Long-term Plasticity Underlying Addiction. *Nature Reviews.* 2: 2, 119-128 (2001).

- 295. Neuhofer, D. Henstridge, C. Dudok, B. Sepers, M. Lassalie, O. Katona, I. and Manzoni, O. Functional and structural deficits at accumbens synapses in a mouse model of Fragile X. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*. 9: 100 (2015).
- 296. Niere, F., Wilkerson, J. R. and Huber, K. M. Evidence for a Fragile X Mental Retardation Protein-Mediated Translational Switch in Metabotropic Glutamate Receptor-Triggered Arc Translation and Long-Term Depression. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 32: 17, 5924–5936 (2012).
- 297. Niewoehner, B., Single, F., Hvalby, O., Jensen, V., Meyer zum Alten Borlogh, S., Seeburg, P., Rawlings, J., Sprengel, R., and Bannerman, D. Impaired spatial working memory but spared spatial reference memory following functional loss of NMDA receptors in the dentate gyrus. *European Journal of Neuroscience*. 25: 3, 837-846 (2007).
- 298. Norris, A. J., Foeger, N. C. and Nerbonne, J. M. Interdependent Roles for Accessory KChIP2, KChIP3, and KChIP4 Subunits in the Generation of Kv4-Encoded IA Channels in Cortical Pyramidal Neurons. *Journal of Neuroscience.* 30: 41, 13644–13655 (2010).
- 299. Nowak, L., Bregestovski, P., Ascher, P., Herbet, A., and Prochiantz, A. Magnesium gates glutamate-activated channels in mouse central neurons. *Nature*. 307: 5950, 462-465 (1984).
- 300. Oberer, M. Marintchev, A. and Wagner, G. Structural basis for the enhancement of eIF4A helicase activity by eIF4G. *Genes and Development*. 19: 18, 2212-2223 (2005).
- 301. Okamoto, K., Narayanan, R., Lee, S. H., Murata, K. and Hayashi, Y. The role of CaMKII as an F-actin-bundling protein crucial for maintenance of dendritic spine structure. *PNAS*. 104: 15, 6418–6423 (2007).
- 302. Orlova, E. V., Papakosta, M., Booy, F. P., Van Heel, M., and Dolly, J. O. Voltage-gated K+ channel from mammalian brain: 3D structure at 18 Å of the complete (α)4(β)4 complex. *Journal of Molecular Biology*. 326: 4, 1005–1012 (2003).

- 303. Osawa, M. Tong, K. Lilliehook, C. Wasco, W. Buxbaum, J. Cheng, H. Penninger, J. Ikura, M. Ames, J. Calcium-regulated DNA Binding and Oligomerization of the Neuronal Calcium-sensing Protein, Calsenilin/DREAM/KChIP3. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 276: 44, 41005–41013 (2001).
- 304. Ostroff, L. Fiala, J. Allwardt, B. and Harris, K. Polyribosomes redistribute from dendritic shafts into spines with enlarged synapses during LTP in developing rat hippocampal slices. *Neuron*. 35: 3, 535-545 (2002).
- 305. Panja, D. Kenney, J., D'Andrea, L, Zalfa, F, Vedeler, A, Wibrand, K, Fuunaga, R, Bagni, C, Proud, C, and Bramahm, C. Two-Stage Translational Control of Dentate Gyrus LTP Consolidation Is Mediated by Sustained BDNF- TrkB Signaling to MNK. *Cell Reports.* 9: 4, 1430– 1445 (2014).
- 306. Parsyan, Am. Svitkin, Y. Shahbazian, Gkogkas, C. Lasko, P. Merrick, W. and Sonenberg, N. mRNA helicases: the tacticians of translational control. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*. 12: 4, 235-245 (2011).
- 307. Pastalkova E, Serrano P, Pinkhasova D, Wallace E, Fenton AA, and Sacktor TC. Storage of spatial information by the maintenance mechanism of LTP. *Science*. 313: 5790, 1141–1144 (2006).
- 308. Pathania, M., Davenport, E., Muir, J., Sheehan, D., Nech, G., Kittler J. The autism and schizophrenia associated gene CYFIP1 is critical for the maintenance of dendritic complexity and the stabilization of mature spines. *Translational Psychiatry.* 4: e374 (2014).
- 309. Pearce, L. Alton, G. Richter, D. Kath, J. Lingardo, L. Chapman, J. Hwang, C. and Alessi, D. Characterization of PF-4708671, a novel and highly specific inhibitor of p70 ribosomal S6 kinase (S6K1). *Biochemical Journal*. 431: 2, 245-255 (2010).
- 310. Pelletier, J. and Peltz, S. Therapeutic opportunities in translation. *Translational control in Biology and Medicine*. 855-895 (2007).
- 311. Perkinton, M. Ip, J. Wood, G. Crossthwaite, A. and Williams, R. Phosphatidylinosital 3-kinase is a central mediator of NMDA receptor signaling to MAP kinase (Erk1/2), Akt/PKB and CREB in striatal neurons. *Journal of Neurochemistry*. 80: 2, 239-254 (2002).

- 312. Pestova, T. Lorsch, J. and Hellen, C. The mechanism of initiation in eukaryotes. *Translational Control in Biology and Medicine*. 87-128 (2007).
- 313. Petrecca, K. Miller, D. Shrier, A. Localization and enhanced current density of the Kv4.2 channel by interaction with the actin-binding protein filamin. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 20: 23, 8736-8744 (2000).
- 314. Pian, J. Criado, J. Milner, R. and Ehlers, C. N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor subunit expression in adult and adolescent brain following chronic ethanol exposure. *Neuroscience*. 170: 2, 645-654 (2010).
- 315. Pilpel, Y. and Segal, M. Rapid WAVE dynamics in dendritic spines of cultured hippocampal neurons is mediated by actin polymerization. *Journal of Neurochemistry*. 95: 5, 1401-1410 (2005).
- 316. Pinkstaff, J. Chappell, S. Mauro, V. Edelman, G. and Krushel, L. Internal initiation of translation of five dendritically localized neuronal mRNAs. *PNAS*. 98: 5, 2770-2775 (2001).
- 317. Price NT, Redpath NT, Severinov KV, Campbell DG, Russel JM and Proud CG Identification of the phosphorylation sites in elongation factor-2 from rabbit reticulocytes. *FEBS Letters*. 282: 2, 253-258 (1991).
- 318. Prince, E. and Ring, H. Causes of learning disability and epilepsy: a review. *Current Opinion in Neurology.* 24: 2, 154–158 (2011).
- 319. Pruunsild, P. and Timmusk, T. Structure, alternative splicing, and expression of the human and mouse KCNIP gene family. *Genomics*. 86: 5, 581–593 (2005).
- 320. Pruunsild, P. and Timmusk, T. Subcellular localization and transcription regulatory potency of KCNIP/Calsenilin/DREAM/KChIP proteins in cultured primary cortical neurons do not provide support for their role in CRE-dependent gene expression. *Journal of Neurochemistry.* 123: 1, 29–43 (2012).
- 321. Raab-Graham, K. Haddick, P. Jan, N. and Jan, L. Activity- and mTORdependent suppression of Kv1.1 channel mRNA translation in dendrites. *Science*. 314: 5796, 144-148 (2006).

- 322. Raghuram, V., Sherma, Y. and Kreutz, M. R. Ca2+ sensor proteins in dendritic spines: a race for Ca2. *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience* 5: 61 (2012).
- 323. Ramachandran, P. L., Craig, T.A., Atansavoa, G.C., Owen, B.A., Bergen, H.R., Mer, G., and Kumar, R. The Potassium Channel Interacting Protein 3 (DREAM/KChIP3) Heterodimerizes with and Regulates Calmodulin Function. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 287: 47, 39439– 39448 (2012).
- 324. Ramocki, M. B. and Zoghbi, H. Y. Failure of neuronal homeostasis results in common neuropsychiatric phenotypes. *Nature*. 455: 7215, 912–918 (2008).
- 325. Rasmusson, R. L., Morales, M. J., Wang, S., Liu, S., Campbell, D. L., Brahmajothi, M. V., and Strauss, H. C. Inactivation of voltage-gated cardiac K+ channels. *Circulation Research.* 82: 7, 739–750 (1998).
- 326. Rao, A. and Craig, A. Signaling between the actin cytoskeleton and the postsynaptic density of dendritic spines. *Hippocampus*. 10: 5, 527-541 (2000).
- 327. Raught, B. and Gingras, A. eIF4E activity is regulated at multiple levels. *International Journal of Biochemical and Cellular Biology*: 31: 1, 43-57 (1999).
- 328. Redpath NT and Proud CG. Cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase phosphorylates rabbit reticulocyte elongation factor-2 kinase and induces calcium-independent activity. *Journal of Biochemistry*. 293: 1, 31-34 (1993).
- 329. Revel, M. Lelong, J., Brawerman, G. and Gros, F. Function of three protein factors and ribosomal subunits in the initiation of proteins synthesis in *E. coli. Nature*. 219: 5158, 1016-1021 (1968).
- 330. Rhodes, K. J. Carroll, K. Sung, M. Doliveira, L. Monaghan, M. Burkey, L. Strassle, B. Buchwalder, L. Menegola, M. Cao, J. An, F. and Trimmer, J. KChIPs and Kv4 Subunits as Integral Components of A-Type Potassium Channels in Mammalian Brain. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 24: 36, 7903–7915 (2004).

- 331. Riccio, A. and Ginty, D. What a privilege to reside at the synapse: NMDAR signaling to CREB. *Nature Neuroscience*. 5: 5, 389-390 (2002).
- 332. Rinaldi, T., Kulangara, K., Antoniello, K. and Henry Markram. Eleveated NMDA receptor levels and enhanced long-term potentiation induce by prenatal exposure to valporic acid. *PNAS*. 104: 33, 13501-13506 (2007).
- 333. Robert, P. and Hunt C. Adolescent and adult rats differ in the amnesic effects of acute ethanol in two hippocampus-dependent tasks: trace and contextual fear conditioning. *Behavioural Brain Research*. In press, (2015).
- 334. Roberto, M. Nelson, T. Ur, C. and Grucol, D. Long-term potentiation in the rat hippocampus is reversibly depressed by chronic intermittent ethanol exposure. *Journal of Neurophysiology*. 87: 5, 2385-2397 (2002).
- 335. Rogers, G. Richter, N. Lima, W. and Merrick, W. Modulation of the helicase activity of eIF4A by eIF4B, eIF4H, and eIF4F. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 276: 33, 30914-30922 (2001).
- 336. Rosenmund, C., Stern-Bach, Y., and Stevens, C. The tetrameric structure of a glutamate receptor channel. *Science.* 280: 5369, 1596-1599 (1998).
- 337. Ruschenschmidt, C., Chen, J., Becker, A., Riazanski, V., and Beck, H. Functional properties and oxidative modulation of A-type K currents in hippocampal granule cells of control and chronically epileptic rats. *European Journal of Neuroscience*. 23: 3, 675–685 (2006).
- 338. Ruiz-Gomez, A. Mellstrom, B., Tornero, D., Morato, E., Savignac, M., Holguin, H., Aurrekoetxea, K., Gonzalez, P., Gonzalez-Garcia, C., Cena, V., Mayor F., and Naranjo, J. G Protein-coupled Receptor Kinase 2mediated Phosphorylation of Downstream Regulatory Element Antagonist Modulator Regulates Membrane Trafficking of Kv4.2 Potassium Channel. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 282: 2, 1205– 1215 (2006).
- 339. Russo, E. Citraro, R., Donato, G., Camastra, C., Iuliano, R., Cuzzocrea, S., Constanti, A., and De Sarro, G. mTOR inhibition modulates epileptogenesis, seizures, and depression behavior in a genetic rat model of absence epilepsy. *Neuropharmacology.* 69: 25–36 (2013).

- 340. Ryazanov A. G., Shestakova E. A., and Natapov P. G. Phosphorylation of elongation factor 2 by EF-2 kinase affects rate of translation. *Nature*. 334: 6178, 170–173 (1988).
- 341. Ryazanov, A and Davydova, E. Mechanism of eligation facor 2 (EF-2) inactivation upon phosphorylation: phosphorylated EF-2 is unable to catalyze translocation. *FEBS Letters*. 251: 1-2, 187-190 (1989).
- 342. Sabino, V., Narayan, A. R., Zeric, T., Steardo, L. and Pietro Cottone. mTOR activation is required for the anti-alcohol effect of ketamine, but not memantine, in alcohol-preferring rats. *Behavioural Brain Research*. 247: 9–16 (2013).
- 343. Santin, L., Rubio, S., Begega, A., Arias, J. Effects of chronic alcohol consumption on spatial reference and working memory tasks. *Alcohol*. 20: 2, 149-159 (2000).
- 344. Santini, E. Huynh, T., MacAskill, A., Carter, A., Pierre, P., Ruggero, D., Kaphzan, H., Klann, E. Exaggerated translation causes synaptic and behavioural aberrations associated with autism. *Nature.* 493: 7432, 411–415 (2013).
- 345. Scheper, C. and Proud, C. Does phosphorylation of the cap-binding protein eIF4E play a role in translation initiation? *European Journal of Biochemistry*. 269: 22, 5350-5359 (2002).
- 346. Schrader, L., Anne, A., Amber, M., Pfaffinger, P. and Sweatt, J. D. PKA Modulation of Kv4.2-Encoded A-Type Potassium Channels Requires Formation of a Supramolecular Complex. *The Journal of Neuroscience*. 22: 23, 10123-10133 (2002).
- 347. Schrader, L. Birnbaum, S. Nadin, B. Ren, Y. Bui, D, Anderson, A. and Sweatt, J. ERK/MAPK regulates the Kv4.2 potassium channel by direct phosphorylation of the pore-forming subunit. *American Journal of Cell Physiology.* 290: 3, 852-861 (2006).
- 348. Schaeffer, C., Beaulande, M., Ehresmann, C., Ehresmann, B. and Moine, H. The RNA binding protein FMRP: new connections and missing links. *Biology of the Cell.* 95: 3-4, 221–228 (2003).

- 349. Schulteis, G., Archer, C., Tapert, S. F. and Frank, L. R. Intermittent binge alcohol exposure during the periadolescent period induces spatial working memory deficits in young adult rats. *Alcohol.* 42: 6, 459–467 (2008).
- 350. Seeburg, P. Burnashev, N. Kohr, G. Kuner, T. Sprengel, R. and Monyer, H. The NMDAR channel: molecular design of coincidence detection. *Recent Progress in Hormone Research*, 50: 19-34 (1995).
- 351. Serodio, P. and Rudy, B. Differential expression of Kv4 K+ channel subunit mediating subthreshold K+ (A-type) currents in the rat brain. *Journal of Neurophysiology*. 79: 2, 1081-1091 (1998).
- 352. Shahbazian, D. Roux, P. Mieulet, V. Cohen, M. Raught, B. Taunton, J. Hershey, J. Blenis, J. Pende, M. and Sonenberg, N. The mTOR/PI3K and MAPK pathways converge on eIF4B to control its phosphorylation and activity. *The EMBO Journal*. 25: 23, 2781-2791 (2006).
- 353. Shan, J. Munro, T. Barbarese, E. Carson, J. and Smith,R. A molecular mechanism for mRNA trafficking in neuronal dendrites. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 23: 26, 8859-8866 (2003).
- 354. Shibata, R. Misonou, H. Campomanes, C. Anderson, A. Schrader, L. Doliveira, L. Carroll, K. Sweatt, J. Rhodes, K. and Trimmer, J. A fundamental role for KChIPs in determining the molecular properties and trafficking of Kv4.2 potassium channels. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 278: 38, 36445-36454 (2003).
- 355. Sidorov, M. S., Auerbach, B. D. and Bear, M. F. Fragile X mental retardation protein and synaptic plasticity. *Molecular Brain.* 6: 15, 1–1 (2013).
- 356. Simons, S., Escobedo, Y., Yasuda, R. and Dudek, S. Regional differences in hippocampal calcium handling provide a cellular mechanism for limiting plasticity. *PNAS.* 106: 33, 14080-14084 (2009).
- 357. Smith, L. and Li, R. Actin polymerization: riding the WAVE. *Current Biology*. 14: 3, 109-111 (2004).
- 358. Smith, L. N. Jedynak, J., Fontenot, M., Hale, C., Dietz, K., Taniguchi, M., Thomas, F., Zirlin, B., Birnbaum, S., Huber, K., Thomas, M., and Cowan, C. Fragile X Mental Retardation Protein Regulates Synaptic and Behavioral Plasticity to Repeated Cocaine Administration. *Neuron.* 82: 3, 645–658 (2014).
- 359. Sobczyk, A., Scheuss, V., and Svoboda, K. NMDAR subunit-dependent Ca2+ signaling in individual hippocampal dendritic spines, *Journal of Neuroscience*. 25: 26, 6037-6046 (2005).
- 360. Soderling, S. Langeber, L. Soderling, J. Davee, S. Simerly, R. Raber, J. and Scott, J. Loss of WAVE-1 causes sensorimotor retardation and reduced learning and memory in mice. *PNAS*. 100: 4, 1723-1728 (2003).
- 361. Sonenberg, N. and Dever, T. Eukaryotic translation initiation factors and regulators, *Current Opinion in Structural Biology*. 13: 1, 56-63 (2003).
- 362. Sonenberg, N. and Hinnebusch, A. Regulation of translation initiation in eukaryotes: Mechanisms and biological targets. *Cell*. 136: 4, 731-745 (2009).
- 363. Sossin, W. S. and Lacaille, J.-C. Mechanisms of translational regulation in synaptic plasticity. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*. 20: 4, 450–456 (2010).
- 364. Spacek, J. and Harris, K. Three-Dimensional Organization of Smooth Endoplasmic Reticulum in Hippocampal CA1 Dendrites and Dendritic Spines of the Immature and Mature Rat. *The Journal of Neuroscience*. 17: 1, 190–203 (1997).
- 365. Spanagel, R. Alcoholism: A Systems Approach From Molecular Physiology to Addictive Behavior. *Physiological Reviews*. 89: 2, 649–705 (2009).
- 366. Spreafico, F. Barski, J. Farina, C. and Meyer, M. Mouse DREAM/calsenilin/KChIP3: gene structure, coding potential, and expression. *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience*. 17: 1, 1-16 (2001).
- 367. Spruston, N., Schiller Y., Stuart, G., and Sakmann, B. Activity-dependent action potential invasion and calcium influence into hippocampal CA1 dendrites. *Science*. 268: 5208, 297-300 (1995).

- 368. Squire, L. Amraral, D. and Press, G. Magnetic resonance imaging of the hippocampal formation and mammillary nuclei distinguish medial temporal lobe and diencephalic amnesia. *The Journal of Neuroscience*. 10: 9, 3106-3117 (1990).
- 369. Steward, O. and Schuman, E. Protein synthesis at synaptic sites on dendrites. *Annual Review in Neuroscience*. 24: 169-195 (2007).
- 370. Stiedl, O. Birkenfeld, K. Palve, M. and Spiess, J. Impairment of conditioned contextual fear of C57BL/6J mice by intracerebral injections of NMDA receptor antagonist AP-V. *Behavioural Brain Research*. 116: 2, 157-168 (2000).
- 371. Strack, S., McNeill, R., and Colbran, R. Mechanism and regulation of calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II targeting to the NR2B subunit of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor, *Journal of Biological Chemistry.* 275: 31, 23798-23806 (2000).
- 372. Stranahan, A. Norman, E. Lee, K. Culter, R. Telljohann, R. Egan, J. and Mattson, M. Diet-induced insulin resistance impairs hippocampal synaptic plasticity and cognition in middle-aged rats. *Hippocampus.* 18, 11 (2008).
- 373. Stranahan, A. Lee, K. Martin, B. Maudsley, S. Golden, E. Cutler, R. and Mattson, M. Voluntary exercise and caloric restriction enhance hippocampal dendritic spine density and BDNF in diabetic mice. *Hippocampus*. 19: 10, 951-961 (2009).
- 374. Stoppini, L. Buchs, P., Muller, D. A simple method for organotypic cultures of the nervous system. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*. 37: 2, 173-182 (1991).
- 375. Su, T. Cong, W. Long, Y. Luo, A. Sun. W. Deng, W. and Liao, W. Altered expression of voltage-gated Kv 4.2 and KChIP4, and changes in intracellular calcium levels following lithium-pilocarpine-induced status epileptius. *Neuroscience*. 157: 3, 566-576 (2008).
- 376. Suetsugu, S., Miki, H. and Takenawa, T. Identification of two human WAVE/ SCAR homologues as general actin regulatory molecules which associate with the Arp2/3 complex. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*. 260: 1, 296–302 (1999).

- 377. Sullivan, E. Marsh, L. Mathalon, D. Lim, K. and Pfefferbaum, A. Anterior hippocampal volume deficits in nonamnesiac, aging, chronic alcoholics. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*. 19: 1, 110-122 (1995).
- 378. Sullivan, E. and Marsh, L. Hippocampal volume deficits in alcoholic Korsakoff's syndrome. *Neurology*. 61: 12, 1716-1719 (2003).
- 379. Sutherland, G. Heritable fragile sites on human chromosomes. Detection of fra(X)(q27) in males with X-linked mental retardation and in their female relatives. *Human Genetics*. 53: 2, 125-135 (1979).
- 380. Sutton, M. A. and Schuman, E. M. Dendritic Protein Synthesis, Synaptic Plasticity, and Memory. *Cell*. 127: 1, 49–58 (2006).
- 381. Swanger, S. A. and Bassell, G. J. Dendritic protein synthesis in the normal and diseased brain. *Neuroscience*. 232: 1, 106–127 (2013).
- 382. Tadros W, Goldman AL, Babak T, Menzies F, Vardy L, Orr-Weaver T, Hughes TR, Westwood JT, Smibert CA, and Lipshitz HD: SMAUG is a major regulator of maternal mRNA destabilization in Drosophila and its translation is activated by the PAN GU kinase. *Developmental Cellular Biology*. 12: 1, 143–155 (2007).
- 383. Takei, N. and Hiroyki, N. mTOR signaling and its roles in normal and abnormal brain development. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*. 7: 28 (2014).
- 384. Takimoto, K. Yang, E. and Conforti, L. Palmitoylation of KChIP splicing variants is required for efficient cell surface expression of Kv4.3 channels. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 277: 30, 26904-26911 (2002).
- 385. Talani, G. Licheri, V., Masala, N., Follesa, P., Mostallino, M., Biggio, G., and Sanna E. Increased Voluntary Ethanol Consumption and Changes in Hippocampal Synaptic Plasticity in Isolated C57BL/6J Mice. Neurochemical Research. 39: 6, 997–1004 (2013).
- 386. Tang, G. and Sulzer, D. Loss of mTOR-Dependent Macroautophagy Causes Autistic-like Synaptic Pruning Deficits. *Neuron.* 83: 5, 1131– 1143 (2014).

- 387. Tang, Y. Shimizu, E. Dube, G Rampon, C Kerchner, G Zhou, M Liu, G. Genetic enhancement of learning and memory in mice. *Nature*. 401: 6748, 63-69 (1999).
- 388. Thomas, M. G., Pascual, M. L., Maschi, D., Luchelli, L. and Boccaccio, G. L. Synaptic control of local translation: the plot thickens with new characters. *Cellular and Molecular Life Science*. 71: 12, 2219–2239 (2013).
- 389. Tolias, K. F Bikoff, J, Burette, A, Paradis, S, Harra, D, Tavazoie, S, Weinberg, R, and Greenberg M. The Rac1-GEF Tiam1 Couples the NMDA Receptor to the Activity-Dependent Development of Dendritic Arbors and Spines. *Neuron.* 45: 4, 525–538 (2005).
- 390. Tokuda, K., Zorumski, C., and Izumi, Y. Modulation of hippocampal longterm potentiation by slow increases in ethanol concentration *Neuroscience*. 146: 1, 340-349 (2007).
- 391. Torras-Garcia, M. Reconsolidation after remembering an odor-reward association requires NMDA receptors. *Learning and Memory.* 12: 1, 18–22 (2005).
- 392. Topisirovic, M. Ruiz-Gutierraz, M. and Borden, K. Phosphorylation of the eukaryotic initiation factor eIF4E contributes to its transformation and mRNA transport activities. *The Journal of Cancer Research*. 64: 23, 8639-8642 (2004).
- 393. Truchet, B. Manrique, C., Sreng, L., Chaillan, F., Roman, F., and Mourre, C. Kv4 potassium channels modulate hippocampal EPSP-spike potentiation and spatial memory in rats. *Learning & Memory.* 19: 7, 282–293 (2012).
- 394. Tsai, G and Coyle J. The role of glutamatergic neurotransmission in the pathophysiology of alcoholism. *Annual Review of Medicine*. 49: 173-184 (1998).
- 395. Tsien, J. Z., Huerta, P. T. and Tonegawa, S. The Essential Role of Hippocampal CA1 NMDA Receptor–Dependent Synaptic Plasticity in Spatial Memory. *Cell.* 87: 7, 1327–1338 (1996).

- 396. Tsokas, P. Grace, E. Chan, P. Ma, T. Sealfon, S. Iyengar, R. Landau, E. and Blitzer, R. Local protein synthesis mediates a rapid increase in dendritic elongation factor 1A after induction of late long-term potentiation. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 25: 24, 5833-5843 (2005).
- 397. Turner, G. Brookwell, R. Daniel, A. Selikowitz, M, and Zilibowitz, M. Heterzygous expression of X-lined mental retardation and Xchromosome marker Fra(X)(Q27). The New England Journal of Medicine. (1980).
- 398. Turner and McLardy. Hippocampal Formation of Brain as Detector-Coder of Temporal Patterns of Information. *Perspectives in Biology and Medicine*.
  2: 4, 443-452 (1959).
- 399. Urbanska, M. Gozdz, A. Swiech, L. and Jaworski, J. Mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1 (mTORC1) and 2 (mTORC2) control dendritic arbor morphology of hippocampal neurons. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 287: 36, 30240-30256 (2012).
- 400. Usdin, K. and Kumari, D. Repeat-mediated epigenetic dysregulation of the FMR1 gene in the fragile X-related disorders. *Frontiers in Genetics.* 6: 192 (2015).
- 401. Varga, A. W. Calcium-Calmodulin-Dependent Kinase II Modulates Kv4.2 Channel Expression and Upregulates Neuronal A-Type Potassium Currents. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 24: 14, 3643–3654 (2004).
- 402. Vislay, R. Martin, B. Olmos-Serrano, J. Kratovac, S. Nelson, D. Corbin, J. and Huntsman, M. Homeostatic Responses Fail to Correct Defective Amygdala Inhibitory Circuit Maturation in Fragile X Syndrome. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 33: 17, 7548–7558 (2013).
- 403. Vorhees, C. and Williams, M. Morris water maze: procedures for assessing spatial and related forms of learning and memory. *Nature Protocols.* 1: 2, 848-858 (2006).
- 404. Walker, D. Barnes, D. Zornetzer, S. Hunter, B. and Kubanis, P. Neuronal loss in the hippocampus induced by prolonged ethanol consumption in rats. *Science*. 209: 4457, 711-713 (1980).

- 405. Wang D, Cui Z, Zeng Q, Kuang H, Wang LP, Tsien JZ, Cao X, Chapouthier G. Genetic enhancement of memory and long-term potentiation but not CA1 long-term depression in NR2B transgenic rats. *PLoS ONE.* 4: 10, e7486 (2009).
- 406. Wang, H., Kim, S. S. and Zhuo, M. Roles of Fragile X Mental Retardation Protein in Dopaminergic Stimulation-induced Synapse-associated Protein Synthesis and Subsequent -Amino-3-hydroxyl-5-methyl-4isoxazole-4-propionate (AMPA) Receptor Internalization. *Journal of Biological Chemistry.* 285: 28, 21888–21901 (2010).
- 407. Wang, K. and Wang, Y. Negative modulation of NMDA receptor channel function by DREAM/calsenilin/KChIP3 provides neuroprotection? *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience*, 5, 39 (2012).
- 408. Wang X., Li W., Williams M., Terada N., Alessi D. R., and Proud C. G. Regulation of elongation factor 2 kinase by p90(RSK1) and p70 S6 kinase. *The EMBO Journal.* 20: 16, 4370–4379 (2001).
- 409. Wang, X. S. Peng, C., Cai, W., Jin, D., Dai, Y., Luo, X., Klyachko, V., and Deng., P. Activity-dependent regulation of release probability at excitatory hippocampal synapses: a crucial role of fragile X mental retardation protein in neurotransmission. *European Journal of Neuroscience.* 39: 10, 1602–1612 (2014).
- 410. Waskiewicz, A. Johnson, J. Penn, B. Mahalingam, M. Kimball, S. and Cooper J. Phosphorylation of the cap-binding protein eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E by protein kinase Mnk1 in vivo. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*. 19: 3 1871-1880 (1999).
- 411. Weiler, I. Irwin, S. Klintsova, A. Spencer, C. Brazelton, A. Miyashiro, K. Comery, T. Patel, B. Eberwine, J. and Greenough, W. Fragile X mental retardation protein is translated near synapses in response to neurotransmitter activation. *PNAS*. 94: 10, 5395-5400 (1997).
- 412. Weiler, I. Spangler, C. Klintsova, A. Grossman, A. Kim, S. Bertaina-Anglade, V. Khaliq, H. de Vries, F. Lambers, F. Hatia, F. Base, C. and Greenough, W. Fragile X mental retardation protein is necessary for neurotransmitter-activated protein translation at synapses. *PNAS*. 101: 50, 17504-17509 (2004).

- 413. Weisz, E. D., Monyak, R. E. and Jongens, T. A. Deciphering discord: How *drosophilia* research has enhanced our understanding of the importance of FMRP in different spatial and temporal contexts. *Experimental Neurology.* In Press (2015).
- 414. White, A., Matthews, D., and Best, P. Ethanol, memory, and hippocampal function: a review of recent findings. *Hippocampus*. 10: 1, 88-93 (2000).
- 415. Wolstenholme, J. Warner, J. Capparuccini, M. Archer, K. Shelton, K. and Miles, M. Genomic analysis of individual differences in ethanol drinking: Evidence for non-genetic factors in C57BL/6 mice, *PLoS One.* 6: 6, e21100 (2011).
- 416. Woo, H., Chang. J., Choi, Y., Gwon, A., Jung, Y., Jo, D. Characterization of subcellular localization and Ca2+ modulation of calsenilin/DREAM/KChIP3. *NeuroReport*. 19: 12, 1193-1197 (2008).
- 417. Wu, L.-J. Mellstrom, B., Wang., H., Ren, M., Domingo, S., Kim, S., Li, X., Chen, T., Naranjo, J., Zhuo, M. DREAM (Downstream Regulatory Element Antagonist Modulator) contributes to synaptic depression and contextual fear memory. *Molecular Brain.* 3: 3, 1-13 (2010).
- 418. Xiong, H. Kovacs, I. Zhang, Z. Differential distribution of KChIPs mRNAs in the adult mouse brain. *Molecular Brain Research*. 128: 2, 103-111 (2004).
- 419. Zalfa, F. Giorgi, M. Primerano, B. Moro, A. Di Penta, A. Reis, S. Oostra, B. and Bagni, C. The fragile X syndrome protein FMRP associates with BC1 RNA and regulates the translation of specific mRNAs at synapses. *Cell.* 112: 3, 317-327 (2003).
- 420. Zalfa, F. Achsel, T. and Bagni, C. mRNPs, polysomes, or granules: FMRP in neuronal protein synthesis *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*. 16: 3, 265-269 (2006).
- 421. Zalutsky, R. and Nicoll, R. Comparison of two forms of long-term potentiation in single hippocampal neurons. *Science*. 248: 4963, 1619-1624 (1990).

- 422. Zhang, J., Hou, L., Klann, E. and Nelson, D. L. Altered Hippocampal Synaptic Plasticity in the Fmr1 Gene Family Knockout Mouse Models. *Journal of Neurophysiology.* 101: 5, 2572–2580 (2009).
- 423. Zhang, X. M. and Luo, J.-H. GluN2A versus GluN2B: twins, but quite different. *Neuroscience Bulletin.* 29: 6, 761–772 (2013).
- 424. Zhang, Y. Su, P., Liang, P., Liu, T., Liu, X., Liu, X.Y., Zhang, B., Han, T., Zhu, Y.B., Yin, D.M., Li, J., Zhou, Z., Wang, W., and Wang., Y. The DREAM Protein Negatively Regulates the NMDA Receptor through Interaction with the NR1 Subunit. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 30: 22, 7575–7586 (2010).
- 425. Zhao, L. Wang, D. Wang, Q. Rodal, A. and Zhang, Y. Drosophila Cyfip regulates synaptic development and endocytosis by suppressing filamentous actin assembly. *PLoS One Genetics*. 9: 4, e1003450 (2013).
- 426. Zhao, M. Toyoda, H. Ko, S. Ding, H. Wu, L. and Zhuo, M. Deficits in Trace Fear Memory and Long-Term Potentiation in a Mouse Model for Fragile X Syndrome. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 25: 32, 7385–7392 (2005).
- 427. Zhao, M., Adams, J. P. and Dudek, S. M. Pattern-dependent role of NMDA receptors in action potential generation: consequences on ERK activation. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 25: 30, 7032–7039 (2005).
- 428. Zhou, F. Anthony, B. Dunn, K. Lindquist, B. Xu, Z. and Deng, P. Chronic alcohol drinking alters neuronal dendritic spines in the brain reward center nucleus accumbens. *Brain Research*. 1134: 148-161 (2007).
- 429. Zhou, X., Ding, Q., Chen, Z., Yun, H. and Wang, H. Involvement of the GluN2A and GluN2B Subunits in Synaptic and Extrasynaptic N-methyl-D-aspartate Receptor Function and Neuronal Excitotoxicity. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 288: 33, 24151–24159 (2013).
- 430. Zhouravlev, G. Frolova, I. Le Goff, X. Le Guellec, R. Ing-Vechtomov, S. Kisselev, L. and Phillipe, M. Termination of translation in eukaryotes is governed by two interacting polypeptide chain release factors, eRF1 and eRF3. *The EMBO Journal*. 14: 16, 4065-4072 (1995).

- 431. Zorumski, C. F., Mennerick, S. and Izumi, Y. Acute and chronic effects of ethanol on learning-related synaptic plasticity. *Alcohol.* 48: 1, 1–17 (2014).
- 432. Zukin RS, Richter JD, and Bagni C. Signals, synapses, and synthesis: how new proteins control plasticity. *Frontiers in Neural Circuits.* 3: 14 (2009).